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Our customers continue to benefit from our leadership role in networking.

O Continuing to outperform the industry in customer satisfaction and innovation

O Ongoing investment to meet the needs of enterprises and individuals who place a high value on
communications

o Offering unmatched capabilities in managing end-to-end mission critical business applications

O Growing in our role as the industry-leading Internet protocol (IP) provider

O Continuing to be recognized as a critical partner and a preeminent provider of high-quality services

O Applying AT&T Labs expertise to networking solutions of tomorrow while meeting customer needs today

O Delivering to customers a real return on their communications investment through more than 36,000
networking experts

O Delivering international direct-dial service to more than 250 countries and territories, and in-bound calling services
for travelers in 200 countries through AT&T Direct Service

O Offering real competitive choice in local, long distance and Internet services

AT&T continues to benefit by satisfying the needs of its customers.

O Managing nearly 50 million consumer relationships and 4 million business customers

O Creating one of the strongest financial structures and best balance sheets in the industry

O Realizing annual revenue of more than $37 billion

O Leading the industry in customer satisfaction

O Forming a unified communications services company with approximately 71,000 employees in 56 countries

O Ranking as one of the largest online billers with more than 1 million residential customers billed online

O Serving as the official provider of personal telecommunications services to military personnel serving at 529 military
bases and camps worldwide and on more than 200 U.S. Navy ships

O Serving more than 2.4 million households, with residential AT&T Local Service in California, Georgia, lllinois,
Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Ohio and Texas as of December 2002, with more states to follow

AT&T continues to operate the most sophisticated and reliable global network.

O Having one of the most experienced leadership teams in the industry

O Carrying more than 310 million long distance calls on an average business day, with more than
99.99 percent completed on the first try

O Handling approximately 2,700 trillion bytes (terabytes) of data on an average business day

O Leading in long distance backbone optical fiber, with more than 50,000 route miles, plus more than 19,600 route
miles of local metro fiber

O Leading the industry in IP traffic growth

O Operating 18 Internet data centers on three continents

O Having approximately 2,900 points of presence in 850 cities across 60 nations

O Operating with 95 intelligent optical switches online

O Providing, first ever, 10-gigabit-per-second service (OC-192) coast-to-coast

O Leading in Dense Wave Division Multiplexing with 1,600 systems deployed, including Ultravailable Networks for
enterprise customers



With significant financial strength and leverage, a world-class network and
one of the most qualified management teams focused on transforming the
business, AT&T is committed and poised to meet the needs of its customers

better than anyone in the industry.

To my fellow shareowners: AT&T launched a new era in 2002 — an era marked by more than just a change in
the chairman'’s office. We spun off our broadband operations. We completed our restructuring plan. And we intro-
duced a new management team focused on serving customers and building shareowner value.

At the same time, we accelerated our efforts to transform AT&T from a primarily voice-services business to the
largest provider of data services globally. We reached out to expand our relationships with clients around the
world. And we realigned to focus less on individual products and more on integrated customer solutions.

In short, we rededicated ourselves to AT&T’s 118-year legacy of service, quality, reliability and innovation. And we
committed to fulfilling our mission as “the world’s networking company.”

While we focused on meeting our goals and seeking new market opportunities, waves of uncertainty crashed
around us. The world braced for terror and war. The global economy stumbled. And the telecom industry suffered
bankruptcies and accounting scandals that dragged down some of our major competitors.

Those telecom schemes conjured up phony market economics and phantom prices that no competitor could fairly
match. The companies involved saw their reputations rightly ravaged.

AT&T, on the other hand, rose above the fray. We remained focused on our customers. And we met our financial
commitments during every quarter of 2002, performing with both vigor and integrity. Today, we stand tall — proud to
be one of the world’s strongest telecommunications providers.

Our strength stems from our values, a set of principles we call “Our Common Bond.” Formally adopted in 1992, the
values of “Our Common Bond” have been hallmarks of the AT&T culture for more than 100 years: respect for indi-
viduals, dedication to helping customers, highest standards of integrity, innovation and teamwork. Our commit-
ment to these principles cannot be compromised.

Nor can our commitment to our shareowners. That's why we diligently overhauled our balance sheet. Our restruc-
turing effort reduced AT&T’s net debt* from $56.2 billion entering 2001 to $12.9 billion at year-end 2002. We now
enjoy the lowest overall net debt level among the major players in our industry. *In 2001, net debt of $56.2 billion was
net of $0.1 billion of cash and $8.7 billion of monetizations. In 2002, net debt of $12.9 billion was net of $8.5 billion of
cash, $0.5 billion of monetizations and $0.7 billion of fluctuations in foreign debt value.

To maintain and magnify our financial strength, we're taking a disciplined approach to our ongoing cost and capi-
tal structure. Our network investments are largely behind us. We spent $3.9 billion in capital expenditures in 2002,
roughly half the 1999 level, and we'll continue to moderate our spending going forward.



With a focus on innovation and quality, AT&T Consumer is expanding its
portfolio of services, including offering local service (with long distance) in
more and more states. AT&T Consumer extended local service from two
states in 2001 to eight states in 2002, P _ 1

We expect the majority of our 2003 capital expenditures to be demand-driven and success-based.

The primary focus for the remaining capital expenditures will be enhancing our products and processes to
improve service and customer satisfaction. So while our distressed competitors struggle to keep the lights on, we'll
continue to pump up productivity and make it easier for customers to do business with AT&T.

Our business customers are already seeing results from the $500 million we invested in process improvements in
2002. We slashed cycle times an average of 30 percent last year. That means we cut days —and in some cases
weeks — off the interval between a customer’s order and activation of their services. The result: We're setting new
standards for sales, provisioning, billing, and service that our competitors simply can’'t match.

Our world-class standards and services are attracting new business customers, and winning back others con-
cerned about our competitors’ well-publicized troubles. We continue to gain market share as companies increas-
ingly value the reliability, sustainability, integrity and quality behind the AT&T brand. And we will continue to pro-
mote these advantages as we target new customers and take additional market share in 2003.

Maintaining our scale and broad customer base will be critical as we face ongoing declines in both consumer and
business long distance voice revenue. Several trends are driving these declines:

e Customers are relying increasingly on wireless and Internet communications.
¢ As the regional Bell operating companies (RBOCs) enter long distance, competition and price pressures mount.

e Our success in attracting quality wholesale customers has shifted the proportions of retail and reduced-priced
wholesale minutes that run on our network.

e Consumers are taking advantage of lower-priced products, such as prepaid cards and optional calling plans.

We are managing through these declines by scaling our growth investments. In 2002, we outperformed the indus-
try and gained share in all the key growth areas of our business — business local, data, Internet protocol (IP) and
managed services. These services represent our future; their growth helps offset erosion in long distance voice.

These services are also at the heart of the AT&T Business portfolio, which will be the primary driver of our future
revenue. A leading global provider of enterprise communications solutions, AT&T Business delivered nearly
$27 billion to our top line in 2002.



Meeting the communications needs of businesses worldwide, AT&T Business
delivers the most reliable and secure enterprise networking solutions
with local-to-global reach, end-to-end network management and world-class

professional expertise.

For more than 4 million customers throughout the world, AT&T Business serves as a strategic partner. For large
enterprise customers, we design, deploy, manage and enhance networks, ensuring industry-leading levels of con-
tinuity and security. Our services help these customers unlock the full value of their applications while managing
complexity, improving productivity, and generating a return on their communications investments.

We are the undisputed industry leader in IP traffic, after being in sixth place only two years ago. Our IP traffic is
growing at a rate three times faster than the rest of the industry. The AT&T network now carries one petabyte of IP
traffic per day. To print that amount of data on paper, you'd need about 50 million trees — or a forest about the size
of New Orleans. And you’d need to re-grow that forest every day.

The growth of AT&T Business will be fueled, in part, by AT&T Consumer, which contributed nearly $12 billion in
2002 revenue. AT&T Consumer manages nearly 50 million customer relationships with consumers, who count on
us for long distance, local, Internet and transactional services such as prepaid cards and collect calling. If it were
a standalone business, AT&T Consumer would rank among the Fortune 200.

We continue to expand our consumer-service portfolio. A key growth area is our local and long distance bundle
for consumers and small businesses. We offer these combined services via the unbundled network elements plat-
form, or UNE-P. That platform allows AT&T and other carriers to lease from the RBOCs the network elements need-
ed to deliver services along the “last mile,” which connects directly to the customer.

By the end of 2002, more than 2.4 million AT&T residential customers were enjoying the features and price benefits
that result from UNE-P-based competition. As of this writing, our residential local customer base has grown to
more than 2.7 million. We also have more than 500,000 access lines serving small businesses through UNE-P.

More consumers and small businesses will enjoy the benefits of competition thanks to a Federal Communications
Commission decision announced in February 2003. The RBOCs lobbied furiously to eliminate UNE-P and reduce
competitive choice. But the Commission voted to allow the states to decide what works and what doesn'’t, rather
than impose a national “one-size-fits all” mandate. Now we will take our case to the states, and we will enter mar-
kets where the economic conditions allow us to make a reasonable return using UNE-P.

Our initial results prove that customers want choice and will support a competitive offer. We have earned mid
single-digit market share or higher in our first eight markets. We doubled our number of all-distance customers in
2002. In the fourth quarter alone, the number grew more than 25 percent from the previous quarter.



With a shared commitment to Our Common Bond, values that bind the people
of AT&T, we are dedicated to satisfying customer needs and building value

for shareowners.

This pattern suggests strong opportunities for growth in new markets as well. We are confident that we will be offer-
ing all-distance service in a total of 14-17 markets by the end of 2003, with more markets to follow in 2004.

But getting there won't be easy. In the months ahead, the challenges facing our industry will continue. Current mar-
ket signals point to ongoing economic weakness and lower information technology (IT) spending.

We recognize, however, that this downturn won't last forever. The economy will eventually rebound, IT spending
will resume, and telecom’s trials will end. We're preparing today for that turnaround by channeling our resources to
keep our company strong and to position AT&T as one of the primary beneficiaries of an economic upswing.

We are the only long distance carrier upgrading its network and service portfolio. We are the only carrier enhanc-
ing its customer-facing processes and increasing its sales presence. And we are among the few carriers operating
from a position of unquestioned financial flexibility and strength. So when the market recovers, our scale, scope
and stability will make AT&T the company to beat.

That’s why, despite the challenges, | feel so proud and privileged to be leading this company. While our competi-
tors are still getting organized, we've already assembled all the ingredients for success — solid financials, a world-
class global network, an intense customer focus and unshakable values.

Our people are passionate about satisfying customers and building shareowner value. We are working as one
company, one network and one team to deliver a level of excellence that others must strive mightily to attain.

Outstanding innovation, enduring integrity, and a flawless customer experience... our customers, employees and
you — our shareowners — should expect nothing less from the world’s networking company.

David Dorman
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SEVEN-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA"

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
AND EARNINGS PER

SHARE
Revenue ................. ... $ 37,827 $ 42,197 $ 46,850 $ 49,609 $ 47,287 $ 46,226 $ 45,716
Operating income ............. 4,361 7,832 12,793 12,544 7,632 6,835 8,341
Income (loss) from continuing
operations .. ................ 963 (2,640) 9,532 6,019 4915 4,088 5,064
INCOME FROM
CONTINUING
OPERATIONS
AT&T Common Stock Group:®
Income ................. ... 963 71 8,044 8,041 4915 4,088 5,064
Earnings (loss) per basic share 1.29 (0.91) 11.54 13.04 9.18 7.65 9.60
Earnings (loss) per diluted
share ........ ... ... ... 1.26 (0.91) 11.01 12.61 9.10 7.65 9.60
Cash dividends declared per
share .......... . ... .. 0.75 0.75 3.4875 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40
Liberty Media Group:®
(Loss) income .............. — (2,711) 1,488 (2,022) — — —
(Loss) earnings per basic and
diluted share ............. — (1.05) 0.58 (0.80) — — —

ASSETS AND CAPITAL
Property, plant and equipment,

T P $ 25604 $ 26,803 $ 26,083 $ 25587 $ 21,780 $ 19,177 $ 16,871
Total assets — continuing

operations . ................. 55,272 62,329 90,293 89,554 40,134 41,029 38,229
Total assets .................. 55272 165,481 242,802 169,499 59,550 67,690 63,669
Long-term debt ............... 18,812 24,025 13,572 13,543 5,555 7,840 8,861
Total debt.................... 22,574 34,159 42,338 25,091 6,638 11,895 11,334
Shareowners’ equity ........... 12,312 51,680 103,198 78,927 25,522 23,678 21,092
Debt ratio® .. ... .. L. 64.7% 86.3% 122.1% 83.7% 36.7% 57.2% 61.6%

OTHER INFORMATION
Employees — continuing

operations® . ... .. ... ..., 71,000 717,700 84,800 96,500 94,500 116,800 117,100
AT&T year-end stock price per
share ................. . $ 2611 $ 37.19 $ 2757 $ 8081 $§ 79.88 $§ 65.02 § 4391

()" Prior period amounts have been restated to reflect the spin-off of AT&T Broadband and the 1-for-5 reverse

stock split, as applicable, both of which occurred on November 18, 2002.

@) In connection with the March 9, 1999 merger with Tele-Communications, Inc., AT&T issued separate

tracking stock for Liberty Media Group (LMG). LMG was accounted for as an equity investment prior to
its split-off from AT&T on August 10, 2001. There were no dividends declared for LMG tracking stock.

AT&T Common Stock Group results exclude LMG.
G) Debt ratio reflects debt from continuing operations as a percent of total capital, excluding discontinued
operations and LMG, (debt plus equity, excluding LMG and discontinued operations).

) Data provided excludes LMG.



AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

AT&T Corp. (AT&T or the “Company”) is among the world’s communications leaders, providing voice
and data communications services to large and small businesses, consumers and government agencies. We
provide domestic and international long distance, regional and local communications services, and data and
Internet communications services.

Restructuring of AT&T

In conjunction with the restructuring of AT&T announced on October 25, 2000, AT&T Broadband,
AT&T Wireless, and Liberty Media Corporation have all been separated from AT&T.

On November 18, 2002, AT&T spun-off AT&T Broadband (which was primarily comprised of the
AT&T Broadband segment) to AT&T shareowners. Simultaneously, AT&T Broadband combined with
Comcast Corporation (Comcast). The combination was accomplished through a distribution of stock to
AT&T shareowners, who received 0.3235 of a share (1.6175 shares adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock split)
of Comcast Class A common stock for each share of AT&T they owned at market close on November 15,
2002, the record date. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) ruled that the transaction qualified as tax-free for
AT&T and its shareowners for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with the exception of cash received for
fractional shares. Approximately 1.2 billion new Comcast shares were issued to AT&T shareowners at a value
of approximately $31.1 billion, based on the Comcast stock price on November 18, 2002. AT&T shareowners
received a 56% economic stake and a 66% voting interest in new Comcast.

In connection with the non-pro rata spin-off of AT&T Broadband, AT&T wrote up the net assets of
AT&T Broadband to fair value. This resulted in a noncash gain of $1.3 billion, which represented the
difference between the fair value of the AT&T Broadband business at the date of the spin-off and AT&T’s
book value in AT&T Broadband, net of certain charges triggered by the spin-off and their related income tax
effect. These charges included compensation expense due to the accelerated vesting of stock options as well as
the enhancement of certain incentive plans. The gain was recorded in 2002 as a “Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations.”

On August 10, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of Liberty Media Corporation as an independent,
publicly-traded company. Since, at the time of disposition, AT&T did not exit the line of business that Liberty
Media Group (LMG) operated in, LMG was not accounted for as a discontinued operation. AT&T redeemed
each outstanding share of Class A and Class B Liberty Media Group (LMG) tracking stock for one share of
Liberty Media Corporation’s Series A and Series B common stock, respectively. The IRS ruled that the split-
off of Liberty Media Corporation qualified as a tax-free transaction for AT&T, Liberty Media and their
shareowners. For accounting purposes, the deemed effective split-off date was July 31, 2001. The operating
results from August 1, 2001, through August 10, 2001, were deemed immaterial to our consolidated results.

The LMG tracking stock, which had reflected 100% of the performance of LMG, was issued in 1999 in
connection with AT&T’s acquisition of Tele-Communications, Inc. (TCI). AT&T did not have a controlling
financial interest in LMG for financial accounting purposes; therefore, AT&T’s ownership in LMG was
reflected as an investment accounted for under the equity method in AT&T’s consolidated financial
statements. The amounts attributable to LMG are reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations as “Equity (losses) earnings from Liberty Media Group” prior to its split-off from AT&T.

On July 9, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of AT&T Wireless as a separate, independently-traded
company. All AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock was converted into AT&T Wireless common stock on a
one-for-one basis and 1,136 million shares of AT&T Wireless common stock held by AT&T were distributed
to AT&T common shareowners on a basis of 0.3218 of a share (1.609 shares adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse
stock split) of AT&T Wireless for each AT&T share outstanding. AT&T common shareowners received
whole shares of AT&T Wireless and cash payments for fractional shares. The IRS ruled that the transaction
qualified as tax-free for AT&T and its shareowners for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with the exception of
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

cash received for fractional shares. For accounting purposes, the deemed effective split-off date was June 30,
2001. The impact of operating results from July 1, 2001 through July 9, 2001, were deemed immaterial to our
consolidated results. The split-off of AT&T Wireless resulted in a noncash tax-free gain of $13.5 billion, which
represented the difference between the fair value of the AT&T Wireless tracking stock at the date of the split-
off and AT&T’s book value in AT&T Wireless. This gain was recorded in 2001 as a “Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations.” At the time of split-off, AT&T retained approximately $3 billion, or 7.3%, of AT&T
Wireless common stock.

AT&T issued the AT&T Wireless tracking stock in April 2000, to track the financial performance of
AT&T Wireless Group. The shares initially issued tracked approximately 16% of the performance of AT&T
Wireless Group.

The earnings attributable to AT&T Wireless Group are excluded from the earnings available to AT&T
Common Stock Group and are included in “Net (loss) from discontinued operations.” Similarly, the earnings
and losses related to LMG are excluded from the earnings available to AT&T Common Stock Group. The
remaining results of operations of AT&T, including the financial performance of AT&T Wireless Group not
represented by the tracking stock, is referred to as the AT&T Common Stock Group and is represented by
AT&T common stock.

Forward-Looking Statements

This document may contain forward-looking statements with respect to AT&T’s financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, dividends, financing plans, business strategies, operating efficiencies or
synergies, budgets, capital and other expenditures, network build-out and upgrade, competitive positions,
availability of capital, growth opportunities for existing products, benefits from new technologies, availability
and deployment of new technologies, plans and objectives of management, and other matters.

These forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, those relating to the future business
prospects, revenue, working capital, liquidity, capital needs, network build-out, interest costs and income, are
necessary estimates reflecting the best judgment of senior management that rely on a number of assumptions
concerning future events, many of which are outside AT&T’s control, and involve a number of risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements should, therefore, be considered in light of various important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates or projections contained in the
forward-looking statements including, without limitation:

 the impact of existing and new competitors in the markets in which AT&T competes, including
competitors that may offer less expensive products and services, desirable or innovative products,
technological substitutes, or have extensive resources or better financing,

« the impact of oversupply of capacity resulting from excessive deployment of network capacity,

« the ongoing global and domestic trend toward consolidation in the telecommunications industry, which
may have the effect of making the competitors of these entities larger and better financed and afford
these competitors with extensive resources and greater geographic reach, allowing them to compete
more effectively,

« the effects of vigorous competition in the markets in which the Company operates, which may decrease
prices charged, increase churn and change customer mix and profitability,

« the ability to establish a significant market presence in new geographic and service markets,

« the availability and cost of capital,



AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

* the impact of any unusual items resulting from ongoing evaluations of the business strategies of the
Company,

 the requirements imposed on the Company or latitude allowed to competitors by the Federal
Communications Commission (FCC) or state regulatory commissions under the Telecommunications
Act of 1996 or other applicable laws and regulations,

the risks associated with technological requirements, wireless, Internet or other technology substitution
and changes and other technological developments,

the results of litigation filed or to be filed against the Company, and

the possibility of one or more of the markets in which the Company competes being impacted by
changes in political, economic or other factors, such as monetary policy, legal and regulatory changes
or other external factors over which the Company has no control.

9 LR34

The words “estimate,” “project,” ““intend,” “expect,” “believe,” “plan” and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date this document is filed. Moreover, in the future,
AT&T, through its senior management, may make forward-looking statements about the matters described in
this document or other matters concerning AT&T.

LRI

The discussion and analysis that follows provides information management believes is relevant to an
assessment and understanding of AT&T’s consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000, and financial condition as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

AT&T’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles that are generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management continually evaluates its estimates and
judgments including those related to useful lives of plant and equipment, pension and other postretirement
benefits, income taxes and legal contingencies. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe that of our significant
accounting policies, the following may involve a higher degree of judgment (see note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements for a complete discussion of AT&T’s significant accounting policies):

Estimated useful lives of plant and equipment — We estimate the useful lives of plant and equipment in
order to determine the amount of depreciation and amortization expense to be recorded during any reporting
period. The majority of our telecommunications plant and equipment is depreciated using the group method,
which develops a depreciation rate (annually) based on the average useful life of a specific group of assets,
rather than the individual asset as would be utilized under the unit method. Such estimated life of the group
changes as the composition of the group of assets changes and their related lives. The estimated life of the
group is based on historical experience with similar assets as well as taking into account anticipated
technological or other changes. If technological changes were to occur more rapidly than anticipated or in a
different form than anticipated, the useful lives assigned to these assets may need to be shortened, resulting in
the recognition of increased depreciation and amortization expense in future periods. Likewise, if the
anticipated technological or other changes occur more slowly than anticipated, the life of the group could be
extended based on the life assigned to new assets added to the group. This could result in a reduction of
depreciation and amortization expense in future periods. A one-year decrease or increase in the useful life of
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

these assets would increase or decrease depreciation and amortization expense by approximately $0.5 billion.
We review these types of assets for impairment annually, or when events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may be not be recoverable over the remaining lives of the assets. In assessing impairments,
we follow the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” utilizing cash flows which take into account manage-
ment’s estimates of future operations.

Pension and postretirement benefits — The amounts recognized in the financial statements related to
pension and postretirement benefits are determined on an actuarial basis utilizing several different assump-
tions. A significant assumption used in determining our net pension credit (income) and postretirement
benefit expense is the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. In 2002, we used an expected long-
term rate of return of 9.0%. For 2003, we will lower this expected rate of return to 8.5%. In determining this
revised rate, we considered the current and projected investment portfolio mix and estimated long-term
investment returns for each asset class. The projected portfolio mix of the plan assets is developed in
consideration of the expected duration of related plan obligations and as such is more heavily weighted toward
equity investments, including public and private equity positions. Plan assets also include fixed income and
real estate investments. The actual return on pension plan assets over the last 10 and 15 years has been 10.4%
and 10.9%, respectively, although the return for the last two years has been negative. The expected return on
plan assets is determined by applying the expected long-term rate of return to the market-related value of plan
assets. The market-related value is a calculated value that amortizes the difference between actual and
expected returns evenly over a five-year period. The combined market-related value of plan assets of the
pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31, 2002, was approximately $19.5 billion; about
$2 billion higher than the related fair value of plan assets. The expected return on assets of the pension and
postretirement benefit plans included in 2002 operating income was income of $1.7 billion. The reduction in
the expected long-term rate of return to 8.5% will reduce the expected return credit by approximately
$0.1 billion in 2003.

Another significant estimate is the discount rate used in the annual actuarial valuation of pension and
postretirement benefit plan obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate at year-end, we
considered the current yields on high quality corporate fixed-income investments with maturities correspond-
ing to the expected duration of the benefit obligations. As of December 31, 2002, we reduced the discount rate
by 75 basis points to 6.5%. Changes in the discount rate do not have a material impact on our results of
operations.

Income taxes — Deferred income taxes are provided for the effect of temporary differences between the
amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts recognized for
income tax purposes. We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates that, if changed,
would result in either an increase or decrease in the provision for income taxes in the period of change. A one-
percentage point increase in the enacted federal income tax rate as of December 31, 2002, would decrease net
income by approximately $0.1 billion. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that a
deferred tax asset will not be realized. In assessing the likelihood of realization, management considers
estimates of future taxable income, the character of income needed to realize future tax benefits, and all
available evidence.

Legal contingencies — We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings and have accrued amounts
that represent our estimate of the probable outcome of these matters. Such estimates of outcome are derived
from consultation with outside counsel, as well as an assessment of litigation and settlement strategies. In
addition, we may be responsible for a portion of certain legal proceedings associated with former affiliates
pursuant to separation and distribution agreements. Such agreements provide AT&T to share in the cost of
certain litigation (relating to matters while affiliated with AT&T) if a judgment or settlement exceeds certain
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

thresholds. With the exception of the Sparks matter (see Discontinued Operations discussion), as of
December 31, 2002, we are not aware of, and have not been advised of, any matters in which it is probable that
costs would be incurred in excess of the thresholds above which we would be required to share in the costs.
However, in the event these former subsidiaries were unable to meet their obligations with respect to these
liabilities due to financial difficulties, AT&T could be held responsible for all or a portion of these costs,
irrespective of the sharing agreements. Depending on how these matters are resolved, these costs could be
material.

Consolidated Results of Operations

The comparison of 2002 results with 2001 results was impacted by the April 1, 2002, unwind of Concert,
our joint venture with British Telecommunications plc (BT). The venture’s assets and customer accounts
were distributed back to the parent companies. Under the partnership termination agreement, each of the
partners generally reclaimed the customer contracts and assets that were initially contributed to the joint
venture, including international transport facilities and gateway assets. In addition, AT&T assumed certain
other assets that BT originally contributed to the joint venture. As a result, 2002 results include revenue and
expenses associated with these customers and businesses for the period April 1, 2002 through December 31,
2002, while 2001 and the first quarter of 2002 includes our proportionate share of Concert’s earnings and
related charges in “Net losses related to other equity investments.” In addition, the assets reclaimed are
consolidated in each line item of the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2002, versus an equity
investment in Concert at December 31, 2001, included in “Other assets.”

For the period August 28, 2000, through December 31, 2002, AT&T’s interest in AT&T Latin America
was fully consolidated in AT&T'’s results. In December 2002, AT&T signed a non-binding term-sheet for the
sale of its 69% economic interest (95% voting interest) in AT&T Latin America and began accounting for
AT&T Latin America as an asset held for sale (the operations of AT&T Latin America did not qualify for
treatment as a discontinued operation). As a result of this action, as well as our belief that no changes to the
plan will be made and that a sale will be completed within one year, we recorded an impairment charge of
$1.0 billion to write down AT&T Latin America’s assets and liabilities to fair value, and reclassified these
assets and liabilities to “Other current assets” and “Other current liabilities” at December 31, 2002.

The consolidated financial statements of AT&T reflect AT&T Broadband and AT&T Wireless as
discontinued operations. AT&T Broadband was spun-off on November 18, 2002, and AT&T Wireless was
split-off on July 9, 2001. Accordingly, the revenue, costs and expenses and cash flows of AT&T Broadband
and AT&T Wireless have been excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and have been reported through their respective
dates of separation as “Net (loss) from discontinued operations” and as “Net cash (used in) provided by
discontinued operations.” In addition, the assets and liabilities of AT&T Broadband have been excluded from
the respective captions in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001, and have been reported as
“Current assets of discontinued operations,” “Non-current assets of discontinued operations,” “Current
liabilities of discontinued operations,” “Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations,” “Minority Interest
of Discontinued Operations,” and “Company-Obligated Convertible Quarterly Income Preferred Securities of
Subsidiary Trust Holding Solely Subordinated Debt Securities of AT&T of Discontinued Operations.”

A 1-for-5 reverse stock split of AT&T common stock was effected on November 18, 2002. Shares
(except shares authorized), per share amounts and stock prices were restated to reflect the stock split on a
retroactive basis. In addition, our stock prices were restated to reflect the AT&T Broadband disposition.

Effective July 1, 2000, the FCC eliminated Primary Interexchange Carrier Charges (PICC or per-line
charges) that AT&T pays for residential and single-line business long distance customers. The elimination of
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these per-line charges resulted in lower access expense as well as lower revenue, since AT&T has historically
billed its customers for these charges.

Revenue For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
AT&T Business SErViCes . .. .. ovvu i $26,558  $27,705  $28,559
AT&T ConsSumer ServiCes. . .. ..ot vt 11,527 14,843 18,643
Corporate and Other.......... ... .. .. .. (258) (351) (352)
Total REVENUE . . . ..ot $37,827  $42,197  $46,850

Total revenue decreased 10.4%, or $4.4 billion, in 2002 compared with 2001, and decreased 9.9%, or
$4.7 billion, in 2001 compared with 2000. The decrease in both years was largely driven by continued declines
in long distance voice revenue of approximately $5.2 billion in 2002 and $5.5 billion in 2001. In addition, 2001
revenue declined by $0.5 billion due to the elimination of PICC. The long distance voice decline reflects the
impact of pricing pressures and substitution, including a shift from higher-priced products such as business
retail to lower-priced products such as business wholesale and prepaid cards. Partially offsetting the declines
was growth in data/Internet Protocol (IP)/managed services within AT&T Business Services and local voice
services within both AT&T Consumer Services and AT&T Business Services of approximately $0.8 billion in
2002, and $1.4 billion in 2001. The 2002 variances include a positive impact attributable to the reintegration of
customers and assets from the unwind of Concert.

In 2003, we expect our long distance voice revenue to continue to decline due to ongoing competition and
product substitution. This decline in revenue is expected to be partially offset by growth in our local voice
services and data/IP/managed services.

Revenue by segment is discussed in greater detail in the segment results section.
For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Access and other connection ..............coiiriiiinin... $10,790  $12,085  $13,139
Costs of services and products. . ...............oiiiniinn.. 8,363 8,621 8,235
Selling, general and administrative .. ........................ 7,988 8,064 7,387
Depreciation and amortization. . ........... ... ..., 4,888 4,559 4,538
Net restructuring and other charges ......................... 1,437 1,036 758
Total operating eXpenses .. .........uueiieeinennnennn... $33,466  $34,365  $34,057
Operating iNCOME . .. ..ottt et $ 4361 $ 7,832 $12,793
Operating margin . .........oouuviinetin e, 11.5% 18.6% 27.3%

Included within access and other connection expenses are costs we pay to connect calls using the facilities
of other service providers, as well as the Universal Service Fund contributions and per-line charges mandated
by the FCC. Costs paid to telephone companies outside of the United States to connect international calls are
also included within access and other connection expenses.

Access and other connection expenses decreased 10.7%, or $1.3 billion, in 2002 compared with 2001.
Approximately $0.5 billion of this decrease was due to lower Universal Service Fund contributions and lower
per-line charges, which were primarily driven by the decline in long distance voice revenue. In addition,
domestic access charges decreased by $0.5 billion primarily due to product mix and FCC-mandated access-
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rate reductions. International connection charges decreased by approximately $0.4 billion driven primarily by
lower rates and the reintegration of customers and assets from the unwind of Concert. These reductions were
partially offset by an increase in local connectivity costs. Since most of the Universal Service Fund
contributions, per-minute access-rate reductions and per-line charges are passed through to the customer,
these reductions generally result in a corresponding reduction in revenue.

In 2003, we expect access rates to be flat or slightly lower than 2002 as most of the FCC-mandated rate
reductions have been implemented. We also expect our local connectivity costs to continue to increase as we
continue to grow our local voice business.

Access and other connection expenses decreased 8.0%, or $1.1 billion, in 2001 compared with 2000.
Approximately $1.6 billion of the decrease was due to mandated reductions in per-minute access rates, lower
per-line charges and lower international connection rates. In July 2000, per-line charges that AT&T paid for
residential and single-line business customers were eliminated by the FCC. These reductions were partially
offset by a $0.6 billion increase due to overall volume growth primarily related to local and international
services and higher Universal Service Fund contributions.

Costs of services and products include the costs of operating and maintaining our networks, costs to
support our outsourcing contracts, the provision for uncollectible receivables and other service-related costs,
including the cost of equipment sold.

Costs of services and products decreased $0.3 billion, or 3.0%, in 2002 compared with 2001. Approxi-
mately $0.5 billion of the decrease was due to the overall impact of lower revenue and related costs at AT&T
Consumer Services and AT&T Business Services. In addition, costs decreased approximately $0.2 billion due
to losses on certain long-term contracts recorded in 2001 by AT&T Business Services. These decreases were
partially offset by an increase of $0.1 billion in AT&T Business Services’ provision for uncollectible receivables
primarily attributable to the weak economy. Cost of services and products also increased as a result of the
reintegration of customers and assets from the unwind of Concert.

In 2001, these costs increased $0.4 billion, or 4.7%, compared with 2000. The increase was driven by
approximately $0.6 billion of higher costs associated with our growth businesses, primarily at AT&T Business
Services, including the cost of equipment sold. In addition, costs increased approximately $0.3 billion due to
estimated losses on certain long-term contracts at AT&T Business Services and a lower pension credit
(income) primarily due to the lower expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the effects of lower
actual plan assets. These increases were partially offset by approximately $0.4 billion of lower costs associated
with decreased revenue, primarily lower volumes at AT&T Business Services, including our international
operations, and lower payphone compensation costs.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses decreased $76 million, or 0.9%, in 2002 compared
with 2001. This decrease was driven by a reduction in the number of residential customers as well as cost
control efforts of $0.7 billion, and lower transaction costs of $0.2 billion associated with the AT&T
restructuring. Partially offsetting these decreases was $0.3 billion of lower pension credits (income) primarily
due to the lower expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the effects of lower actual plan assets,
and $0.3 billion associated with increased marketing and sales expenses for new local consumer service
offerings and increased investment for business sales and customer care development. SG&A expenses also
increased as a result of the reintegration of customers and assets from the unwind of Concert.

We expect SG&A expenses, and to a lesser extent costs of services and products, will be unfavorably
impacted in the future due to lower pension credits (income) and higher post-retirement expenses resulting
from a lower expected long-term rate of return on plan assets in 2003 of 8.5% compared with the 9% rate used
in 2002 and the effects of lower actual plan assets. We also expect SG&A expenses to be impacted by higher
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compensation costs associated with stock options reflecting the decision to expense stock option grants,
commencing with options granted in 2003.

SG&A expenses increased $0.7 billion, or 9.2%, in 2001 compared with 2000. Increased expenses in
support of growth businesses, primarily data/IP/managed services, and local voice services, drove approxi-
mately $0.5 billion of the increase. These expenses included infrastructure development costs associated with
increased sales headcount, advertising, and other general and administrative expenses. A lower pension credit
(income) and higher postretirement expense resulting from decreased return on plan assets, combined with
higher compensation accruals, contributed approximately $0.3 billion to the increase. Also included in the
increased SG&A expenses were transaction costs of approximately $0.2 billion associated with AT&T’s
restructuring announced in October 2000. Partially offsetting these increases was the impact of cost control
efforts as well as decreased customer care and billing expenses of approximately $0.7 billion, primarily from
AT&T Consumer Services.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $0.3 billion, or 7.2%, in 2002 compared with 2001. The
increase was primarily due to a larger asset base resulting from continued infrastructure investment supporting
our growth business. The increase was partially offset by the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” as of January 1, 2002, which eliminated the amortization of goodwill. In 2001, we recorded
$0.2 billion of amortization expense on goodwill.

In 2003, the adoption of SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which requires
that obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets be recorded as liabilities only if
such liability is unavoidable and legally enforceable, will have a favorable impact on depreciation expense.
(See “New Accounting Pronouncements” for a further discussion of SFAS No. 143.) However, we continue
to invest in our asset base, which will increase depreciation expense in 2003.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $21 million in 2001 compared with 2000. The increase
was primarily due to a larger asset base resulting from continued infrastructure investment. Certain
infrastructure assets placed in service in 2001 extended the average life of the overall assets, partially
mitigating the impact of the larger asset base.

Total capital expenditures were $3.9 billion, $5.6 billion and $6.8 billion for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The decrease in spending was primarily due to cost containment efforts. We continue to focus the
majority of our capital spending on our growth businesses of data/IP/managed services.

In 2002, net restructuring and other charges were $1,437 million. The net charge included $1,203 million
related to AT&T Business Services, $211 million related to AT&T Consumer Services and $23 million related
to the Corporate and Other group.

Included in the $1,437 million was a $1,029 million charge for the impairment of the net assets of our
consolidated subsidiary, AT&T Latin America. In December 2002, the AT&T Board of Directors approved a
plan for AT&T to sell its approximate 95% voting stake in AT&T Latin America in its current condition. On
December 31, 2002, AT&T signed a non-binding term sheet for the sale of our shares within one year for a
nominal amount. As a result of this plan, we classified AT&T Latin America as an asset “held for sale” at fair
market value, in accordance with SFAS No. 144. Consequently, there are approximately $160 million of
assets (principally cash and accounts receivable) included in Other Current Assets and approximately
$160 million of liabilities (principally secured short-term debt) included in Other Current Liabilities. The
$1,029 million charge to write the assets and liabilities down to their fair values was reported within our AT&T
Business Services segment.

Also included in net restructuring and other charges was a $204 million impairment charge related to
certain Digital Subscriber Line (DSL) assets (including internal-use software, licenses, and property, plant &
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equipment) that will not be utilized by AT&T as result of changes to our “DSL build” strategy. Instead of
building DSL capabilities in all geographic areas initially targeted, we have signed an agreement with Covad
Communications to offer DSL services over their network. As a result, the assets in these areas were impaired.
This charge was reported within our AT&T Consumer Services segment.

In 2002, AT&T recorded net business restructuring charges of $204 million. These activities consisted of
new exit plans totaling $377 million and reversals of $173 million. The new plans primarily consisted of
$334 million for employee separation costs primarily in AT&T Business Services, and $39 million of facility
closing reserves. Slightly more than 4,800 employees will be separated in conjunction with these exit plans,
approximately one-half of which are management employees and one-half are non-management employees.
The majority of these employee separations will be involuntary and are largely the result of improved processes
and automation in provisioning and maintenance of services for business customers. Due to the timing of these
separations, these exit plans did not yield cash savings in 2002, nor did we realize a benefit to operating income
in 2002. Future cash and expense savings is dependent upon the timing of actual separations and associated
payments. In the first full year following the completion of these exit plans, we expect to realize approximately
$300 million of cash savings and benefit to operating income. Approximately 14% of the employees affected by
these exit plans had left their positions by December 31, 2002, and we expect those remaining to leave their
positions by the end of 2003. Termination benefits of approximately $328 million were paid throughout 2002
for the current and prior year’s separation plans.

The $173 million reversal primarily consisted of $124 million of employee separation costs and
$26 million related to prior plan facility closings no longer deemed to be necessary. The reversals were
primarily due to management’s determination that the restructuring plan established in the fourth quarter of
2001 for certain areas of AT&T Business Services, including network services, needed to be modified given
current industry conditions, as well as the redeployment of certain employees to different functions within the
Company.

During 2001, net restructuring and other charges were $1,036 million which were primarily comprised of
$862 million for employee separations, of which $388 million related to benefits to be paid from pension assets
as well as pension and postretirement curtailment losses, and $166 million for facility closings. The
restructuring and exit plans support our cost reduction efforts through headcount reductions across all
segments of the business, primarily network support and customer care functions in AT&T Business Services.
These charges were slightly offset by the reversal of $33 million related to business restructuring plans
announced in the fourth quarter 1999 and the first quarter 2000 (of which $15 million related to employee
separations and $18 million related to contract terminations). The net charge consisted of $570 million related
to AT&T Business Services, $31 million related to AT&T Consumer Services and $435 million related to the
Corporate and Other group.

The charge covered separation costs for approximately 10,000 employees, approximately one-half of
whom were management and one-half were non-management employees. More than 9,000 employee
separations related to involuntary terminations and the remaining 1,000 were voluntary.

During 2000, we recorded $758 million of net restructuring and other charges which included $586 mil-
lion for employee separations associated with AT&T’s initiative to reduce costs, of which $144 million
primarily related to pension and postretirement curtailment losses. The charge also included $91 million
related to the government-mandated disposition of AT&T Communications (U.K.) Ltd., which would have
competed directly with Concert, and $62 million of network lease and other contract termination costs
associated with penalties incurred as part of notifying vendors of the termination of these contracts during the
year. The net charge consisted of $395 million related to AT&T Business Services, $97 million related to
AT&T Consumer Services and $266 million related to the Corporate and Other group.
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These plans covered separation costs for approximately 6,100 employees, mainly in AT&T Business
Services, including network operations, primarily for the consolidation of customer-care and call centers.
Approximately one-half of whom were management employees and one-half were non-management employ-
ees. Approximately 5,500 of the employee separations related to involuntary terminations and approximately
600 related to voluntary terminations.

AT&T’s operating income in 2002 decreased $3.5 billion, or 44.3%, compared with 2001 and decreased
$5.0 billion, or 38.8%, in 2001 compared with 2000. AT&T’s operating margin was 11.5% in 2002 compared
with 18.6% in 2001 and 27.3% in 2000. The decline in 2002 was primarily due to the decline in revenue
combined with increased net restructuring and other charges and increased depreciation and amortization
expenses. Also contributing to the decline was a lower rate of decline in selling, general and administrative
expenses and costs of services and products compared with the revenue rate of decline. The decline in
operating margin in 2001 was primarily due to a decline in revenue combined with increased selling, general
and administrative expenses, costs of services and products, net restructuring and other charges, and
depreciation and amortization expenses. The operating margin declines in both years reflect pricing pressures
and a shift from higher-margin retail long distance services to lower-margin wholesale long distance service
and other lower-margin services such as lower-priced optional calling plans and prepaid cards.

We expect the operating margin to continue to decline in 2003 despite the expected benefit from lower
net restructuring and other charges. The expected decline is primarily due to a continued decline in the long
distance business reflecting the impact of accelerating growth in wholesale services as well as a shift to lower-
margin services such as lower-priced optional calling plans and prepaid cards.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Other (eXpense) IMCOME . .. ... vvttn e $(77) $1,327 $1,190

Other (expense) income in 2002 was expense of $77 million compared with income of $1.3 billion in
2001. The unfavorable variance of $1.4 billion was primarily due to $1.2 billion of higher net gains on sales of
businesses and investments in 2001, including gains on the sale of AT&T’s retained interest in AT&T Wireless
and Japan Telecom. The unfavorable variance was also due to impairments of $0.2 billion recorded in 2002
related to certain leases of aircraft which are accounted for as leveraged leases, $0.2 billion of lower income
related to mark-to-market adjustments on derivative instruments and lower investment-related income of
$0.2 billion. Favorably impacting other (expense) income were lower investment impairment charges of
$0.4 billion in 2002, primarily driven by lower impairment charges for Time Warner Telecom.

At December 31, 2002, we had investments in leveraged leases of aircraft of $601 million [$(185) million
net of deferred taxes], which we lease to airlines as well as aircraft related companies. Several airline carriers
who have leases have recently experienced financial difficulties. While these airlines are current on their lease
rental payments, we could record additional impairment charges in 2003 if any of these carriers declare
bankruptcy or renegotiate their lease terms with us. In addition, in the event of bankruptcy or a renegotiation
of lease terms, if any portion of the non-recourse debt is canceled, such amounts would result in taxable
income to AT&T and accordingly a cash tax expense.

Other (expense) income in 2001 was income of $1.3 billion compared with income of $1.2 billion in
2000. The favorable variance of $0.1 billion was driven primarily by higher net gains on the sales of businesses
and investments of $0.5 billion which reflect the gains on the sales of AT&T’s retained interest in AT&T
Wireless and Japan Telecom in 2001, $0.2 billion related to the settlement, in 2001, of disputes relating to the
buyer’s obligations resulting from the sale of AT&T Universal Card Services, and higher income related to
mark-to-market adjustments on derivative instruments of $0.2 billion. Partially offsetting these increases was
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investment impairment charges of $0.5 billion, primarily consisting of the impairment of Time Warner
Telecom, and lower interest income of $0.2 billion.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Interest (EXPenSe) . ...ttt ettt et $(1,448) $(1,493) $(1,503)

Interest expense decreased $45 million, or 3.0%, in 2002 compared with 2001, and decreased $10 million,
or 0.6%, in 2001 compared with 2000. The decrease in both periods was primarily due to lower average debt
balances, reflecting our debt reduction efforts, partially offset by higher average interest rates. Average interest
rates were higher in both periods due to the mix of short-term and long-term debt. The 2002 average rate was
adversely affected by the $10 billion bond offering in November 2001. We expect interest expense to be lower
in future periods as a result of our debt reduction efforts.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
(Provision) for income taxes.................iiiiiiia... $(1,587) $(2,890) $(4,487)
Effective tax rate. .. ....ovtt it 56.0% 37.7% 35.9%

The effective tax rate is the provision for income taxes as a percent of income from continuing operations
before income taxes. The 2002 rate was adversely impacted by approximately 14.9 percentage points due to
the $1.0 billion impairment charge recorded in 2002 relating to AT&T’s interest in AT&T Latin America for
which no tax benefit was recorded. Also negatively impacting the 2002 rate was the impact of AT&T Latin
America’s losses from operations for which no tax benefit was recorded because realization of a tax benefit was
not likely to occur and the losses were not includable in AT&T’s consolidated income tax return.

In 2001, the effective tax rate was positively impacted by tax benefits associated with the tax-free gain
from the disposal of a portion of AT&T’s retained interest in AT&T Wireless in a debt-for-equity exchange,
partially offset by the consolidation of AT&T Latin America’s pretax losses for which no tax benefit was
provided.

In 2000, the effective tax rate was positively impacted by the tax benefits associated with certain legal
entity restructurings and investments.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Minority interest inCome. . ...ttt $114 $131 $41

Minority interest income represents an adjustment to AT&T’s income to reflect the less than 100%
ownership of consolidated subsidiaries. Minority interest income decreased $17 million in 2002 compared with
2001 as a result of lower net losses of AT&T Latin America in 2002. In December 2002, AT&T fully utilized
the minority interest balance related to AT&T Latin America; therefore, we will no longer record minority
interest income related to AT&T Latin America.

Minority interest income increased $0.1 billion in 2001 compared with 2000 primarily due to AT&T
Latin America, which we acquired on August 28, 2000; therefore, 2001 includes a full year of results,
compared with a partial year in 2000.
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Equity (losses) earnings from Liberty Media Group ............ $— $(2,711) $1,488

Equity (losses) earnings from LMG, which are recorded net of income taxes, were a loss of $2.7 billion in
2001, compared with earnings of $1.5 billion in 2000. The decline of $4.2 billion was largely driven by gains on
dispositions recorded in 2000, including gains associated with the mergers of various companies that LMG had
investments in, as well as higher stock compensation expense in 2001 compared with 2000. Partially offsetting
these declines were lower impairment charges recorded on LM G’s investments to reflect other than temporary
declines in value. Equity losses for 2001 reflect results through July 31, 2001, the deemed effective date of the
split-off.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Net (losses) earnings related to other equity investments........ $(400) $(4,836) $10

Net (losses) related to other equity investments, which are recorded net of income taxes, declined
$4.4 billion in 2002 compared with 2001 due to lower net losses of $2.1 billion for Concert, $1.5 billion for
AT&T Canada and $0.8 billion for Net2Phone, primarily resulting from impairment charges recorded in 2001.

Net (losses) related to other equity investments, net of income taxes, were $4.8 billion in 2001 compared
with income of $10 million in 2000. The unfavorable variance of $4.8 billion was primarily due to greater
losses of $2.2 billion for Concert, $1.8 billion for AT&T Canada and $0.8 billion for Net2Phone primarily due
to impairment charges recorded in 2001.

The after-tax amortization of excess basis associated with nonconsolidated investments, recorded as a
reduction of income, totaled $36 million in 2001, and $37 million in 2000.

Effective January 1, 2002, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, we no longer amortize
excess basis related to nonconsolidated investments.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Net (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes .. $(14,513) $(4,052) $(4,863)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations ............... 1,324 13,503 —

Net (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes, primarily represents the operating results of
AT&T Broadband and AT&T Wireless, which AT&T disposed of and accounted for as discontinued
operations. Accordingly, the revenue, costs and expenses of AT&T Broadband and AT&T Wireless have been
excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In 2002, the net (loss) from discontinued operations included a loss of $14.5 billion from the
discontinued operations of AT&T Broadband, and an estimated loss on the litigation settlement associated
with the business of Lucent Technologies Inc., which was spun-off from AT&T in 1996 and accounted for as a
discontinued operation. Sparks, et al. v. AT&T and Lucent Technologies Inc. et al., was a class action lawsuit
filed in 1996 in Illinois state court. On August 9, 2002, a settlement proposal was submitted to and accepted by
the court. In accordance with the separation and distribution agreement between AT&T and Lucent
Technologies Inc., AT&T recorded its proportionate share of the settlement and estimated legal costs, which
totaled $33 million, net of tax. Depending upon the number of claims submitted and accepted, the actual cost
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of the settlement to AT&T may be less than stated amounts, but it is not possible to estimate the amount at
this time.

In 2002, we realized a noncash gain on the disposition of AT&T Broadband of $1.3 billion, which
represented the difference between the fair value of AT&T Broadband at the date of the spin-off and AT&T’s
book value, net of certain charges triggered by the spin-off of $159 million, and the related income tax effect of
$61 million. These charges included compensation expense due to the accelerated vesting of stock options as
well as the enhancement of certain incentive plans.

In 2001, the net (loss) from discontinued operations included a loss of $4.2 billion from the discontinued
operations of AT&T Broadband, and income of $150 million from the discontinued operations of AT&T
Wireless.

In 2001, we realized a tax-free noncash gain on the disposition of discontinued operations of $13.5 billion,
representing the difference between the fair value of the AT&T Wireless tracking stock at the date of the split-
off and AT&T’s book value.

In 2000, the net (loss) from discontinued operations consisted of a loss of $5.4 billion from the
discontinued operations of AT&T Broadband, and income of $536 million from the discontinued operations of
AT&T Wireless.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Cumulative effect of accounting changes .................... $(856) $904 $—

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, franchise costs were tested for impairment as of January 1, 2002, by
comparing the fair value to the carrying value (at the market level). As a result of this test, an impairment loss
(related to discontinued operations) of $0.9 billion, net of income taxes of $0.5 billion, was recorded in 2002.

Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities.” The cumulative effect of this accounting change, net of applicable income taxes, was
comprised of $0.4 billion for AT&T Group (of which $0.2 billion related to discontinued operations) and
$0.5 billion for LMG. The $0.4 billion recorded by AT&T Group was attributable primarily to fair value
adjustments of equity derivative instruments embedded in indexed debt instruments and warrants held in
public and private companies. The $0.5 billion recorded by LMG represents the impact of separately recording
the embedded call option obligations associated with LMG’s senior exchangeable debentures.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
" (Dollars in millions)

Dividend requirements of preferred stock..................... $— $(652) $—
Premium on exchange of AT&T Wireless tracking stock ....... — (80) —

Dividend requirements of preferred stock were $0.7 billion in 2001. The preferred stock dividend
represented interest in connection with convertible preferred stock issued to NTT DoCoMo in January of 2001
as well as accretion of the beneficial conversion feature associated with this preferred stock. The beneficial
conversion feature was computed upon the issuance of the NTT DoCoMo preferred stock and represented the
excess of the fair value of the preferred shares issued over the proceeds received. This beneficial feature was
being accreted over the time period DoCoMo was required to hold the shares. On July 9, 2001, in conjunction
with the split-off of AT&T Wireless Group, these preferred shares were converted into AT&T Wireless
common stock. As a result, the beneficial conversion feature was fully accreted.
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In May 2001, AT&T completed an exchange offer of AT&T common stock for AT&T Wireless tracking
stock. In 2001, this exchange resulted in a premium of $80 million, which was a reduction of net income
available to common shareowners. The premium represented the excess of the fair value of the AT&T
Wireless tracking stock issued over the fair value of the AT&T common stock exchanged and was calculated
based on the closing share prices of AT&T common stock and AT&T Wireless tracking stock on May 25,
2001.

Segment Results

AT&T’s results are segmented according to the customers we service: AT&T Business Services and
AT&T Consumer Services. The balance of AT&T’s continuing operations (excluding LMG) is included in a
“Corporate and Other” group. This group primarily reflects corporate staff functions and the elimination of
transactions between segments. The discussion of segment results includes revenue, earnings before interest
and taxes (EBIT), capital additions and total assets.

EBIT is the primary measure used by AT&T’s chief operating decision makers to measure AT&T’s
operating results and to measure segment profitability and performance. AT&T calculates EBIT as operating
income plus other (expense) income, net, pretax minority interest income and pretax net (losses) earnings
related to other equity investments. Interest and income taxes are not factored into the segment profitability
measure used by the chief operating decision makers; therefore, trends for these items are discussed on a
consolidated basis. Management believes EBIT is meaningful to investors because it provides an analysis of
operating results using the same measure used by AT&T’s chief operating decision makers. EBIT for AT&T
was $3.9 billion, $1.5 billion and $14.0 billion for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. We provide EBIT, a measure not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), for AT&T in order to provide investors a means to evaluate the financial results of each
segment in relation to total AT&T. The table below provides a reconciliation of EBIT to operating income.
Our calculations of EBIT may or may not be consistent with the calculation of this measure by other public
companies. EBIT should not be viewed by investors as an alternative to a GAAP measure of performance,
such as operating income.

Reconciliation of EBIT to Operating Income For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
EBIT . $3,886 $1,507 $13,973
Deduct:
Other (eXpense) iNCOME . .......oovirireinienennennn... (77) 1,327 1,190
Minority interest inCOMe . ... .......c.ueuneuneeneeneen .. 114 131 41
Pretax net (losses) related to other equity investments . ...... (512) (7,783) (51)
Operating iNCOME . .. ...ttt ettt e e e $4,361 $7,832 $12,793

Total assets for each segment generally include all assets, except intercompany receivables. Prepaid
pension assets and corporate-owned or leased real estate are generally held at the corporate level, and
therefore are included in the Corporate and Other group. The total assets of discontinued operations and the
related (loss) as well as the gain on disposition are not reflected in the Corporate and Other group. Capital
additions for each segment include capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment, additions to
nonconsolidated investments and additions to internal-use software.

Our existing segments reflect certain managerial changes that were implemented during 2002. The
changes primarily include the following: revenue previously recorded by the AT&T Business Services segment
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as “Internal revenue” for services provided to certain other AT&T units and then eliminated within the
Corporate and Other group is now recorded as a contra-expense by AT&T Business Services; the results of
certain units previously included in the Corporate and Other group were transferred to the AT&T Business
Services segment; the financial impacts of SFAS No. 133 that were previously recorded in the Corporate and
Other group were transferred to the appropriate segments. In addition, AT&T Consumer Services and total
AT&T revenue was restated in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issue 01-9, “Accounting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer,” which requires cash incentives given to customers
previously recorded as advertising and promotion expense now to be recorded as a reduction of revenue when
recognized in the income statement, unless an identifiable benefit is received in exchange. All prior periods
have been restated to reflect these changes.

Reflecting the dynamics of our business, we continuously review our management model and structure,
which may result in additional adjustments to our operating segments in the future.

AT&T Business Services

AT&T Business Services offers a variety of global communications services to small and medium-sized
businesses, large domestic and multinational businesses and government agencies. Their services include long
distance, international, toll-free and local voice; data and IP services; managed services; and wholesale
transport services (sales of services to service resellers). Data and IP services are broad categories of services
in which data (i.e. e-mail, video or computer files) is transported from one location to another. In packet
services, data is divided into efficiently sized components and transported between packet switches until it
reaches its final destination, where it is reassembled. Packet services includes IP, frame relay and Asynchro-
nous Transfer Mode or “ATM.” Managed services delivers end-to-end enterprise networking solutions by
managing networks, servers and applications.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

External revenue

SEIVICES TEVENUE . . o\ vttt ettt e et e et $25,856  $26,947  $27,900
Equipment and product sales............................. 379 317 236
Total external revenue . ............... i 26,235 27,264 28,136
Internal revenue ........... ... ... 323 441 423
Total TEVENUE . . . . v v ettt e e e e e e e e $26,558  $27,705  $28,559
EBIT .. $ 1,638  $(2,305) $ 5917
Capital additions .. ........ .. 3,716 5,451 6,841
At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)
TOtal ASSELS .« v v ottt e $36,365  $40,316

Revenue

AT&T Business Services revenue decreased $1.1 billion, or 4.1%, in 2002 compared with 2001, and
decreased $0.9 billion, or 3.0% in 2001 compared with 2000. The declines were primarily driven by a decline in
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long distance voice revenue of $1.7 billion in 2002 and $2.0 billion in 2001. Partially offsetting the decline was
growth in data/IP/managed services, including equipment sales, and local voice services of $0.7 billion in
2002 and $1.3 billion in 2001.

In 2003, we expect long distance voice revenue will continue to decline, reflecting continued competitive
pressure as well as an accelerating shift in the retail/wholesale mix. We expect the declines in long distance
voice revenue will continue to be partially offset by growth in local and data/IP/managed services.

Long distance voice revenue declined approximately 12% in 2002 compared with 2001, and approxi-
mately 13% in 2001 compared with 2000, reflecting the continued impact of pricing pressures and a change in
the wholesale-retail product mix. While long distance volumes grew at a low single-digit rate in 2002 and
2001, the increase was driven by growth in lower-priced wholesale volumes that was essentially offset by a
decrease in higher-priced retail volumes. These factors are expected to continue to negatively impact revenue
in 2003.

Data/IP/managed services, excluding equipment and product sales, increased approximately 5% in 2002
compared with 2001. Growth was driven by increased sales in packet services, which grew at a rate of
approximately 17%, partially offset by a decline in private line services (a service in which the connection is
dedicated to the customer), reflecting an industry trend of customers migrating from private line services to
more cost-effective and technologically-advanced packet services. When we include equipment and product
sales, data/IP/managed services increased approximately 6%.

Data/IP/managed services increased approximately 13% in 2001 compared with 2000, with or without
the impact of equipment sales. The growth was led by packet services, which grew at a mid-20 percent rate.

Local voice services revenue grew approximately 13% in 2002 compared with 2001 and more than 20% in
2001 compared with 2000. This growth reflects our continued focus on increasing the utilization of our existing
footprint. AT&T added approximately 676,000 access lines in 2002. Access lines at the end of 2002 and 2001
were approximately 3.6 million and 2.9 million, respectively.

AT&T Business Services internal revenue decreased $0.1 billion in 2002 compared with 2001 and was
relatively flat in 2001 compared with 2000. The impact of internal revenue is included in the revenue by
product discussions, above. The decrease in internal revenue in 2002 compared with 2001 was primarily due to
the split-off of AT&T Wireless on July 9, 2001, as these sales are now reported as external revenue, partially
offset by an increase in sales to AT&T Broadband. Sales to AT&T Broadband were recorded as internal
revenue through the November 18, 2002, date of disposition. Subsequent to November 18, 2002, sales to
AT&T Broadband, now Comcast, are recorded as external revenue.

EBIT

In 2002, EBIT increased $3.9 billion, or 171.1%, compared with 2001. The improvement was primarily
due to a decrease in pretax net losses related to equity investments of $3.5 billion for Concert and $2.6 billion
for AT&T Canada driven primarily by impairment charges and equity losses recorded in 2001, as well as
$0.4 billion in lower restructuring charges recorded in 2002. This improvement was partially offset by a
decrease in the long distance voice business resulting primarily from the impact of pricing pressures, a
$1.0 billion impairment charge recorded in 2002 for AT&T Latin America, and a gain of approximately
$0.5 billion recorded on the sale of our stake in Japan Telecom in 2001.

In 2001, EBIT decreased $8.2 billion, or 138.9%, compared with 2000. The decline was primarily due to
higher losses of $3.5 billion related to Concert and $3.0 billion related to AT&T Canada, primarily due to
impairment charges recorded in 2001. Also reflected in the decline was the impact of long distance voice
pricing pressure, as well as a shift from higher-margin long distance services to lower-margin growth services.
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Other Items

Capital additions decreased $1.7 billion in 2002 compared with 2001 and $1.4 billion in 2001 compared
with 2000 as we continue to maintain a disciplined focus on capital spending. Although these declines reflect
significantly lower capital expenditures for network assets that support all services provided by AT&T, we
continue to focus the majority of our capital spending on our data, IP and local voice products.

Total assets decreased $4.0 billion, or 9.8%, at December 31, 2002, compared with December 31, 2001.
The decrease reflects lower receivables primarily driven by the settlement of receivables from Concert in
connection with the Concert unwind, improved cash collections and lower revenue. The decrease also reflects
the write-off of the assets associated with the impairment of AT&T Latin America.

AT&T Consumer Services

AT&T Consumer Services provides a variety of communications services to residential customers
including domestic and international long distance; transaction-based long distance, such as operator-assisted
service and prepaid phone cards; local and local toll (intrastate calls outside the immediate local area); and
dial-up Internet.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
REVENUE . . oo $11,527 $14,843  $18,643
EBIT .. 2,647 4,875 6,893
Capital additions .. ...t 127 140 148
At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)
Total SSELS . ..ttt et $ 1,674 $ 2,141

Revenue

AT&T Consumer Services revenue declined $3.3 billion, or 22.3%, in 2002 compared with 2001, and
$3.8 billion, or 20.4%, in 2001 compared with 2000. The decline in both periods was primarily due to long
distance revenue, which fell $3.6 billion in both 2002 and 2001. These declines were largely driven by
traditional long distance voice services, such as domestic and international dial services (long distance calls
where the number “1” is dialed before the call), and domestic calling card services. The traditional long
distance voice services revenue was negatively impacted by substitution and the impact of ongoing competi-
tion, which has led to a loss of market share. In addition, the continued migration of customers to optional
calling plans and lower-priced products, such as prepaid cards, has also negatively impacted revenue. The
revenue decline for 2001 also reflects a $0.5 billion impact due to the elimination of per-line charges in July
2000. Partially offsetting these declines was growth of $0.2 billion in both 2002 and 2001 related to local
services. Calling volumes declined at a low-teen percentage rate in 2002, and a low double-digit percentage
rate in 2001 as a result of competition and wireless and Internet substitution, partially offset by an increase in
prepaid card usage.

In 2002, approximately 5% of AT&T Consumer Services total revenue and more than 50% of prepaid
card revenue was related to a contract with Wal-Mart, Inc. If this contract is not renewed at the next renewal
date, January 31, 2004 (subject to early termination if certain events occur), AT&T Consumer Services
revenue would be adversely affected if we are unsuccessful in selling the cards through a different channel. We
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expect product substitution, competition (including the continued entry of the Regional Bell Operating
Companies (RBOCs) into the long distance market) and customer migration to lower-priced calling plans
and products to continue to negatively impact AT&T Consumer Services revenue in 2003.

EBIT

EBIT declined $2.2 billion, or 45.7%, in 2002 compared with 2001 and declined $2.0 billion, or 29.3%, in
2001 compared with 2000. The declines in both periods were primarily due to the revenue declines in the long
distance business. Also impacting the EBIT decline in 2002 was an asset impairment charge of $0.2 billion
recorded in 2002 related to the Digital Subscriber Line (DSL) assets that will no longer be utilized by AT&T
as a result of the agreement with Covad Communications to offer DSL services over their network.

EBIT margin declined to 23.0% in 2002 from 32.8% in 2001 and 37.0% in 2000. The declining EBIT
margins primarily reflect the impact of customers who substitute long distance calling with wireless and
Internet service and remain AT&T Consumer Services customers as well as customers who migrate to
optional calling plans and lower-priced products. These customers generate less revenue, while their billing,
customer care and fixed costs remain. The 2002 margin was also negatively impacted by the DSL asset
impairment charge. The 2001 margin decline was also impacted by a slight increase in marketing spending
targeted at high-value customers, partially offset by the receipt of $0.2 billion in 2001 from the settlement of
disputes relating to obligations resulting from the sale of AT&T Universal Card Services to Citigroup in 1998.

Other Items

In 2002, capital additions decreased $13 million, or 9.2%, compared with 2001. In 2001, capital additions
decreased $8 million, or 5.2%, compared with 2000.

Total assets declined $0.5 billion to $1.7 billion at December 31, 2002, compared with $2.1 billion at
December 31, 2001. This decline was primarily due to lower accounts receivable, reflecting lower revenue and
slightly improved cash collections.

Corporate and Other

This group primarily reflects the results of corporate staff functions and the elimination of transactions
between segments.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Revenue .............. .. . $ (258) $ (351) $(352)
EBIT .. (399) (1,063) 1,163
Capital additions ............. it 63 150 1,594
At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)
Total ASSELS . ..ottt e $17,233  $19,872

Revenue

In 2002, Corporate and Other revenue was negative $258 million, compared with negative $351 million in
2001. The year-over-year change was primarily due to lower internal revenue with AT&T Wireless due to its
split-off on July 9, 2001, partially offset by an increase in internal revenue with AT&T Broadband. In 2003, as
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a result of the AT&T Broadband spin-off, the elimination of internal revenue residing in Corporate and Other
will decline significantly.

Revenue for Corporate and Other was essentially flat in 2001 compared with 2000, as lower internal
revenue from AT&T Wireless due to its split-off in 2001 was offset by increased sales from AT&T Business
Services to AT&T Broadband.

EBIT

In 2002, EBIT improved $0.7 billion to a deficit of $0.4 billion. The improvement was largely due to
lower investment impairment charges of approximately $1.4 billion, primarily related to our investments in
Net2Phone and Time Warner Telecom in 2001. Also contributing to the EBIT improvement was lower
business restructuring charges as well as lower transaction costs associated with AT&T’s restructuring
announced in October of 2000, totaling $0.6 billion. These EBIT improvements were partially offset by lower
net gains of $0.7 billion driven by a $0.5 billion tax-free gain recorded in 2001 associated with the disposal of a
portion of AT&T’s retained interest in AT&T Wireless. Also offsetting the EBIT improvements were a lower
pension credit (income) of $0.3 billion primarily driven by a lower long-term expected rate of return and the
effects of lower actual plan assets, a $0.2 billion impairment charge recorded in 2002 of certain leases of
aircraft which are accounted for as leveraged leases, and a $0.2 billion variance due to mark-to-market
adjustments on derivative instruments.

EBIT declined $2.2 billion to a deficit of $1.1 billion in 2001 compared with 2000. The decline was
largely due to $1.5 billion of greater investment impairment charges in 2001, primarily for Net2Phone and
Time Warner Telecom. Also contributing to the decline were higher restructuring and other charges and
higher transaction costs associated with AT&T’s restructuring announced in October 2000, totaling $0.4 bil-
lion; and a lower pension credit (income) and higher postretirement expense of $0.3 billion. These declines
were partially offset by the $0.5 billion gain associated with the disposal of a portion of AT&T’s retained
interest in AT&T Wireless.

Other Items

Capital additions decreased $87 million in 2002 primarily due to a decline in the purchase of investments.
Capital additions decreased $1.4 billion in 2001 primarily as a result of our investment in Net2Phone in 2000.

Total assets decreased $2.6 billion, to $17.2 billion in 2002. The decrease was primarily driven by a lower
cash balance at December 31, 2002, and a decrease in investments primarily due to mark-to-market
adjustments, partially offset by derivative-related activity.

Financial Condition
At December 31,

2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)
Total ASSetS . ..ottt $55,272  $165,481
Total lHabilities . . . ..o 42,960 105,778
Total shareowners’ equity .. .. ...ttt 12,312 51,680

Total assets decreased $110.2 billion, or 66.6%, to $55.3 billion at December 31, 2002, compared with
December 31, 2001. The November 18, 2002, spin-off of AT&T Broadband accounted for $103.2 billion of the
decrease. The decrease also reflects lower receivables of $3.1 billion primarily driven by improved cash
collections, the settlement of receivables from Concert in connection with the Concert unwind, and lower
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revenue. In addition, assets decreased as a result of a $2.7 billion reduction in cash and the write-off of
$1.1 billion of assets associated with the impairment of our interest in AT&T Latin America.

Total liabilities decreased $62.8 billion, or 59.4%, to $43.0 billion at December 31, 2002, from
$105.8 billion at December 31, 2001. The November 18, 2002, spin-off of AT&T Broadband contributed
$48.9 billion to the decrease. Also contributing to the decrease in liabilities was $11.6 billion in lower debt
reflecting the pay-down of short-term debt and AT&T Broadband’s assumption of $3.5 billion of AT&T long-
term debt in connection with its spin-off. In addition, total liabilities decreased as a result of the settlement of
AT&T’s obligation to purchase the publicly owned shares of AT&T Canada and due to the impairment of our
interest in AT&T Latin America.

Minority interest of discontinued operations decreased $3.3 billion at December 31, 2002, compared with
December 31, 2001. The decrease was a result of the exchange or redemption of all TCI Pacific preferred
shares for AT&T common stock and the November 18, 2002, spin-off of AT&T Broadband. Quarterly income
preferred securities of discontinued operations decreased $4.7 billion at December 31, 2002, compared with
December 31, 2001, as these securities were converted into Comcast class A common stock in conjunction
with the spin-off of AT&T Broadband.

Total shareowners’ equity decreased $39.4 billion, or 76.2%, to $12.3 billion at December 31, 2002, from
$51.7 billion at December 31, 2001. This decrease was primarily due to a decline of $26.6 billion in additional
paid-in capital principally due to a $31.0 billion reduction resulting from the spin-off of AT&T Broadband
(including compensation expense triggered by the spin-off), partially offset by an increase of $2.5 billion from
the June 2002 common stock offering and $2.1 billion from the exchange or redemption of all TCI Pacific
preferred shares for AT&T common shares. Retained earnings decreased $13.1 billion at December 31, 2002,
compared with December 31, 2001, primarily due to the net (loss) from discontinued operations partially
offset by a $1.3 billion gain on the spin-off of AT&T Broadband.

During 2002, when AT&T declared its quarterly dividends to the AT&T Common Stock Group
shareowners, the Company was in an accumulated deficit position. As a result, the Company reduced
additional paid-in capital by $0.6 billion, the entire amount of the dividends declared.

Liquidity
Cash Flows For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Provided by operating activities of continuing operations. . ... ... $10,483  $10,005 $10,641
(Used in) investing activities of continuing operations.......... (1,429)  (4,295) (32,678)
(Used in) provided by financing activities of continuing

OPETALIONS .+ v ettt et et e e e (6,041) (2,778) 23,745
(Used in) provided by discontinued operations................ (5,679) 7,683 (2,746)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents .......... $(2,666) $10,615  $(1,038)

Net cash provided by operating activities of AT&T’s continuing operations of $10.5 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2002, was generated primarily by $11.4 billion of income from continuing operations,
adjusted to exclude noncash income items and net gains on sales of businesses and investments, and a decrease
in accounts receivable of $0.7 billion reflecting cash collections and lower revenue. Partially offsetting these
sources of cash were a net change in other operating assets and liabilities of $1.4 billion due to lower tax
liabilities as well as lower payroll and benefit-related liabilities.
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Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations of $10.0 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2001, primarily included $11.8 billion of income from continuing operations, adjusted to
exclude noncash income items and net gains on sales of businesses and investments, and a decrease in
accounts receivable of $0.9 billion due to lower revenue and strong cash collections in December 2001.
Partially offsetting the cash provided were net changes in other operating assets and liabilities of $2.1 billion
due to tax payments, and a decrease in accounts payable of $0.5 billion. Net cash provided by operating
activities of continuing operations of $10.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2000, primarily included
income from continuing operations, excluding noncash income items and the adjustment for net gains on sales
of businesses and investments, of $13.8 billion, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of
$2.4 billion due to an increase in the receivables from Concert and slow customer collections at AT&T
Business Services, a decrease in accounts payable of $0.6 billion and a net change in other assets and liabilities
of $0.1 billion.

AT&T’s investing activities resulted in a net use of cash of $1.4 billion in 2002, compared with
$4.3 billion in 2001 and $32.7 billion in 2000. During 2002, AT&T spent $3.9 billion on capital expenditures,
paid $3.4 billion to settle the AT&T Canada obligation and received a $5.8 billion cash distribution from
AT&T Broadband in conjunction with its spin-off. In 2001, AT&T spent $5.8 billion on capital expenditures,
and received approximately $1.6 billion from the sales of investments. During 2000, AT&T used approxi-
mately $23.7 billion for acquisitions of businesses, primarily MediaOne Group, Inc., and spent $7.0 billion on
capital expenditures.

During 2002, net cash used in financing activities was $6.0 billion, compared with net cash used in
financing activities of $2.8 billion in 2001, and net cash provided by financing activities of $23.7 billion in 2000.
During 2002, AT&T made net payments of $8.2 billion to reduce debt, paid dividends of $0.6 billion, and
received $2.7 billion from the issuance of AT&T common stock, primarily due to the sale of 46 million shares
in the second quarter. The proceeds from this stock sale, along with funds from other short-term sources, were
used to satisfy AT&T’s obligation to the AT&T Canada shareholders (see investing activities above).

During 2001, AT&T made net debt payments of $6.5 billion, paid AT&T Wireless $5.8 billion to settle an
intercompany loan in conjunction with its split-off from AT&T, and paid dividends of $0.5 billion. Partially
offsetting these outflows in 2001 was the receipt of $9.8 billion from the issuance of convertible preferred stock
to NTT DoCoMo. During 2000, AT&T received $10.3 billion from the AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock
offering and had net borrowings of debt of $17.0 billion. These sources of cash were partially offset by the
payment of $3.0 billion in dividends.

Working Capital and Other Sources of Liquidity

At December 31, 2002, our working capital ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.32,
reflecting the cash balance on hand as a result of cash received in conjunction with the spin-off of AT&T
Broadband.

During the second and third quarters of 2002, AT&T renewed both its AT&T Business Services and
AT&T Consumer Services customer accounts receivable securitization facilities. Together, the programs
provide up to $2.0 billion of available financing, limited by the eligible receivables balance, which varies from
month to month. Proceeds from the securitization are recorded as a borrowing and included in short-term
debt. At December 31, 2002, approximately $0.2 billion was outstanding. The terms of these facilities have
been extended to June (AT&T Business Services) and July (AT&T Consumer Services) of 2003.

At December 31, 2002, we had a $3.0 billion 364-day credit facility available to us that was entered into
on October 9, 2002. The credit facility contains a financial covenant that requires AT&T to meet a net debt-
to-EBITDA ratio (as defined in the credit agreement) not exceeding 2.25 to 1.00 for four consecutive quarters
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ending on the last day of each fiscal quarter. It also contains a covenant that requires AT&T to maintain
$1.27 billion in unencumbered cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. At December 31, 2002, we
were in compliance with these covenants.

AT&T reduced its debt in 2002 as a result of the spin-off of AT&T Broadband on November 18, 2002.
The third party debt of TCI and MediaOne Group, Inc. of $15.0 billion was included in the net assets spun-off
with AT&T Broadband. This debt was included in the liabilities of discontinued operations at December 31,
2001. At the time of spin-off, AT&T and AT&T Broadband settled approximately $9.4 billion of intercom-
pany debt and transaction-related costs. AT&T received a $5.8 billion cash distribution from AT&T
Broadband, which is reflected in the cash balance at December 31, 2002. The remainder of the intercompany
debt and transaction-related costs was settled via a debt exchange. In the AT&T Broadband debt exchange,
$3.5 billion of outstanding AT&T notes were exchanged for notes that, upon completion of the spin-off of
AT&T Broadband, became notes of AT&T Broadband and are unconditionally guaranteed by Comcast and
certain of its subsidiaries. In addition, AT&T completed another exchange in which $4.6 billion of outstanding
AT&T notes were exchanged for new AT&T notes that remain solely obligations of AT&T and, upon
completion of the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, have revised terms, including revised maturity dates and/or
interest rates.

We anticipate funding our operations in 2003 primarily with cash and cash equivalents on hand as well as
cash from operations. If economic conditions worsen or do not improve and/or competition and product
substitution accelerate beyond current expectations, our cash flow from operations would decrease, negatively
impacting our liquidity. However, we believe our access to the capital markets is adequate to provide the
flexibility in funding our operations that we desire. Sources of liquidity include the commercial paper market,
a $2.4 billion universal shelf registration, the securitization program and the credit facility. However, we
cannot provide any assurances that all of these sources of funding will be available at the time they are needed
or in the amounts required.

Credit Ratings and Related Debt Implications

During 2002, AT&T’s long-term debt ratings were lowered by Moody’s and Fitch. None of AT&T’s
ratings are currently under review or on Credit Watch for further downgrade. As of December 31, 2002, our
credit ratings were as follows:

Short-Term Long-Term

Credit Rating Agency Rating Rating Outlook
Standard & Poor’s ......... ... . .. A-2 BBB+ Stable*
MoOdy’s . .ot P-2 Baa2 Negative
Fitch Ratings. .. ....... . ... i F-2 BBB+ Stable*

* Subsequent to December 31, 2002, the Outlook was changed to “Negative.”

Our access to the capital markets as well as the cost of our borrowings is affected by our debt ratings. In
2002, as a result of the Moody’s downgrade, the interest rate on $10.0 billion of notes sold in November 2001,
increased by 50 basis points effective with interest payment periods that began after November 15, 2002, for
the majority of the notes. The additional interest expense in 2002 was approximately $8 million and is
estimated to be an additional $50 million in 2003. Additional debt rating downgrades could require AT&T to
pay higher rates on certain existing debt, prepay certain operating leases and post cash collateral for certain
interest-rate and equity swaps if we are in a net payable position.

If our ratings were downgraded below investment grade by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s, there are
provisions in our securitization programs, which could require the outstanding balances to be paid by the
collection of the receivables. We do not believe downgrades below investment grade are likely to occur.
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The holders of certain private debt with an outstanding balance of $0.9 billion at December 31, 2002,
have an annual put right to cause AT&T to repay the debt upon payment of an exercise fee. In exchange for
the debt holders agreeing not to exercise their put right, AT&T posted a cash-collateralized letter of credit in
2002 totaling $0.4 billion and expiring March 2005. The annual put right for 2003 expired on February 13,
2003, without exercise by the debt holders. The holders could accelerate repayment of the debt based on
certain events such as the occurrence of unfavorable local law or regulation changes in its country of operation.

If AT&T’s debt ratings are further downgraded, AT&T’s access to the capital market may be restricted
and/or such replacement financing may be more costly or have additional covenants than we had in
connection with our debt at December 31, 2002. In addition, the market environment for financing in general,
and within the telecommunications sector in particular, has been adversely affected by economic conditions
and bankruptcies of other telecommunication providers. If the financial markets become more cautious
regarding the industry/ratings category we operate in, our ability to obtain financing would be further reduced.
This could negatively impact our ability to pursue acquisitions, make capital expenditures to expand our
network or to pay dividends.

Cash Requirements

Our cash needs for 2003 will be primarily related to capital expenditures, repayment of debt and payment
of dividends. We expect our capital expenditures for 2003 to be approximately $3.3 billion to $3.5 billion. On
January 31, 2003, we completed the repurchase, with cash, of $3.7 billion of notes with interest rates of 6.375%
and 6.5% and maturities of 2004 and 2013. These notes were classified as long-term debt at December 31,
2002. In addition, in connection with the early retirement in February 2003, of exchangeable notes that are
indexed to AT&T Wireless stock, we made cash payments of $152 million to the debt holders, funded in part
by $72 million of proceeds from the sale of our remaining AT&T Wireless shares.

AT&T is not required to make cash contributions to its principle pension plans in 2003. However, based
on the final valuation of private equities and real estate for 2002, cash contributions could be required in 2004.

Contractual Cash Obligations

The following summarizes AT&T’s contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments at
December 31, 2002, and the effect such obligations are expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in future
periods.

Payments Due by Period

Less than 2-3 4-5 After 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years Years

(Dollars in millions)

Long-term debt, including current

maturities""® Lo $19,988  $5,470  $2,368  $4,201  $7,949
Capital lease obligations. .................. 101 4 17 7 73
Operating leases™ ....................... 2,124 480 729 455 460
Unconditional purchase obligations®-):(-(7) 674 268 291 115 —
Total Contractual Cash Obligations ......... $22,887 $6,222 $3,405 $4,778  $8,482

) We had long-term debt that was indexed to securities (monetized debt). The total balance of monetized debt of $519 million at
December 31, 2002, had scheduled maturity dates of 2005 and 2006. However, in February 2003, we redeemed those notes with a
combination of shares and cash of $152 million. The portion of debt that was settled in shares is excluded from the above table and the
cash payments were included in “Less than 1 Year” in the above table.
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We had long-term debt, with original maturity dates of 2004 and 2013, with a carrying value of $3.7 billion at December 31, 2002.
This debt was settled in the first quarter of 2003 and included in “Less than 1 Year” in the above table. In connection with the
settlement of this debt, we paid premiums of $124 million, which are excluded from the above table.

Under certain real estate operating leases, we could be required to make payments to the lessors of up to $447 million at the end of the
lease term (lease terms range from 2004 through 2007). The actual amount paid, if any, would be reduced by amounts received by the
lessor upon remarketing of the property. These amounts are excluded from the above table due to the uncertainty of the dollar
amounts to be paid, if any, as well as the timing of such amounts.

AT&T Consumer Services has unconditional purchase obligations with multiple vendors to purchase a broad range of products and
services, including the outsourcing of billing and customer care services, and the purchase of certain promotional items. Such
obligations extend through 2005.

AT&T has contractual obligations to utilize network facilities from local exchange carriers with terms greater than one year. Since the
contracts have no minimum volume requirements, and are based on an interrelationship of volumes and discounted rates, we assessed
our minimum commitment based on penalties to exit the contracts, assuming we exited the contracts on December 31, 2002. At
December 31, 2002, the penalties AT&T would have incurred to exit all of these contracts would have been $2.1 billion. These
amounts are excluded from the above table due to the uncertainty of the dollar amounts to be paid, if any, as well as the timing of such
amounts.

AT&T has contractual obligations under two contracts that extend through 2006 for services that include computer application design,
development, maintenance and testing as well as the operation of data centers that host many of the computer applications operated
throughout AT&T. Payments under these contracts are based in part on the volume and type of services we require. Since AT&T can
terminate either or both of these contracts for convenience at any time by paying a fee, we assessed our minimum commitment based
on the termination for convenience fees, which decline each year during the term of the contracts. If we elect to exit both of these
contracts, the maximum termination fees we would be obligated to pay in the year of termination would be approximately $359 million
in 2003, $308 million in 2004, $239 million in 2005, or $164 million in 2006. These termination fees are excluded from the above table
due to the uncertainty of the dollar amounts to be paid, if any, as well as the timing of such amounts.

AT&T has contractual obligations that extend through 2009 for services that include payroll and related human resource services.
Payments under these contracts are based on level of service required and fluctuates based on volume. Since there is no minimum
service requirement and we can exit the contract at any time by paying a termination fee, we assessed our minimum commitment
based on these termination fees, assuming we terminated the contracts on December 31 of each year. Such termination fees would be
approximately $50 million in 2003, $44 million in 2004, $38 million in 2005, $23 million in 2006, $11 million in 2007 or $3 million in
2008. These amounts are excluded from the above table due to the uncertainty of the dollar amounts to be paid, if any, as well as the
timing of such amounts.

From time to time, we guarantee the debt of our subsidiaries, and, in connection with the separation of

certain subsidiaries, these guarantees remained and we issued guarantees for certain debt and other
obligations. These guarantees relate to our former subsidiaries AT&T Capital Corp., NCR, AT&T Wireless
and AT&T Broadband.

We currently hold no collateral for such guarantees, and have not recorded corresponding obligations. We

have been provided with cross-guarantees or indemnifications by third parties for certain of these guarantees.

In

the event that the financial condition of the parties to the various agreements deteriorates to the point at

which they declare bankruptcy, other third parties to the agreements could look to us for payment.

(1)
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Commitments by Period

Total
Amounts Less than 2-3 4-5 After 5
Other Commercial Commitments Committed 1 Year Years Years Years
(Dollars in millions)
Guarantees of debt'™ .. ... . ... ... .. ... $ 506 $ — $ — $—  $506
Guarantees of other obligations®-® ... .. ... 4,968 180 4,646 142 —
Total . ... $5,474 $180 $4,646  $142 $506

Prior to the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, we had guaranteed certain debt of AT&T Broadband, which we continue to provide. Under
the terms of the merger agreement between AT&T Broadband and Comcast, if Comcast does not call the debt in 2003, they must

provide us with a letter of credit in the amount of $500 million. In addition, Comcast has provided us with an indemnification for this
debt.
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@) Prior to the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, we had guaranteed various obligations of AT&T Broadband, including operating leases for
real estate, surety bonds, and equity hedges, which we continue to provide. Comcast has provided indemnifications for the full amount
of these guarantees.

3

AT&T provides a guarantee of an obligation that AT&T Wireless has to DoCoMo. In connection with an investment DoCoMo made
in AT&T Wireless, AT&T and AT&T Wireless agreed that under certain circumstances, including that AT&T Wireless fails to meet
specific technological milestones by June 30, 2004 (revised to December 31, 2004, pursuant to an amended agreement between AT&T
Wireless and DoCoMo), DoCoMo would have the right to require AT&T Wireless to repurchase its AT&T Wireless common stock
for $9.8 billion plus interest. In the event AT&T Wireless is unable to satisfy its entire obligation, AT&T is secondarily liable for up to
$3.65 billion, plus interest.

Risk Management

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest and foreign exchange rates, as well as changes in
equity prices associated with previously affiliated companies. In addition, we are exposed to market risk from
fluctuations in the prices of securities, some of which we had monetized through the issuance of debt. On a
limited basis, we use certain derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, options, forwards,
equity hedges and other derivative contracts, to manage these risks. We do not use financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes. All financial instruments are used in accordance with board-approved policies.

We enter into foreign currency contracts to minimize our exposure to risk of adverse changes in currency
exchange rates. We are subject to foreign exchange risk for foreign-currency-denominated transactions, such
as debt issued, recognized payables and receivables and forecasted transactions. At December 31, 2002, our
foreign currency market exposures were principally Euros, Japanese yen, and Swiss francs.

The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is subject to the changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
For the purpose of assessing specific risks, we use a sensitivity analysis to determine the effects that market
risk exposures may have on the fair value of our financial instruments and results of operations. To perform the
sensitivity analysis, we assess the risk of loss in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical 10% adverse
change in the value of foreign currencies, assuming no change in interest rates.

For foreign exchange contracts outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, assuming a hypothetical
10% appreciation of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies from the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates, the fair value of the foreign exchange contracts would have decreased $66 million and $492 million,
respectively. The decrease in the change from 2001 was primarily due to a $5.3 billion decline in the notional
amount of contracts outstanding. This decline was largely due to debt under the Euro Commercial Paper
Program paid down in 2002, and the satisfaction of the obligation to purchase the outstanding shares of AT&T
Canada in 2002. Because our foreign exchange contracts are entered into for hedging purposes, we believe that
these losses would be largely offset by gains on the underlying transactions.

We have also entered into combined interest rate foreign currency contracts to hedge foreign-currency-
denominated debt. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, assuming a hypothetical 10% appreciation in the
U.S. dollar against foreign currencies from the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates, the fair value of the
combined interest rate foreign currency contracts would have decreased $0.5 billion and $0.4 billion,
respectively. Because our foreign exchange contracts are entered into for hedging purposes, we believe that
these losses would be largely offset by gains on the underlying foreign-currency-denominated debt.

The model to determine sensitivity assumes a parallel shift in all foreign currency exchange rates,
although exchange rates rarely move in the same direction. Additionally, the amounts above do not necessarily
represent the actual changes in fair value we would incur under normal market conditions because all
variables, other than the exchange rates, are held constant in the calculations.

We use interest rate swaps to manage the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows. We
perform a sensitivity analysis on our interest rate swaps to assess the risk of changes in fair value. The model to
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determine sensitivity assumes a hypothetical 10% parallel shift in all interest rates. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, assuming a hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates, the fair value of interest rate swaps would have
decreased by $1 million and $2 million, respectively. We believe the decrease in fair value would be largely
offset by an increase in the fair value of the underlying hedged debt.

As discussed above, we have also entered into combined interest rate foreign currency contracts to hedge
foreign-currency-denominated debt. Assuming a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates, the fair value of
the contracts would have decreased by $3 million at December 31, 2002, and by a negligible amount at
December 31, 2001.

The fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt is sensitive to changes in interest rates. Interest rate
changes would result in gains or losses in the market value of the debt due to differences between the market
interest rates and rates at the inception of the obligation. Assuming a 10% downward shift in interest rates at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of unhedged debt would have increased by $0.7 billion and
$1.0 billion, respectively.

At December 31, 2002, we had certain notes, with embedded derivatives, which were indexed to the
market price of equity securities we owned. Changes in the market prices of these securities resulted in
changes in the fair value of the derivatives. Assuming a hypothetical 10% increase in the market price of these
equity securities, the fair value of the collars would have decreased by $46 million and $112 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Because these collars hedged the underlying equity securities
monetized, we believed that the decrease in the fair value of the collars would have been largely offset by
increases in the fair value of the underlying equity securities. The changes in fair values referenced above do
not represent the actual changes in fair value we would incur under normal market conditions because all
variables other than the equity prices were held constant in the calculations.

We use equity hedges to manage our exposure to changes in equity prices associated with various equity
awards of previously affiliated companies. Assuming a hypothetical 10% decrease in equity prices of these
companies, the fair value of the equity hedges (net liability) would have increased by $9 million at
December 31, 2002, and by a negligible amount at December 31, 2001. Because these contracts are entered
into for hedging purposes, we believe that the increase in fair value would be largely offset by decreases in the
underlying liabilities.

In order to determine the changes in fair value of our various financial instruments, including options,
equity collars and other equity awards, we use certain financial modeling techniques, including Black-Scholes.
We apply rate sensitivity changes directly to our interest rate swap transactions and forward rate sensitivity to
our foreign currency forward contracts.

The changes in fair value, as discussed above, assume the occurrence of certain market conditions, which
could have an adverse financial impact on the Company. They do not consider the potential effect of changes
in market factors that would result in favorable impacts to us, and do not represent projected losses in fair
value that we expect to incur. Future impacts would be based on actual developments in global financial
markets. We do not foresee any significant changes in the strategies used to manage interest rate risk, foreign
currency rate risk or equity price risk in the near future.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” This
standard requires that obligations that are legally enforceable and unavoidable, and are associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets, be recorded as liabilities when those obligations are incurred, with the
amount of the liability initially measured at fair value. The offset to the initial asset retirement obligation is an
increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, this liability is accreted to its future
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value, and the asset is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, an
entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement. SFAS
No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. For AT&T,
this means that the standard was adopted on January 1, 2003. AT&T currently includes, in its group
depreciation rates, an amount related to the retirement costs for certain assets. However, such amounts are not
legally enforceable or unavoidable; therefore, AT&T will be required to reverse the amount accrued in
accumulated depreciation. As of January 1, 2003, AT&T will report approximately $40 million as the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles related to the adoption of SFAS No. 143. The impact of
no longer including the cost of removal in the group depreciation rates for these assets, coupled with the
cumulative effect impact on accumulated depreciation, will result in a decrease to depreciation expense in
2003. However, the costs incurred to remove these assets will be reflected as a cost in the period incurred as
“Costs of services and products.”

On June 28, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities.” This
statement addresses the recognition, measurement and reporting of costs that are associated with exit and
disposal activities. This statement includes the restructuring activities that are currently accounted for
pursuant to the guidance set forth in EITF 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” costs
related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease and one-time benefit arrangements received by
employees who are involuntarily terminated — nullifying the guidance under EITF 94-3. Under
SFAS No. 146, the cost associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized in the periods in which it is
incurred rather than at the date the company committed to the exit plan. This statement is effective for exit or
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002, with earlier application encouraged. Previously issued
financial statements will not be restated. The provisions of EITF 94-3 shall continue to apply for exit plans
initiated prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 146. Accordingly, the initial adoption of SFAS No. 146 will not
have an effect on AT&T’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows. Liabilities associated with
future exit and disposal activities will not be recognized until actually incurred.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.” This standard provides alternate
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation and requires more prominent disclosure about the method used. This statement is effective for
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. For AT&T, this means it is effective for December 31, 2002.
Currently AT&T applies the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” and we do not expense our stock options. However, as previously announced, AT&T will begin
expensing all stock options issued after January 1, 2003, and will continue to apply the disclosure-only
provisions to stock options issued prior to January 1, 2003. This method of transition is in compliance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 148. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 will not have an
impact on AT&T’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows; however, the expensing of the stock
options issued after January 1, 2003, will have a negative impact on our results of operations. (See note 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for the required disclosure under this standard.)

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45
requires that an entity issuing a guarantee (including those embedded in a purchase or sales agreement) must
recognize, at the inception of the guarantee, a liability equal to the fair value of the guarantee. The recording
of this liability is not dependent on the probability that the payments will be required. The offset to the liability
will depend on the circumstances under which the guarantee was issued, but could include: cash/accounts
receivable if it is a standalone transaction, net proceeds in a sales transaction, or expense if no compensation is
received. FIN 45 also requires detailed information about each guarantee or group of guarantees even if the
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likelihood of making a payment is remote. The disclosure requirements of this interpretation are effective for
financial statements of periods ending after December 15, 2002, which makes them effective for AT&T for
December 31, 2002 (see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the disclosures required under
this interpretation). The recognition and measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applicable on a
prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. FIN 45 could have an impact on
the future results of AT&T depending on guarantees issued; however, at this time we do not believe that the
adoption of this statement will have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash
flows.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities — an Interpreta-
tion of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51.” FIN 46 requires the primary beneficiary to consolidate a
variable interest entity (VIE) if it has a variable interest that will absorb a majority of the entity’s expected
losses if they occur, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns if they occur, or both. FIN 46
applies immediately to VIEs created after January 31, 2003, and to VIEs in which the entity obtains an
interest after that date. For VIEs acquired before February 1, 2003, the effective date for AT&T is July 1,
2003. AT&T is currently in the process of determining the impact of this statement on its results of operations,
financial position and cash flows. The disclosures relating to our present involvement with possible VIEs and
our maximum exposure to losses are included in note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables,” related to the timing of revenue recognition for arrangements in which goods or
services or both are delivered separately in a bundled sales arrangement. The EITF requires that when the
deliverables included in this type of arrangement meet certain criteria they should be accounted for separately
as separate units of accounting. This may result in a difference in the timing of revenue recognition but will not
result in a change in the total amount of revenue recognized in a bundled sales arrangement. The allocation of
revenue to the separate deliverables is based on the relative fair value of each item. If the fair value is not
available for the delivered items then the residual method must be used. This method requires that the amount
allocated to the undelivered items in the arrangement is their full fair value. This would result in the discount,
if any, being allocated to the delivered items. This consensus is effective prospectively for arrangements
entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003, which, for AT&T, is July 1, 2003. AT&T is
currently evaluating the impact of this consensus on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In January 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF 02-18, “Accounting for Subsequent Investments
in an Investee after Suspension of Equity Method Loss Recognition.” This consensus states that if an
additional investment, in whole or in part, represents the funding of prior losses, the investor should recognize
previously suspended losses. This determination would be based on various factors including whether the
investment results in an increased ownership percentage, the fair value of the consideration received is
equivalent to the consideration paid and whether the investment is acquired from a third party or directly from
an investee. If any of these provisions are met, the additional investment would generally not be considered as
funding prior losses. When appropriate to recognize prior losses, the amount recognized would be limited to
the amount of the additional investment determined to represent the funding of prior losses. The consensus
will be effective for additional investments made after February 5, 2003.

Subsequent Events

In January 2003, AT&T early retired $3.7 billion of long-term notes. In February 2003, AT&T redeemed
exchangeable notes that were indexed to AT&T Wireless common stock and subsequently sold its remaining
AT&T Wireless holdings. For further information on these items, see the contractual cash obligations table in
the liquidity discussion.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

Management is responsible for the preparation, integrity and objectivity of the consolidated financial
statements and all other financial information included in this report. Management is also responsible for
maintaining a system of internal controls as a fundamental requirement for the operational and financial
integrity of results. The financial statements, which reflect the consolidated accounts of AT&T Corp. and
subsidiaries (AT&T) and other financial information shown, were prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles. Estimates included in the financial statements were based on judgments of
qualified personnel. To maintain its system of internal controls, management carefully selects key personnel
and establishes the organizational structure to provide an appropriate division of responsibility. We believe it is
essential to conduct business affairs in accordance with the highest ethical standards as set forth in the AT&T
Code of Conduct. These guidelines and other informational programs are designed and used to ensure that
policies, standards and managerial authorities are understood throughout the organization. Our internal
auditors monitor compliance with the system of internal controls by means of an annual plan of internal audits.
On an ongoing basis, the system of internal controls is reviewed, evaluated and revised as necessary in light of
the results of constant management oversight, internal and independent audits, changes in AT&T’s business
and other conditions. Management believes that the system of internal controls, taken as a whole, provides
reasonable assurance that (1) financial records are adequate and can be relied upon to permit the preparation
of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and (2) access to assets
occurs only in accordance with management’s authorizations.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed of directors who are not employees,
meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the independent accountants to review the
manner in which these groups of individuals are performing their responsibilities and to carry out the Audit
Committee’s oversight role with respect to auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.
Periodically, both the internal auditors and the independent accountants meet privately with the Audit
Committee and have access to its individual members at any time.

The consolidated financial statements in this annual report have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, Independent Accountants. Their audits were conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and include an assessment of the internal control structure and selective tests of transactions. Their
report follows.

W 7 Yl

David W. Dorman Thomas W. Horton
Chairman of the Board, Senior Executive Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of AT&T Corp.:

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareowners’ equity and of
cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of AT&T Corp. and its subsidiaries
(AT&T) at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of AT&T’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
did not audit the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2000 of Liberty Media Group, an
equity method investee, which was acquired by AT&T on March 9, 1999. AT&T’s financial statements
include equity method earnings of $1,488 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Those statements
were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion expressed
herein, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Liberty Media Group, for the year ended
December 31, 2000, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in the notes to the financial statements, AT&T was required to adopt Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective January 1, 2002.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
New York, New York

January 23, 2003, except for Note 20,
as to which the date is February 28, 2003
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2002

2001

2000

Dollars in millions
(except per share amounts)

REVENUE . . .\ttt e $ 37,827  $42,197  $46,850
Operating Expenses
Access and other connection . .......... ...ttt 10,790 12,085 13,139
Costs of services and products (excluding depreciation of $3,391, $2,954 and $3,119

included below) . . ... i 8,363 8,621 8,235
Selling, general and administrative ... ......... ... .ttt 7,988 8,064 7,387
Depreciation and amortization . .. .........uu ettt 4,888 4,559 4,538
Net restructuring and other charges ........... ... ... i, 1,437 1,036 758
Total OPerating EXPENSES. . . v vttt ettt ettt e e e e e e 33,466 34,365 34,057
Operating iNCOME . . . ...ttt ettt ettt e et et e e e et 4,361 7,832 12,793
Other (exXpense) INCOME, NEt. . .. ..ottt ettt ettt (77) 1,327 1,190
Interest (EXPEemSE) . ..ottt e e (1,448) (1,493) (1,503)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest income,

and net (losses) earnings related to equity investments .. ...................... 2,836 7,666 12,480
(Provision) for inCOME taxes . . .. ...vt ittt e e (1,587)  (2,890) (4,487)
Minority interest iNCOME . .. ...ttt ittt et 114 131 41
Equity (losses) earnings from Liberty Media Group .............. . ... ... .... — (2,711) 1,488
Net (losses) earnings related to other equity investments ........................ (400)  (4,836) 10
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ............. ..., 963 (2,640) 9,532
Net (loss) from discontinued operations (net of income tax benefits of $6,014,

$3,715, and $1,364) ..o (14,513)  (4,052) (4,863)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of income tax benefit of $61 in

2002) t e 1,324 13,503 —
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of accounting changes ................... (12,226) 6,811 4,669
Cumulative effect of accounting changes (net of income taxes of $530 and $(578)) (856) 904 —
Net (10SS) INCOME . . ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e (13,082) 7,715 4,669
Dividend requirements of preferred stock............. . . ... . i il — (652) —
Premium on exchange of AT&T Wireless tracking stock ........................ — (80) —
(Loss) income attributable to common shareowners ............................ $(13,082) $ 6,983 $ 4,669
AT&T Common Stock Group — per basic share:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations ... .............ouuunieeeerunnnnennn. $ 129 $ (091) $ 11.54
(Loss) from discontinued operations . .............c.couuiiriireinennennenennnnn. (19.44) (5.60) (7.09)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations ...................ciiiiiinai... 1.77 18.53 —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes .. ........... ... ... ... . i, (1.15) 0.49 —
AT&T Common Stock Group (loss) earnings ................oeeiiuunneeeenn.. $ (17.53) $ 1251 § 445
AT&T Common Stock Group — per diluted share:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations . ..............c...ouuiiinniennnen... $ 126 $ (091) $ 11.01
(Loss) from discontinued operations . ................uuiiuiiinneinneinnannn.. (18.95) (5.60) (6.76)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations ................ ..., 1.73 18.53 —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes ............ . ... ... .. i i, (1.12) 0.49 —
AT&T Common Stock Group (loss) earnings ................ooiiiuinneennnn.. $ (17.08) $ 1251 § 4.25
AT&T Wireless Group — per basic and diluted share:
Earmings . . ..ottt et e e $ — $ 008 $ 0.21
Liberty Media Group — per basic and diluted share:
(Loss) earnings — before cumulative effect of accounting changes ................ $ — $ (105 $ 0.8
Cumulative effect of accounting changes ............. ... ... ... . . ... — 0.21 —
Liberty Media Group (10SS) €arnings ... ..........uuueiiiinneeeninneennnnn. $ — $ (084) $ 0.58

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,
2002 2001
Dollars in millions

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents. .. ... ... ... i $ 8,014 $ 10,680
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $669 and $754 ... ... ... .. .. ... 5,286 7,153
Other receivables . . ... o 173 1,431
Deferred INCOME taXES . . . ..ottt e e 910 1,192
Other CUITENT ASSETS . . o\ vttt ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e e et e e et 1,520 622
Current assets of discontinued Operations . ... ............uiiniiineneineiienn — 1,649
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS ... e 15,903 22,727
Property, plant and equipment, NEt .. ...... ...ttt 25,604 26,803
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization in 2001 of $564....... . ... ... . ... .. .. .. ...... 4,626 5,314
Other purchased intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $244 and $190 ........ 556 661
Prepaid pension COStS . ... .ottt et e 3,596 3,329
O her ASSEES . ottt et 4,987 5,144
Non-current assets of discontinued operations ... ................iiiiiieineineennaaa.. — 101,503
TOTAL ASSET S . e e $ 55,272 $165,481
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable . ... ... $ 3819 §$ 4,156
Payroll and benefit-related liabilities ........... .. ... 1,519 1,606
Debt maturing within One Year. ... ... ..ottt e 3,762 10,134
Other current Habilities .. ... ...t e 2,924 3,929
Current liabilities of discontinued operations . ............ ... c.iineiiinininnenennenn.s — 5,801
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES . ... .. e 12,024 25,626
Long-term debt. .. ... i 18,812 24,025
Long-term benefit-related liabilities . ... ... . oo 4,001 3,459
Deferred INCOME taXES . . . o\ttt e e e e e 4,739 2,438
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits ......... ... ... ... ... . .. 3,384 7,159
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations . ...................iiiiuieinneennaa... — 43,071
TOTAL LIABILITIES ... e e e e 42,960 105,778
Minority Interest of Discontinued Operations. .......... ...ttt — 3,303

Company-Obligated Convertible Quarterly Income Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trust
Holding Solely Subordinated Debt Securities of AT&T of Discontinued Operations . ....... — 4,720

SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY

AT&T Common Stock, $1 par value, authorized 6,000,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
783,037,580 shares (net of 171,801,716 treasury shares) at December 31, 2002 and

708,481,149 shares (net of 170,349,286 treasury shares) at December 31, 2001 ............ 783 708
Additional paid-in capital . ... ... ... 28,163 54,798
Accumulated defiCit . . ... oot (16,566) (3,484)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS . ... ... . (68) (342)
TOTAL SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY ... e e 12,312 51,680
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY ..., $ 55272  $165,481

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY

AT&T Common Stock

Balance at beginning of year .......... ... . ...

Shares issued (acquired), net:
Under employee plans . ........ ...t e
For acquiSitions . .. .......uuii i
Settlement of put OPtON. .. ..ottt e
For exchange of AT&T Wireless tracking stock ..........................
For funding AT&T Canada obligation ................ ...
Redemption of TCI Pacific preferred stock .......... ... ... ... ... .. ...
Other .o

Balance at end of year ....... ... ..

AT&T Wireless Group Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year .......... ... ...
Shares issued:
For stock offering . ...... ... .
Under employee plans ... ...... ...
For exchange of AT&T Wireless tracking stock ..........................
Conversion of preferred stock ........... ... .. i
AT&T Wireless Group split-off . . ... .. o

Balance at end of year ....... .. ... ..

Liberty Media Group Class A Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year ............. . ...
Shares issued (acquired), net:
For acquiSitions . .. .....o.iiii e e
Other .
Liberty Media Group split-off . ....... . ... .

Balance at end of year ......... ...

Liberty Media Group Class B Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year ............ ..
Shares issued (acquired), NEt . ...ttt
Liberty Media Group split-off . ........ ...
L T

Balance at end of year ....... .. ..

Additional Paid-In Capital
Balance at beginning of year ............. .
Shares issued (acquired), net:
Under employee plans .. .........ooouutnte et
For acquisitions .. ........ .. e
Settlement of put option. ... ... ...
For funding AT&T Canada obligation ........... ... ... ... cooiiin...
Redemption of TCI Pacific preferred stock ............. ... .. ... ... .....
Other® L
Proceeds in excess of par value from issuance of AT&T Wireless common stock
Gain on issuance of common stock by affiliates .................. .. ... ...
Conversion of preferred stock ......... ... ... . .
AT&T Wireless Group split-off . .. ...
Liberty Media Group split-off ........ .. ... .

(continued on next page)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Dollars in millions
$ 708 752 $ 639
6 3 1
— 9 121
— 31 _
— (74) _
46 — —
10 — —
13 (13) )
783 708 752
— 362 —
— — 360
— 2 2
— 438 —
— 406 —
— (1,208) —
— — 362
— 2,364 2,314
— — 62
— 14 (12)
— (2,378) —
— — 2,364
— 206 217
— 6 (11)
— (212) —
— — 206
54,798 93,504 62,083
328 291 100
— 862 23,583
— 3,361 —
2,485 — —
2,087 — —
31 (1,054) (2,804)
— — 9,915
— 20 530
— 9,631 —
— (20,955) —
— (30,768) —
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY (Continued)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Dollars in millions
AT&T Broadband spin-off ....... ... ... . . . (31,032) — —
Exchange of AT&T Wireless tracking stock ............. ..., — (284) —
Beneficial conversion value of preferred stock ............. ... ... ... .. ..., — 295 —
Dividends declared — AT&T Common Stock Group........................ (569) (265) —
O heT oo 35 160 97
Balance at end of year ......... ... 28,163 54,798 93,504
Guaranteed ESOP Obligation
Balance at beginning of year ............. . ... — — (17)
AMOTtIZAtiON .. ...ttt — — 17
Balance at end of year ...... ... ... ... — — —
(Accumulated Deficit) /Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year ............. i (3,484) 7,408 6,712
Net (10SS) INCOME . . . oottt ettt (13,082) 7,715 4,669
Dividends declared — AT&T Common Stock Group........................ — (275) (2,485)
Dividends accrued — preferred stock ......... ... ... .. i — (652) —
Premium on exchange of AT&T Wireless tracking stock .................... — (80) —
Treasury shares issued at less than cost .......... ... .. ... .. i, — (7) (1,488)
AT&T Wireless Group split-off . . ... ... — (17,593) —
Balance at end of year ...... ... ... .. (16,566) (3,484) 7,408
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)
Balance at beginning of year ............. . ... (342) (1,398) 6,979
Other comprehensive income (10SS) . ... ...t 266 1,742 (8,377)
AT&T Wireless Group split-off. . ... .. ... . — 72 —
Liberty Media Group split-off . ....... .. ... . — (758) —
AT&T Broadband spin-off .. ... ... ... 8 — —
Balance at end of year ....... .. ... .. (68) (342) (1,398)
Total Shareowners” Equity . ... .. ... e $ 12,312 $ 51,680  $103,198
Summary of Total Comprehensive (Loss) Income:
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of accounting changes ............... $(12,226) $ 6,811 $§ 4,669
Cumulative effect of accounting changes . ........... ... . ... ... ... ...... (856) 904 —
Net (108S) INCOME . ..ottt e e et e et e et e (13,082) 7,715 4,669
Other comprehensive income (loss) [net of income taxes of $(169), $(1,119),
and $5,348 ] i 266 1,742 (8,377)
Comprehensive (Loss) InCome .. ... ... $(12,816) $ 9,457 $ (3,708)

AT&T accounts for treasury stock as retired stock.

We have 100 million authorized shares of preferred stock at $1 par value.

* Other activity in 2001 and 2000 represents AT&T common stock received in exchange for entities owning certain cable

systems.

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

40



AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002

2001

2000

Dollars in millions

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (10SS) INCOME . .ottt ettt e e $(13,082) $ 7,715 $ 4,669
Deduct:
Loss from discontinued OPerations . . ... .. ...ttt ettt e e et e e (14,513) (4,052) (4,863)
Gain on disposition of discontinued OPErations . .. ... .. ...ttt e 1,324 13,503 —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes — net of income taxes ...............oiiiiiiiiniina.n (856) 904 —
Income (loss) from continUing OPErations. . .. . . ... ...ttt ettt et e e e 963 (2,640) 9,532
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing operations to net cash provided by operating activities
of continuing operations:
Net gains on sales of businesses and INVESTMENTS . . .. ..o out ittt e (30) (1,231) (734)
Cost investment impairment Charges . .. ... ... ..ottt e 146 531 7
Net restructuring and other Charges . ... ... ... e 1,418 973 5717
Depreciation and amortization . .. ... ... ...ttt e 4,888 4,559 4,538
Provision for uncollectible receivables . .. .. ... ... . 1,058 884 925
Deferred iNCOME LAXES . . . ..ottt ettt e e e e e e 2,631 (1,338) 1,005
Net revaluation of certain financial INStrUMENTS . ... ...ttt e i 8 (150) —
MINOTity INtEreSt IMCOMIE . . . . ot ettt et ettt e ettt e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e (114) (131) (41)
Equity losses (earnings) from Liberty Media Group . ... ... ... iiiiiiiit i — 2,711 (1,488)
Net losses related to other equity InVEStMENtS . ... ... ..ottt e 512 7,783 51
Decrease (increase) in reCeivables . ... ...ttt 707 888 (2,382)
Decrease in accounts payable . ... ... ...t (175) (508) (585)
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities .. ........... i i (1,400) (2,126) (148)
Other adjustments, NEL. . .. ..ottt ettt e e et e e et e e e e e e (129) (200) (616)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS ......... 10,483 10,005 10,641
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures and other additions . ... ... ... . o (3,878) (5,767) (7,025)
Proceeds from sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment . .......... ... i 468 73 555
Increase in Other receivables . .. ... ... — — (981)
Investment distributions and Sales ... ... ... .. .. 10 1,585 414
Investment contributions and Purchases . ... ... ........oiouut ittt 2) (1o1) (1,787)
Net dispositions (acquisitions) of businesses, net of cash disposed/acquired ..................... ... ..... (18) 15 (23,742)
Decrease in AT&T Canada obligation . . ... ...t e e e (3,449) — —
Proceeds from AT&T Broadband . . ... ... ... 5,849 — —
Increase in restricted Cash .. ... ... e (442) — —
Other investing activVities, NET . . . ...ttt ettt et e e ettt e e e e e e 33 (100) (112)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS ............... (1,429) (4,295) (32,678)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term debt issuances, net of iSSUANCE COSS . . . ...\ttt 79 11,392 739
Retirement of long-term debt . . ... ... . (1,091) (725) (688)
(Decrease) increase in short-term bOrrowings, Net. ... .. ...ttt e (7,157) (17,168) 16,973
Repayment of borrowings from AT&T Wireless .. ... ... e — (5,803) —
Issuance of convertible preferred securities and warrants . ............... oo — 9,811 —
Issuance of AT&T commoOn ShAres . . ... ... ...ttt e e e e 2,684 224 99
Issuance of AT&T Wireless Group common Shares . ... .........ooouunieetinnn et — 54 10,314
Net issuance (acquisition) of treasury Shares ... ... ... ... ...ttt e — 24 (581)
Dividends paid on common StOCK . . . . ...ttt (555) (549) (3,047)
Other financing activVities, MET . . .. ..ottt ittt e e e e e e e e (1) (38) (64)
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING
OPERATIONS . (6,041) (2,778) 23,745
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations. ...............ouiiiiunniiiiineinnneennn. (5,679) 7,683 (2,746)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents............. ..o (2,666) 10,615 (1,038)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... ... ... . it 10,680 65 1,103
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ......... ... ... .. $ 8014 $ 10,680 §$ 65

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. AT&T Restructuring and Discontinued Operations

In connection with the restructuring of AT&T Corp. (AT&T or the “Company”) announced on
October 25, 2000, AT&T Broadband, AT&T Wireless, and Liberty Media Group have all been separated
from AT&T.

AT&T Broadband, which was spun-off from AT&T on November 18, 2002, was accounted for as a
discontinued operation pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Ac-
counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” In accordance with SFAS No. 144, prior
period financial statements have been restated to reflect AT&T Broadband as a discontinued operation in all
periods. AT&T Wireless, which was split-off from AT&T on July 9, 2001, was accounted for as a discontinued
operation pursuant to Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 30, “Reporting Results of Opera-
tions — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” Since AT&T Wireless was separated in 2001, it was
reflected as a discontinued operation in the prior year’s financial statements. As discontinued operations, the
revenue, costs and expenses and cash flows of AT&T Broadband and AT&T Wireless have been excluded
from the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, and have been reported through their respective dates of separation as “Net (loss) from
discontinued operations” and as “Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations.” In addition, the
assets and liabilities of AT&T Broadband have been excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001, and have been reported as “Current assets of discontinued operations,”
“Non-current assets of discontinued operations,” “Current liabilities of discontinued operations,” “Non-
current liabilities of discontinued operations,” “Minority Interest of Discontinued Operations” and “Com-
pany-Obligated Convertible Quarterly Income Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trust Holding Solely
Subordinated Debt Securities of AT&T of Discontinued Operations.”

AT&T Broadband

On November 18, 2002, AT&T spun-off AT&T Broadband, which was comprised primarily of the AT&T
Broadband segment, to AT&T shareowners. Simultaneously, AT&T Broadband combined with Comcast
Corporation (Comcast) to form new Comcast. The combination was accomplished through a distribution of
stock to AT&T shareowners, who received 0.3235 (1.6175 adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock split) of a
share of Comcast Class A common stock for each share of AT&T they owned at market close on
November 15, 2002, the record date. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) ruled that the transaction qualified
as tax-free for AT&T and its shareowners for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with the exception of cash
received for fractional shares. Approximately 1.2 billion Comcast shares were issued to AT&T shareowners at
a value of approximately $31.1 billion, based on the Comecast stock price on November 18, 2002. AT&T
shareowners received a 56% economic stake and a 66% voting interest in new Comcast.

In connection with the non-pro rata spin-off of AT&T Broadband, AT&T wrote up the net assets of
AT&T Broadband to fair value. This resulted in a noncash gain of $1.3 billion, which represented the
difference between the fair value of the AT&T Broadband business at the date of the spin-off and AT&T’s
book value in AT&T Broadband, net of certain charges triggered by the spin-off and their related income tax
effect. These charges included compensation expense due to the accelerated vesting of stock options as well as
the enhancement of certain incentive plans. The gain was recorded as a “Gain on disposition of discontinued
operations.”

Revenue for AT&T’s Broadband business (which included At Home Corporation, or “Excite(@Home”
through September 2001) was $8.9 billion, $10.1 billion and $8.4 billion for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Net (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes was $(20.5) billion, $(8.1) billion, and
$(7.1) billion for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively for the AT&T Broadband business. The loss for 2002
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

included pretax impairment charges of $16.5 billion ($11.8 billion after taxes) relating to goodwill and
franchise costs which was recorded in the second quarter of 2002.

Interest expense of $359 million, $333 million and $463 million was allocated to discontinued operations
in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, based on the balance of intercompany debt between AT&T Broadband
and AT&T. At the time of the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, this intercompany debt was settled via a
$5.8 billion cash distribution from AT&T Broadband and the exchange of $3.5 billion of AT&T notes for notes
of AT&T Broadband which are unconditionally guaranteed by Comcast and certain of its subsidiaries (see
note 8).

At December 31, 2001, current assets of $1.6 billion, non-current assets of $101.5 billion (including net
goodwill of $19.4 billion), current liabilities of $5.8 billion, non-current liabilities of $43.1 billion, minority
interest of $3.3 billion, and company-obligated convertible quarterly income preferred securities of $4.7 billion
were attributable to the discontinued operations of the AT&T Broadband business. Current assets were
primarily comprised of accounts receivable and investments, while non-current assets were primarily
comprised of goodwill, franchise costs and investments. Current liabilities were primarily comprised of short-
term debt, accounts payable and payroll and benefit-related liabilities, while non-current liabilities were
primarily comprised of long-term debt and deferred income taxes.

The noncash impacts of the spin-off of AT&T Broadband include a reduction to assets of approximately
$84.3 billion, a reduction to liabilities of approximately $48.8 billion, the reduction of minority interest of $1.2
billion, the reduction of company-obligated convertible quarterly income preferred securities of subsidiary
trust of $4.7 billion, and a reduction to shareowners’ equity of approximately $29.6 billion, including the
$1.3 billion noncash gain on spin-off.

AT&T Wireless

On April 27, 2000, AT&T created a new class of stock and completed a public stock offering of
360 million shares, which represented 15.6% of AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock at a price of $29.50 per
share. This stock was intended to track the financial performance and economic value of AT&T’s wireless
services business. The net proceeds to AT&T, after deducting the underwriter’s discount and related fees and
expenses, were $10.3 billion. AT&T allocated $7.0 billion of the net proceeds to AT&T Wireless Group, which
was used for acquisitions, network expansion, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes. AT&T
utilized the remaining net proceeds of $3.3 billion for general corporate purposes.

On May 25, 2001, AT&T completed an exchange offer of AT&T common stock for AT&T Wireless
stock. Under the terms of the exchange offer, AT&T issued 1.176 shares (5.88 shares adjusted for the 1-for-5
reverse stock split) of AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock in exchange for each share of AT&T common
stock validly tendered. A total of 372.2 million shares (74.4 million shares adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse
stock split) of AT&T common stock were tendered in exchange for 437.7 million shares of AT&T Wireless
Group tracking stock. In conjunction with the exchange offer, AT&T recorded an $80 million premium as a
reduction to net income available to common shareowners. The premium represented the excess of the fair
value of the AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock issued over the fair value of the AT&T common stock
exchanged.

On July 9, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of AT&T Wireless as a separate, independently traded
company. All AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock was converted into AT&T Wireless common stock on a
one-for-one basis, and 1,136 million shares of AT&T Wireless common stock held by AT&T were distributed
to AT&T common shareowners on a basis of 0.3218 shares (1.609 shares adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock
split) of AT&T Wireless for each AT&T share outstanding. AT&T common shareowners received whole
shares of AT&T Wireless common stock and cash payments for fractional shares. The IRS ruled that the
transaction qualified as tax-free for AT&T and its shareowners for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with the
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AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

exception of cash received for fractional shares. For accounting purposes, the deemed effective split-off date
was June 30, 2001. The impact of operating results from July 1, 2001 through July 9, 2001, were deemed
immaterial to our consolidated results. The split-off of AT&T Wireless resulted in a tax-free noncash gain of
$13.5 billion, which represented the difference between the fair value of the AT&T Wireless tracking stock at
the date of the split-off and AT&T’s book value in AT&T Wireless. This gain was recorded in 2001 as a “Gain
on disposition of discontinued operations.” At the time of split-off, AT&T retained approximately $3.0 billion,
or 7.3%, of AT&T Wireless common stock, about half of which was used in a debt-for-equity exchange in July
2001. The remaining portion of these holdings was monetized in October and December of 2001 through the
issuance of debt that was exchangeable into AT&T Wireless shares (or their cash equivalent) at maturity (see
notes 7 and 8).

Revenue for AT&T Wireless was $6.6 billion for 2001 and $10.4 billion for 2000. Income from
discontinued operations before income taxes for AT&T Wireless was $308 million for 2001 and $844 million
for 2000. Interest expense of $153 million and $330 million was allocated to AT&T Wireless discontinued
operations in 2001 and 2000, respectively, based on the debt of AT&T that was attributable to AT&T
Wireless.

The noncash impacts of the split-off of AT&T Wireless reflect the split-off of approximately $39.7 billion
of net assets which included a $13.5 billion noncash gain.

Lucent Technologies Inc.

Net (loss) from discontinued operations for 2002 reflects an estimated loss on a litigation settlement
associated with the business of Lucent Technologies Inc. (Lucent), which was spun-off from AT&T in 1996.
Sparks, et al. v. AT&T and Lucent Technologies Inc. et al., was a class action lawsuit filed in 1996 in Illinois
state court. The complaint sought damages on behalf of present and former customers based on a claim that
the AT&T Consumer Products business (which became part of Lucent in 1996) and Lucent had defrauded
and misled customers who leased telephones, resulting in payments in excess of the cost to purchase the
telephones. AT&T and Lucent have denied any wrongdoing, but settled this matter to avoid the uncertainty
and expense of protracted litigation. On August 9, 2002, a settlement proposal was submitted to and accepted
by the court. In accordance with the separation and distribution agreement between AT&T and Lucent,
AT&T’s estimated proportionate share of the settlement and legal costs totaled $45 million pretax ($33 mil-
lion after-tax), reflecting a fourth quarter adjustment to the initial estimate. Depending upon the number of
claims submitted and accepted, the actual cost of the settlement to AT&T may be less than stated amounts,
but it is not possible to estimate the amount at this time. While similar consumer class actions are pending in
various state courts, the Illinois state court has held that the class it certified covers claims in the other state
court class actions.

Summary
Following is a summary of net (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

AT&T Broadband, net of income tax benefits of $6,002, $3,873

and $1,671 .. o $(14,480) $(4,202) $(5,399)
AT&T Wireless, net of income taxes of $(158) and $(307) ... — 150 536
Lucent Technologies Inc., net of income tax benefit of $12 .. .. (33) — —

Net (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes .. $(14,513) $(4,052) $(4,863)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Liberty Media Corporation

As a result of our merger with Tele-Communications, Inc. (TCI) in 1999, we acquired Liberty Media
Group (LMG). Although LMG was wholly owned, we accounted for it as an equity method investment since
we did not have a controlling financial interest. On August 10, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of Liberty
Media Corporation (LMC) as an independent, publicly-traded company. AT&T redeemed each outstanding
share of Class A and Class B LMG tracking stock for one share of Liberty Media Corporation’s Series A and
Series B common stock, respectively. The IRS ruled that the split-off of Liberty Media Corporation qualified
as a tax-free transaction for AT&T, Liberty Media and their shareowners. The operating results of LMG
through July 31, 2001, the deemed effective split-off date for accounting purposes, were reflected as “Equity
(losses) earnings from Liberty Media Group.” The impact of the operating results from August 1 through
August 10, 2001, was deemed immaterial to our consolidated results. At the time of disposition, AT&T did not
exit the line of business that Liberty Media Group operated in; therefore, at the time of its separation, Liberty
Media Group was not accounted for as a discontinued operation.

Upon split-off, AT&T paid LMG $803 million pursuant to a tax-sharing agreement related to TCI net
operating losses generated prior to AT&T’s merger with TCI. In addition, in 2002, AT&T received
approximately $114 million from LMG related to taxes pursuant to a tax-sharing agreement between LMG
and AT&T Broadband, which existed prior to the TCI merger. At December 31, 2001, this receivable was
included in “Accounts receivable.”

Summarized results of operations for LMG were as follows:

For the For the
Seven Months Ended Year Ended
July 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Revenue . ... $ 1,190 $1,526

Operating (loss) income ............coiiiniinnenon.. (426) 436
(Loss) income from continuing operations before

cumulative effect of accounting change ............... (2,711) 1,488

Cumulative effect of accounting change ................ 545 —

Net (loss) iINCOME . ....ovvit i (2,166) 1,488

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in majority-owned subsidiaries
where control does not exist and investments in which we exercise significant influence but do not control
(generally a 20% to 50% ownership interest) are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
Investments in which there is no significant influence (generally less than a 20% ownership interest) are
accounted for under the cost method of accounting.

Foreign Currency Translation

For operations outside the United States that prepare financial statements in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar, we translate income statement amounts at average exchange rates for the year, and we translate
assets and liabilities at year-end exchange rates. We present these translation adjustments as a component of
“Accumulated other comprehensive loss” within shareowners’ equity. Gains and losses from foreign currency
transactions are included in results of operations.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and revenue
and expenses during the period reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used
when accounting for certain items such as allowances for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization,
employee benefit plans, taxes, restructuring reserves and contingencies.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize long distance, local voice and data services revenue based upon minutes of traffic processed
or contracted fee schedules. In addition, we record an estimated revenue reduction for adjustments to
customer accounts. This estimate is based on a detailed analysis that compares accounts receivable aging at
different points in time to determine the appropriate level of adjustments. We recognize other products and
services revenue when the products are delivered and accepted by customers and when services are provided in
accordance with contract terms. For contracts where we provide customers with an indefeasible right to use
network capacity, we recognize revenue ratably over the stated life of the agreement.

Adbvertising and Promotional Costs

We expense costs of advertising and promotions as incurred. Advertising and promotional expenses were
$814 million, $874 million and $801 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is based on reported income before income taxes. Deferred income taxes
are provided for the effect of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts recognized for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using currently enacted tax laws and the effects of any changes in income tax laws are
included in the provision for income taxes in the period of enactment. Valuation allowances are recognized to
reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. In assessing the
likelihood of realization, we consider estimates of future taxable income, the character of income needed to
realize future benefits and all available evidence. Investment tax credits are amortized as a reduction to the
provision for income taxes over the useful lives of the assets that produced the credits.

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of generally three months or less to be
cash equivalents.

Property, Plant and Equipment

We state property, plant and equipment at cost. Construction costs, labor and applicable overhead related
to installations and interest during construction are capitalized. Costs of additions and substantial improve-
ments to property, plant and equipment are capitalized. The costs of maintenance and repairs of property,
plant and equipment are charged to operating expense. Depreciation is determined based upon the assets’
estimated useful lives using either the group or unit method. The useful lives of communications and network
equipment range from three to 15 years. The useful lives of other equipment ranges from three to seven years.
The useful lives of buildings and improvements range from 10 to 40 years. The group method is used for most
depreciable assets, including the majority of communications and network equipment. The unit method is
primarily used for large computer systems, buildings and support assets. Under the group method, a specific
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asset group has an average life. A depreciation rate is developed based on the average useful life for the
specific asset group. This method requires the periodic revision of depreciation rates. Under the unit method,
assets are depreciated based on the useful life of the individual asset. When we sell or retire assets depreciated
using the group method, the difference between the proceeds, if any, and the cost of the asset is charged or
credited to accumulated depreciation, without recognition of a gain or loss. When we sell assets that were
depreciated using the unit method, we include the related gains or losses in “Other (expense) income, net.”

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment annually, or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the total of the expected future
undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, a loss is recognized for the difference
between the fair value and the carrying value of the asset.

We use accelerated depreciation methods for certain high-technology computer-processing equipment
and digital equipment used in the telecommunications network, except for switching equipment placed in
service before 1989, where a straight-line method is used. All other plant and equipment is depreciated on a
straight-line basis.

Software Capitalization

Certain direct development costs associated with internal-use software are capitalized, including external
direct costs of material and services, and payroll costs for employees devoting time to the software projects.
These costs are included within “Other assets” and are amortized over a period not to exceed five years
beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, as
well as maintenance and training costs, are expensed as incurred. AT&T also capitalizes initial operating-
system software costs and amortizes them over the life of the associated hardware.

AT&T also capitalizes costs associated with the development of application software incurred from the
time technological feasibility is established until the software is ready to provide service to customers. These
capitalized costs are included in property, plant and equipment and are amortized over a useful life not to
exceed five years.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in business
combinations accounted for under the purchase method. Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer
amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at least annually (see note 3). Intangible assets that have
finite useful lives are amortized over their useful lives, which range from five to 20 years.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

We use derivative financial instruments to mitigate market risk from changes in interest rates, foreign
currency exchange rates and equity prices. Derivative financial instruments may be exchange-traded or
contracted in the over-the-counter market and include swaps, options, warrants and forward contracts. We do
not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. Certain derivatives, at inception, are
designated as hedges and evaluated for effectiveness at least quarterly throughout the hedge period. These
derivatives are designated as either (1) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an
unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedge), or (2) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the
variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (cash flow hedge). All
other derivatives are not formally designated for accounting purposes (undesignated). These derivatives,
except for warrants, although undesignated for accounting purposes, are entered into to hedge economic risks.

47



AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We record changes in the fair value of fair-value hedges, along with the changes in the fair value of the
hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk (including losses or gains on firm commit-
ments), in “Other (expense) income, net.”

We record changes in the fair value of cash-flow hedges, along with the recognized asset or liability, in
“Other comprehensive income (loss),” net of income taxes, as a component of shareowners’ equity, until
earnings are affected by the variability of cash flows of the hedged transaction.

Changes in the fair value of undesignated derivatives are recorded in “Other (expense) income, net,”
along with the change in fair value of the underlying asset or liability.

We currently do not have any net investment hedges in a foreign operation.

We assess embedded derivatives to determine whether (1) the economic characteristics of the embedded
instruments are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics of the remaining component of
the financial instrument (the host instrument) and (2) whether a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded instrument would meet the definition of a derivative instrument. When it is determined that
both conditions exist, we designate the derivatives as described above, and recognize the derivative at fair
value.

We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its
risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes
linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on
the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions.

We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when (1) it is determined that the derivative is no longer
effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of cash flows of a hedged item; (2) the derivative expires or is
sold, terminated, or exercised; (3) it is determined that the forecasted hedged transaction will no longer occur;
(4) a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, or (5) management
determines that the designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.

When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative is adjusted for changes in fair value through
“Other (expense) income, net.” For fair value hedges, the underlying asset or liability will no longer be
adjusted for changes in fair value and any asset or liability recorded in connection with a firm commitment will
be removed from the balance sheet and recorded in current period earnings. For cash flow hedges, gains and
losses that were accumulated in “Other comprehensive income (loss)” as a component of shareowners’ equity
in connection with a forecasted transaction, will be recognized immediately in “Other (expense) income, net.”

Stock-Based Compensation

As of December 31, 2002, AT&T had a Long-Term Incentive Program and an Employee Stock Purchase
Plan, which are described more fully in note 12. We apply APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for our plans. Accordingly, no compensation expense
has been recognized for our stock-based compensation plans other than for our performance-based and
restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights (SARs), and certain occasions when we have modified the
terms of the stock option vesting schedule in conjunction with the 2001 split-off of AT&T Wireless and the
2002 spin-off of AT&T Broadband.

AT&T has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” If AT&T had elected to recognize compensation costs based on the fair value at the date of
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grant of the awards, consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, net income and earnings per share
amounts would have been as follows:

AT&T Common Stock AT&T Wireless
Group Group
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Net (loss) income ......................... $(13,082) $9,114 $3,105 $ 35 $ 76

Add: Stock-based employee compensation
included in reported net (loss) income, net of
1720 QP 43 75 (156) — —

Deduct: Total stock-based employee
compensation expense determined under the
fair value based method for all awards, net of

BAX . e (345)  (692)  (324) (17) (25)
Pro forma net (loss) income ................. $(13,384) $8,497 $2625 $ 18 § 5I
Basic (loss) earnings per share ............... $ (17.53) $12.51 $ 445 $0.08 $0.21
Proforma basic (loss) earnings per share....... $ (17.93) $11.66 $ 3.77 $0.04 $0.14
Diluted (loss) earnings per share ............. $ (17.08) $12.51 $ 425 $0.08 $0.21
Proforma diluted (loss) earnings per share ... .. $ (17.47) $11.66 $ 3.60 $0.04 $0.14

The stock-based employee compensation (expense) income, net of tax, for AT&T Common Stock Group
included in income (loss) from continuing operations was $(55) million, $(71) million and $(7) million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and included in discontinued operations was $12 million, $(4) million and
$163 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The amounts attributed to discontinued operations included
income (expense), net of tax, of $51 million, $(2) million and $166 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, related to grants of SARs of affiliated companies held by certain employees subsequent to the
TCI merger and prior to the AT&T Broadband spin-off. In addition, we entered into an equity hedge in 1999
to offset potential future compensation costs associated with these SARS. (Expense), net of tax, related to
this hedge was $(56) million, $(10) million, and $(200) million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Total stock-based employee compensation (expense), net of tax, determined under the fair value based
method for all awards related to continuing operations was $(288) million, $(562) million and $(315) million
for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and related to discontinued operations was $(57) million, $(147) mil-
lion and $(34) million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Pro forma earnings (loss) for AT&T Common Stock Group from continuing operations was $730 mil-
lion, $(1,152) million and $7,736 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and from discontinued
operations was $(14,582) million, $(4,213) million and $(5,111) million for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Pro forma earnings (loss) for AT&T Common Stock Group per basic share from continuing operations
was $0.98, $(1.58) and $11.10 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and from discontinued operations was
$(19.53), $(5.78) and $(7.33) for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Pro forma earnings (loss) for AT&T Common Stock Group per diluted share from continuing operations
was $0.96, $(1.58) and $10.59 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and from discontinued operations was
$(19.04), $(5.78) and $(6.99) for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The pro forma effect on net loss from discontinued operations for AT&T Common Stock Group for 2002
includes expense of $28 million due to the accelerated vesting of AT&T stock options held by AT&T
Broadband employees at the date of spin-off. The pro forma effect on net loss from discontinued operations for
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AT&T Common Stock Group for 2001 includes expense of $10 million due to the conversion of AT&T
common stock options in connection with the split-off of AT&T Wireless, and also includes expense of
$12 million due to the accelerated vesting of AT&T Wireless stock options held by AT&T employees at the
date of the split-off.

The pro forma effect on net loss from continuing operations available to common shareowners for 2001
includes expense of $40 million due to the conversion of AT&T common stock options in connection with the
split-off of AT&T Wireless, and also includes expense of $163 million due to the accelerated vesting of AT&T
Wireless stock options held by AT&T employees at the date of split-off.

Issuance of Common Stock by Affiliates

Changes in our proportionate share of the underlying equity of a subsidiary or equity method investee,
which result from the issuance of additional equity securities by such entity, are recognized as increases or
decreases to additional paid-in capital in the Consolidated Statements of Shareowners’ Equity.

Concentrations

As of December 31, 2002, other than the guarantee issued in connection with the split-off of AT&T
Wireless (see note 9), we do not have any significant concentration of business transacted with a particular
customer, supplier, lender or former affiliate that could, if suddenly adversely impacted, severely impact our
operations. We also do not have a concentration of available sources of labor, services or other rights that
could, if suddenly eliminated, severely impact our operations. We invest our cash with many high-quality
credit institutions.

Reclassifications and Restatements

We reclassified and restated certain amounts for previous years to conform to the 2002 presentation.

3. Impacts of Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”

Effective January 1, 2002, AT&T adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Upon adoption, goodwill was tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of our reporting units to their
carrying values. As of January 1, 2002, the fair value of the reporting units’ goodwill exceeded their carrying
value, and therefore no impairment loss was recognized. Franchise costs were tested for impairment as of
January 1, 2002, by comparing the fair value to the carrying value (at the market level). An impairment loss
of $856 million, net of taxes of $530 million, was recorded relating to the discontinued operation of AT&T
Broadband in the first quarter of 2002. At December 31, 2002, this amount is included in the “Cumulative
effect of accounting changes” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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The table below presents the impact of SFAS No. 142 on net (loss) income and (loss) earnings per
share, had the standard been in effect on January 1, 2000:

For the Years Ended December 31,

Net (loss) income:

Reported income (loss) from continuing
OPETAtiONS . o\ vttt et

Dividend requirements of preferred stock. .. ...

Premium on exchange of AT&T Wireless
tracking stock.......... ... .. L

Reported income (loss) from continuing
operations available to common shareowners

Add back amortization, net of tax:
Goodwill ........ ...
Equity method excess basis ...............
Franchise costs .........................

Adjusted income (loss) from continuing
operations available to common shareowners

Reported (loss) income from discontinued
OPETatioNS . .\ vttt ittt

Add back discontinued operations amortization,
netoftax .......... ... ... . ... ...

Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting changes . .. ...

Adjusted net (loss) income available to
common shareowners ....................

Basic (loss) earnings per share:

Reported basic earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations ....................

Add back amortization, net of tax:
Goodwill ........... ... ..
Equity method excess basis ...............
Franchise costs .........................

Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations ....................

Reported (loss) earnings from discontinued
OPETAtIONS . . o\ ittt ettt

Add back discontinued operations amortization,
netoftax ....... ... ... i

Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting changes . .. ...
Adjusted basic (loss) earnings per share ... ...
Diluted (loss) earnings per share:

Reported diluted earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations ....................

AT&T Liberty

AT&T Common Stock Group Wireless Group Media Group

2002 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

$ 963 $§ 71 $8,044 $§ — § — $(2,711) $1,483
— (652) — — — — —
_ (80) _ _ _ _ _
963 (661) 8,044 — — (2,711) 1,488
— 175 149 — — 350 568
— 37 37 — — 346 654
— — — — — 4 8
963 (449) 8,230 — — (2,011) 2,718
(14,513) (4,087) (4,939) 35 76 — —
— 1,588 1,705 36 27 — —
1,324 13,503 — — — — —
(856) 359 — — — 545 —
$(13,082) $10914 $4,996 $ 71 $103  $(1,466) $2,718
$ 129 $ (091) $11.54 $ — $§ — $ (1.05) $ 0.58
— 0.24 0.21 — — 0.14 0.22
— 0.05 0.05 — — 0.13 0.25
— — — — — — 0.01
1.29 (0.62) 11.80 — — (0.78) 1.06
(19.44) (5.60) (7.09) 0.08 0.21 — —
— 2.18 2.45 0.08 0.08 — —
1.77 18.53 — — — — —
(1.15) 0.49 — — — 0.21 —
$ (17.53) $ 1498 §$ 7.16 $0.16 $0.29 $ (0.57) $ 1.06
$ 126 $ (091) $1101 $ — $ — $ (1.05) $0.58
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AT&T Liberty
AT&T Common Stock Group Wireless Group Media Group
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Add back amortization, net of tax:

Goodwill . ... — 0.24 0.20 — — 0.14 0.22

Equity method excess basis ............... — 0.05 0.05 — — 0.13 0.25

Franchise costs ........... ... o ... — — — — — — 0.01
Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations .................... 1.26 (0.62) 11.26 — — (0.78) 1.06
Reported (loss) earnings from discontinued

OPETAtIONS . . o\ttt ettt (18.95) (5.60) (6.76)  0.08 0.21 — —
Add back discontinued operations amortization,

netof tax ........ ... ... il — 2.18 2.34 0.08 0.08 — —
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations 1.73 18.53 — — — — —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes . .. ... (1.12) 0.49 — — — 0.21 —
Adjusted diluted (loss) earnings per share. . ... $ (17.08) $ 1498 $ 6.84 $0.16 $0.29 $ (0.57) $ 1.06

Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 01-9, “Accounting For Consideration Given by a Vendor to a
Customer”

During 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on Issue 01-9, “Accounting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer,” that cash incentives given to customers should be
characterized as a reduction of revenue when recognized in the income statement, unless an identifiable
benefit is received in exchange. Prior to this consensus, cash incentives to acquire customers were recorded as
advertising and promotion expense within selling, general and administrative expenses. These cash incentives
are now recorded as a reduction of revenue and prior periods have been reclassified to conform to this
presentation. The amounts reclassified as a reduction of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000, were $236 million and $250 million, respectively. Net income was not affected by this reclassification.

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”

On January 1, 2002, AT&T adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” which supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” SFAS No. 144 applies to all long-lived assets, including
discontinued operations, and consequently amends APB Opinion No. 30. The initial adoption had no impact
on AT&T’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Adoption of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”

Effective January 1, 2001, AT&T adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” and its corresponding amendments under SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and
for hedging activities. All derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, are required to be
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001, resulted in a
pretax cumulative-effect increase to income of $1,482 million ($904 million after-tax); $581 million
($359 million after-tax) was attributable to AT&T Group (other than LMG), and $901 million ($545 million
after-tax) was attributable to LMG.

AT&T Group’s cumulative-effect increase to net income of $359 million was comprised of $130 million
related to continuing operations primarily attributable to warrants held in both public and private companies,
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and $229 million related to discontinued operations primarily attributable to embedded and non-embedded net
purchase options related to indexed debt instruments.

Upon adoption, AT&T Group, as permitted by SFAS No. 133, reclassified certain securities from
“available-for-sale” to “trading.” This reclassification resulted in the recognition, in earnings, of losses
previously recorded within “Accumulated other comprehensive loss.” A portion of the loss ($1.6 billion
pretax; $1.0 billion after-tax) was recorded as part of the cumulative effect of adoption. This loss completely
offset a gain on the indexed debt obligation that had been considered a hedge of Comcast, Microsoft and
Vodafone available-for-sale securities. The reclassification of securities also resulted in a pretax charge of
$1.2 billion ($0.7 billion after-tax) recorded in “Net (loss) from discontinued operations,” in the Consoli-
dated Statements of Operations.

LMG’s cumulative-effect increase to income of $545 million was primarily attributable to separately
recording the embedded call option obligations associated with LMG’s senior exchangeable debentures. Also
included in the cumulative-effect was $87 million previously included in “Accumulated other comprehensive
loss” primarily related to changes in the fair value of LMG’s warrants and options to purchase certain
available-for-sale securities.

4. Supplementary Financial Information

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions)

Supplementary Income Statement Information

Included in Selling, General and Administrative Expenses:

Research and development expenses . .............coouiiunennn... $254 $ 274 § 313
Other (Expense) Income, Net:

Aircraft leveraged-lease write-downs ................. ... . ... .. $(244) $§ — $ —
Cost investment impairment charges .. ...............oouueun.... (146) (531) (7)
Net revaluation of certain financial instruments................... (8) 150 —
Investment-related income . ........ ... ... ... i, 116 285 435
Settlements associated with businesses disposed of ................ 107 154 —
Net gains on sales of businesses and investments ................. 30 1,231 734
Miscellaneous, Net . ... oottt 68 38 28
Total other (expense) income, Ne€t ...............ccoveuueennnn.. $ (77) $1,327  $1,190

At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)

Supplementary Balance Sheet Information

Property, Plant and Equipment:

Communications, network and other equipment ........................ $48,169  $47,552
Buildings and improvements . .. ...... ...t e 8,129 7,969
Land and improvements . ............o ittt 327 370
Total property, plant and equipment .. ............ouuuiiiineinnneon.. 56,625 55,891
Accumulated depreciation. . .......... i e 31,021 29,088
Property, plant and equipment, net ........... ... it $25,604  $26,803
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AT&T AT&T
Business Consumer
Services Services Total

(Dollars in millions)

Goodwill:
Balance at December 31, 2001 . ............. .. $5,244 $70 $5,314
Write-off of goodwill of AT&T Latin America . ................ (777) — (777)
Translation adjustment ........... ... .0t 91 — 91
Other ..o ) = )]
Balance at December 31,2002 ...................... ... ... $4,556 $70 $4,626
Gross
Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net
(Dollars in millions)
Intangible Assets:
Amortizable purchased intangible assets at December 31, 2002:
Customer lists and relationships ... ............ ... .. ... .... $557 $132 $425
Other ... ... .. 243 _112 _131
Total intangible assets ............... ... . ... L $800 $244 $556

The amortization expense associated with purchased intangible assets for the year ended December 31,
2002, was approximately $83 million. Amortization expense for purchased intangible assets is estimated to be
approximately $65 million for the year ending December 31, 2003, $50 million for the year ending
December 31, 2004, and $45 million for each of the years ending December 31, 2005, 2006, and 2007.

Leveraged Leases:

We lease to third parties airplanes, energy-producing facilities and transportation equipment under
leveraged leases having original terms of 10 to 30 years, expiring in various years from 2004 through 2020. The
investment in leveraged leases is primarily included in “Other assets.” Following is a summary of our
investment in leveraged leases:

At December 31,

2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)
Rental receivables (net of nonrecourse debt*) .......................... $ 476 $ 635
Estimated unguaranteed residual values.............. ... ... . ... . ..... 483 720
Unearned iNCOME . ... uu ittt et et et (211) (297)
Allowance for credit 10SS€S. . ... ... (23) (28)
Investment in leverage leases (included in “Other assets”) ............... 725 1,030
Deferred taxes . . ..o vt 932 1,063
Net investment ... ... $(207) $ (33)

* The rental receivables are net of nonrecourse debt of $1.4 billion and $2.0 billion at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Supplementary Shareowners’ Equity Information For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Net foreign currency translation adjustment [net of taxes of
$(82), $160 and $1811") ... .. $ 132 $(250) $ (309)
Net revaluation of certain financial instruments:
Unrealized (losses) gains [net of taxes of $340, $(343) and
$4,6861 ) (550) 475 (7,317)
Recognition of previously unrealized losses (gains) on
available-for-sale securities [net of taxes of $(539), $(950)

and $4801 L. 869 1,535 (750)

Net minimum pension liability adjustment (net of taxes of $112,
$ldand $1) .. o (185) (18) (1)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) ..................... $ 266 $1,742 $(8,377)

M Includes LMG’s foreign currency translation adjustments, net of taxes of $149 in 2001 through July 31, 2001, and $202 in 2000.

@ Includes LMG’s unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes of $(1,286) in 2001 through July 31, 2001, and
$6,117 in 2000.

©) See below for a summary of the “Recognition of previously unrealized losses (gains) on available-for-sale securities” and the
Statement of Operations line items impacted.

Summary of Recognition of Previously Unrealized Losses (Gains) on Available-For-Sale Securities and
the Statement of Operations Line Items Impacted

For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Pretax  After-tax Pretax  After-tax Pretax After-tax
(Dollars in millions)

AT&T GROUP:
Other (expense) income, net:
Other-than-temporary investment impairments $ 148 $91 § 475 $ 293 § — § —
Other derivative activity .................... 28 17 — — — —
Sales of various securities. .................. — — (238) (147) (433) (267)
Income from discontinued operations:
Other-than-temporary investment impairments 1,232 761 510 315 290 179

Reclassification of securities to “trading” in
conjunction with the adoption of SFAS
No. 133% — — 1,154 713

Sales of various securities................... — — 555 343 (43) (27)
LIBERTY MEDIA GROUP:

Earnings (losses) from Liberty Media Group:

Sales of various securities................... — — 173 105 (1,044)  (635)

Cumulative effect of accounting change® . ..... — — (144) (87) — —

Total recognition of previously unrealized losses
(gains) on available-for-sale securities ........ $1,408  $869  $2,485 $1,535 $(1,230) $(750)

* See note 3 for detailed discussion.
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For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Supplementary Cash Flow Information

Interest payments, net of capitalized interest of $61, $121 and
) $1,532 $1,537 $1,420

Income tax (receipts) payments . ...............coouiininn... (814) 1,441 3,379

5. Earnings per Common Share and Potential Common Share

During 2001 and 2000, in addition to AT&T Common Stock, the AT&T Wireless Group and Liberty
Media Group tracking stocks were outstanding. The tracking stocks represented an interest in the economic
performance of the net assets of each of the respective groups. The earnings attributable to AT&T Wireless
Group and Liberty Media Group were excluded from the earnings attributable to the AT&T Common stock
group. On July 9 and August 10, 2001, AT&T Wireless and Liberty Media Group, respectively, were
separated from AT&T and the tracking stocks were redeemed (see note 1).

Income (loss) attributable to the different classes of AT&T common stock is as follows:

AT&T Common Stock AT&T Wireless Liberty Media
Group Group Group
For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions)

Income (loss) from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of accounting

change ................ $ 963 $§ 71 $8,044 $— $— $— $— $(2,711) $1,488
Dividend requirements of preferred stock . .. — (652) - = - = = — —
Premium on exchange of AT&T Wireless

traCking stock ... — (80) - - — — — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations

attributable to common shareowners . .. .. 963 (661) 804 — — — —  (2,711) 1,488
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (14,513) (4,087) (4939) — 35 716 — — —
Gain on disposition of discontinued

OPETatioNS . ... .vtieeie e 1,324 13,503 _ = = = — — —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes ... (856) 359 —_ - - - — 545 —

Net (loss) income attributable to common
Shar€oOWNers . . ..o oo oo $(13,082) $ 9,114 §$ 3,105 $— $35 $76 $— $(2,166) $1,488

AT&T Common Stock Group

On November 18, 2002, a 1-for-5 reverse stock split of AT&T common stock as approved by shareowners
on July 10, 2002, was effected. Shares (except shares authorized) and per share amounts were restated to
reflect the stock split on a retroactive basis.

Basic earnings per common share (EPS) is computed by dividing income attributable to common
shareowners by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS
reflects the potential dilution (considering the combined income and share impact) that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. The
potential issuance of common stock is assumed to occur at the beginning of the year, and the incremental
shares are included using the treasury stock method, which assumes the proceeds (after-tax) from exercise are
used by the Company to purchase common stock at the average market price during the period. The
incremental shares (difference between the shares assumed to be issued and the shares assumed to be
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purchased), to the extent they would have been dilutive, are included in the denominator of the diluted EPS
calculation.

A reconciliation of the share components for AT&T Common Stock Group basic to diluted EPS
calculations is as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001-@ 2000
(Shares in millions)

Weighted-average common shares .......................... 746 729 697
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock Options. . ....o i — 4
Preferred stock of subsidiary ............. ... ... .. ..., 3 — 8
Convertible quarterly income preferred securities . ........... 16 — 14
Excite@Home Put Options.............................. — — 8
Weighted-average common shares and potential common shares 766 729 731

M For 2002, 2001 and 2000, no adjustments were made to income for the computation of diluted EPS.
@) As AT&T reported a loss from its continuing operations for 2001, the effects of including incremental shares are antidilutive;

therefore, both basic and diluted EPS reflect the same calculation.

Preferred Stock of Subsidiary

Pursuant to the AT&T Broadband and Comcast merger agreement, AT&T was required to redeem the
outstanding TCI Pacific Communications, Inc. Class A Senior Cumulative Exchangeable Preferred Stock
(TCI Pacific preferred stock) for AT&T common stock. All outstanding shares of TCI Pacific preferred stock
were either exchanged or redeemed for AT&T common stock during 2001 and 2002 (see note 10). At
December 31, 2001, the carrying value of TCI Pacific preferred stock was included in “Minority Interest of
Discontinued Operations.” Dividends were included in “Net (loss) from discontinued operations” for 2002,
2001 and 2000.

Convertible Quarterly Income Preferred Securities (Quarterly Preferred Securities)

On June 16, 1999, AT&T Finance Trust I, a wholly owned subsidiary of AT&T, completed the private
sale of 100 million shares of 5.0% cumulative quarterly income preferred securities (quarterly preferred
securities) to Microsoft Corporation. Such securities were convertible into AT&T common stock. However, in
connection with the AT&T Broadband spin-off (see note 1), Comcast assumed the quarterly preferred
securities and Microsoft agreed to convert these preferred securities into shares of Comcast common stock. At
December 31, 2001, these securities were included in “Company-Obligated Convertible Quarterly Income
Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trust Holding Solely Subordinated Debt Securities of AT&T of Discontin-
ued Operations.” Dividends were included in “Net (loss) from discontinued operations” for 2002, 2001 and
2000.

AT&T Wireless Group

Basic EPS from discontinued operations for AT&T Wireless Group for 2001 through June 30, 2001, the
deemed effective split-off date for accounting purposes, and from April 27, 2000, the stock offering date,
through December 31, 2000, was computed by dividing income attributable to AT&T Wireless Group by the
weighted-average number of shares outstanding of AT&T Wireless Group of 438 million and 361 million,
respectively.
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Liberty Media Group

Basic (loss) earnings per share for LMG was computed by dividing (loss) income attributable to LMG
by the weighted-average number of LMG shares outstanding of 2,582 million in 2001 through July 31, 2001,
the deemed effective split-off date for accounting purposes, and 2,572 million in 2000. Potentially dilutive
securities, including fixed and nonvested performance awards and stock options, have not been factored into
the dilutive calculations because past history indicated that these contracts were generally settled in cash.

6. Net Restructuring and Other Charges

In 2002, net restructuring and other charges were $1,437 million which included a $1,029 million charge
for the impairment of the net assets of our consolidated subsidiary, AT&T Latin America. In December 2002,
the AT&T Board of Directors approved a plan for AT&T to sell its approximate 95% voting stake in AT&T
Latin America in its current condition. On December 31, 2002, we signed a non-binding term sheet for the
sale of our shares within one year for a nominal amount. As a result of this plan, we classified AT&T Latin
America as an asset held for sale at fair market value, in accordance with SFAS No. 144. Consequently, there
are approximately $160 million of assets (principally cash and accounts receivable) included in Other Current
Assets and approximately $160 million of liabilities (principally secured short-term debt) included in Other
Current Liabilities. The $1,029 million charge to write the assets and liabilities down to their fair values was
reported within our AT&T Business Services segment.

Also included in net restructuring and other charges was a $204 million impairment charge related to
certain Digital Subscriber Line (DSL) assets (including internal-use software, licenses, and property, plant &
equipment) that will not be utilized by AT&T as result of changes to our “DSL build” strategy. Instead of
building DSL capabilities in all geographic areas initially targeted, we have signed an agreement with Covad
Communications to offer DSL services over their network. As a result, the assets in these areas were impaired.
This charge was reported within our AT&T Consumer Services segment.

In 2002, AT&T recorded net business restructuring charges of $204 million. These activities consisted of
new exit plans totaling $377 million and reversals of $173 million. The new plans primarily consisted of
$334 million for employee separation costs ($28 million of which was recorded as a pension liability associated
with management employees to be separated in 2002 which will be funded from the pension trust) and
$39 million of facility closing reserves. Slightly more than 4,800 employees will be separated in conjunction
with these exit plans, approximately one-half of which are management employees and one-half are non-
management employees. The majority of these employee separations will be involuntary. Approximately 14%
of the employees affected by these exit plans had left their positions by December 31, 2002, and we expect
those remaining to leave their positions by the end of 2003.

The $173 million reversal primarily consisted of $124 million of employee separation costs (approxi-
mately $48 million of which was reversed from the pension liability) and $26 million related to prior plan
facility closings that were deemed to be no longer necessary. The reversals were primarily due to manage-
ment’s determination that the restructuring plan established in the fourth quarter of 2001 for certain areas of
AT&T Business Services, including network services, needed to be modified given current industry conditions,
as well as the redeployment of certain employees to different functions within the Company.
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The following table displays the activity and balances of the restructuring reserve account:

Type of Cost

Employee Facility
Separations Closings Other Total

(Dollars in millions)

Balance at January 1,2000.......................... $ 150 $239 $21 $ 410
Additions . . ... 442 2 62 506
Deductions .......... ... (350) (67) (47)  (464)

Balance at December 31, 2000....................... 242 174 36 452
Addditions . . ... .. 474 166 12 652
Deductions .......... ... (230) (36) (29)  (295)

Balance at December 31, 2001 ....................... 486 304 19 809
Additions . . ... 306 78 — 384
Deductions .......... ... (413) (99) (16)  (528)

Balance at December 31,2002 . ...................... $ 379 $ 283 $ 3 $ 665

In addition to the new exit plans recorded during 2002, total additions for 2002 in the table above also
includes $39 million facility closing reserves recorded by Concert in 2001 and transferred to AT&T during
2002 as part of the unwind of that joint venture.

Deductions reflect cash payments of $366 million, $249 million and $410 million for 2000, 2001 and
2002, respectively. These payments included cash termination benefits of $254 million, $202 million and
$328 million, for 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively, which were primarily funded through cash from
operations. In 2000, 2001 and 2002, reserves of $98 million, $13 million and $9 million, respectively, were
transferred out of the restructuring liability to long-term liability accounts as a result of exiting managers
deferring severance payments, primarily related to executives. Also included in 2001 and 2002 deductions are
reversals of prior business restructuring reserves of $33 million and $109 million, respectively. The business
restructuring plans of 2000 and 2001 were substantially complete as of December 31, 2001 and 2002,
respectively.

During 2001, net restructuring and other charges were $1,036 million which were primarily comprised of
$862 million for employee separations, of which $388 million related to benefits to be paid from pension assets
as well as pension and postretirement curtailment losses, and $166 million for facility closings. These charges
were slightly offset by the reversal of $33 million related to business restructuring plans announced in the
fourth quarter 1999 and the first quarter 2000 (of which $15 million related to employee separations and
$18 million related to contract terminations).

The charge covered separation costs for approximately 10,000 employees, approximately one-half of
whom were management employees and one-half were non-management employees. More than 9,000 em-
ployee separations related to involuntary terminations and the remaining 1,000 were voluntary.

During 2000, we recorded $758 million of net restructuring and other charges which included $586 mil-
lion for employee separations, of which $144 million primarily related to pension and postretirement
curtailment losses, $91 million related to the government-mandated disposition of AT&T Communications
(U.K.) Ltd., which would have competed directly with Concert and $62 million of network lease and other
contract termination costs associated with penalties incurred as part of notifying vendors of the termination of
these contracts during the year.
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The charge covered separation costs for approximately 6,100 employees, approximately one-half of whom
were management employees and one-half were non-management employees. Approximately 5,500 of the
employee separations were related to involuntary terminations and approximately 600 related to voluntary
terminations.

7. Investments
Equity Method Investments

We have investments in various companies and partnerships that are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting and included within “Other assets.” Under the equity method, investments are stated at
initial cost, and are adjusted for subsequent contributions and our share of earnings, losses and distributions as
well as declines in value that are “other than temporary.” At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we had equity
investments of $135 million and $313 million, respectively. Distributions from equity investments totaled
$5 million, $25 million and $13 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Summarized combined financial information for investments accounted for under the equity method that
were significant to AT&T’s financial results in 2001 is as follows:

Other Equit}/)

Concert™ AT&T Canada Investments’
For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Revenue ...................... $ 6,189 $7,748 $ 947 $1,000 $1,001 $3,813  $11,751
Operating (loss) income ........ (3,574) 329 (853) (226) (225) 86 542
(Loss) income from continuing

operations before extraordinary

items & cumulative effect of

accounting changes ........... (3,609) 103 (1,247) (521) (351) (18) 307
Net (loss) income ............. $(3,609) $ 103 $(2,220) $(518) $(351) $ (20) $ 260
At December 31, 2001 2002 2001 2001

(Dollars in millions)

Current assets ................. $ 3,744 $ 386 $ 391 $ 171
Non-current assets ............. 1,758 496 2,577 645
Current liabilities .............. 4,296 3,152 256 179
Non-current liabilities. . ......... 76 41 2,963 589
Redeemable preferred stock. . . ... — — — 7

Minority interest ............... — — — —

) The Concert joint venture was unwound in April 2002; therefore, financial information for 2002 is not applicable.
@) AT&T did not have any individually significant equity investments in 2002 and on a combined basis such investments were not

significant to AT&T’s 2002 financial results.

Concert

On April 1, 2002, Concert, our 50% owned joint venture with British Telecommunications plc (BT), was
officially unwound and the venture’s assets and customer accounts were distributed back to the parent
companies, as agreed to in 2001. Under the partnership termination agreement, each of the partners generally
reclaimed the customer contracts and assets that were initially contributed to the joint venture, including
international transport facilities and gateway assets. In addition, AT&T assumed certain other assets that BT
originally contributed to the joint venture.
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In 2001, the agreement to dissolve the Concert venture impacted AT&T’s intent and ability to hold its
investment in Concert; therefore, AT&T recorded a $1.8 billion after-tax impairment charge ($2.9 billion
pretax) included in “Net (losses) related to other equity investments.” The charge related to the difference
between the fair market value of the net assets AT&T was to receive in the transaction and the carrying value
of AT&T’s investment in Concert. Certain items reserved for in 2001 were favorably settled resulting in a
$60 million after-tax reversal in 2002, recorded within “Net (losses) earnings related to other equity
investments.”

AT&T Canada

At December 31, 2002, AT&T had an approximate 31% ownership interest in AT&T Canada. Pursuant
to a 1999 merger agreement, AT&T had a commitment to purchase, or arrange for another entity to purchase,
the publicly owned shares of AT&T Canada for the Back-end Price, which was the greater of the contractual
floor price or the fair market value. The floor price accreted 4% each quarter, commencing on June 30, 2000.

In 2002 and 2001, AT&T recorded charges reflecting the estimated loss on this commitment. The
charges represented the difference between the underlying value of the publicly owned AT&T Canada shares
and the price AT&T had committed to pay for them, including the 4% accretion of the floor price. After-tax
charges of $0.3 billion ($0.5 billion pretax) and $1.8 billion ($3.0 billion pretax) were recorded within “Net
(losses) related to other equity investments” for 2002 and 2001, respectively. At December 31, 2001, this
liability of $3.0 billion was included in “Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits.”

During 2002, AT&T arranged for third parties (Tricap Investment Corporation and CIBC Capital
Partners) to purchase the remaining 69% equity in AT&T Canada. As part of this agreement, AT&T agreed
to fund the purchase price on behalf of the third parties. Tricap and CIBC Partners made a nominal payment
to AT&T upon completion of the transaction. Although AT&T held an approximate 31% ownership interest in
AT&T Canada throughout 2002, it did not record equity earnings or losses since its investment balance was
written down to zero largely through losses generated by AT&T Canada. Subsequent to December 31, 2002,
AT&T entered into an agreement to dispose of its stake in AT&T Canada. In February 2003, pursuant to that
agreement, AT&T disposed of substantially all of its AT&T Canada shares.

Impairments — Equity Investments

Declines in value of equity method investments judged to be other-than-temporary are recorded in “Net
(losses) related to other equity investments.” In 2002 and 2001, we recorded impairment charges on equity
method investments of $0.3 billion after-tax ($0.5 billion pretax), and $4.3 billion after-tax ($7.0 billion
pretax), respectively.

The 2002 charges primarily related to AT&T Canada and the 2001 charges primarily related to AT&T
Canada and Concert, as discussed above. In addition, in 2001, we recorded an impairment charge on our
investment in Net2Phone, Inc. (Net2Phone) of $0.7 billion after-tax ($1.1 billion pretax). This charge
resulted from the deterioration of market valuations of Internet-related companies. In October 2001, AT&T
contributed its investment in Net2Phone to NTOP Holdings, LLC (NTOP), and received ownership in
NTOP. At December 31, 2001 AT&T retained an approximate 10% interest in NTOP, which was accounted
for as a cost method investment. It was subsequently sold in December 2002.

Cost Method Investments

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we had cost method investments included in “Other assets” of
$0.6 billion and $1.6 billion, respectively. Under the cost method, earnings are recognized only to the extent
distributions are received from the accumulated earnings of the investee. Distributions received in excess of
accumulated earnings are recognized as a reduction of our investment balance. The Company’s cost
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investments are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses,
net of tax, recorded as a separate component of “Other comprehensive income (loss)” in shareowners’ equity.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, approximately $0.5 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, of these investments
were indexed to certain long-term debt instruments (see note 8).

Impairments — Cost Investments

Declines in value of available-for-sale securities, judged to be other-than-temporary, are recorded in
“Other (expense) income, net.” During 2002 and 2001, we believed that certain investments would not
recover our cost basis in the foreseeable future given the significant decline in stock prices, the length of time
these investments had been below market, and industry specific issues. Accordingly, we believed the declines
in value were other-than-temporary and, as a result, recorded investment impairment charges on such
securities of $0.1 billion after-tax ($0.1 billion pretax) and $0.3 billion after-tax ($0.5 billion pretax) for 2002
and 2001, respectively, consisting primarily of charges related to Time Warner Telecom in both years. In
addition, during 2002, we recorded a pretax impairment charge of $0.6 billion related to our holdings in AT&T
Wireless, which is monetized by debt indexed to the value of the AT&T Wireless shares (see note 8). The
debt contains an embedded derivative that is designated as a cash flow hedge. At the time we recognized the
other-than-temporary decline in the value of AT&T Wireless as an expense, as permitted by SFAS No. 133,
we also recognized, in earnings, the previously unrecognized gain on the embedded derivative of $0.6 billion
pretax, resulting in no net income impact.

AT&T Wireless Group

On July 9, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of AT&T Wireless (see note 1). At that time, AT&T
retained an approximate 7.3% interest in AT&T Wireless common stock. In 2001, we recorded a $0.5 billion
tax-free gain associated with the disposal of a portion of this ownership interest in a debt-for-equity exchange
in “Other (expense) income, net.”

In February 2003, AT&T redeemed exchangeable notes that were indexed to AT&T Wireless common
stock. The notes were settled with 78.6 million AT&T Wireless shares (see note 8). Subsequently, AT&T sold
its remaining AT&T Wireless shares (approximately 12.2 million shares) for $72 million in cash, resulting in a
gain of $22 million.

Japan Telecom Co. Ltd

On April 27, 2001, AT&T completed the sale of its 10% stake in Japan Telecom Co. Ltd to Vodafone for
$1.35 billion in cash. The proceeds from the transaction were split evenly between AT&T and AT&T Wireless
Group since AT&T Wireless Group held approximately one-half of AT&T’s investment. The transaction
resulted in a pretax gain of approximately $0.5 billion recorded in “Other (expense) income, net” and a pretax
gain of approximately $0.5 billion recorded in “Net (loss) from discontinued operations.”
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8. Debt Obligations

Debt Maturing within One Year At December 31,

2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)
Commercial PAPET . . ...ttt $1,091 $ 5,087
Short-term NOtES . .. ..ot 1,086 3,970
Currently maturing long-term debt ........ ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 1,581 955
OtheT . . 4 122
Total debt maturing within one year ............ ... .oviiiieiinnnnnn... $3,762  $10,134
Weighted-average interest rate of short-term debt........................ 3.7% 5.0%

Securitizations

During 2002, AT&T renewed both its AT&T Business Services and AT&T Consumer Services customer
accounts receivable securitization facilities, the terms of which have been extended to June (AT&T Business
Services) and July (AT&T Consumer Services) of 2003. Together, the 2002 programs provide up to
$2.0 billion of available financing, limited by monthly eligible receivable balances, which vary from month to
month. At December 31, 2002, the available financing was collateralized by $4.6 billion of accounts
receivable. Approximately $0.2 billion and $2.3 billion was outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, and was included in “Short-term notes” in the table above. Under the program, accounts
receivable are sold on a discounted, revolving basis, to special-purpose, wholly-owned and fully consolidated
subsidiaries of AT&T, which assign interests in such receivables to unrelated third-party financing entities.

Credit Facility

At December 31, 2002, we had a $3.0 billion 364-day credit facility available to us that was entered into
on October 9, 2002. The credit facility contains a financial covenant that requires AT&T to meet a net debt-
to-EBITDA ratio (as defined in the credit agreement) not exceeding 2.25 to 1.00 for four consecutive quarters
ending on the last day of each fiscal quarter. It also contains a covenant that requires AT&T to maintain
$1.27 billion in unencumbered cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. At December 31, 2002, we
were in compliance with these covenants.
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Long-Term Debt

At December 31,

Debentures and Notes 2002V 2001

Interest Rates® Maturities (Dollars in millions)
4.59% - 6.00% 2004 - 2009 $ 1,455 $ 6,760
6.06% - 6.50% 2004 - 2029 6,678 4,960
6.75% - 7.50% 2004 - 2006 2,449 4,459
7.75% - 8.85% 2003 - 2031 6,796 5,328
9.90% - 19.95% 2004 - 2004 13 21
Variable rate 2003 - 2054 3,012 3,440
Total debentures and notes . ..............i it 20,403 24,968
Other .. 105 162
Unamortized discount, net ...............oiiriinininrnnanann.. (115) (150)
Total long-term debt . ....... ... .. i 20,393 24,980
Less: Currently maturing long-term debt ............ ... ... ... ...... 1,581 955
Net long-term debt . ....... ... ... .. . $18,812 $24,025

) Debt amounts are included within the range of interest rates that are applied at each respective balance sheet date. See below for
discussion on interest rate changes that occurred during 2002.

@) The actual interest paid on our debt obligations may have differed from the stated amount due to our entering into interest rate swap
contracts to manage our exposure to interest rate risk and our strategy to reduce finance costs (see note 9).

&) TInterest rates greater than 10% are related to $8 million in bank loans held by AT&T Latin America in 2001. In 2002, AT&T Latin
America is classified as an “asset held for sale,” and accordingly its associated liabilities, including debt, was recorded at fair value and
included in “Other current liabilities” at December 31, 2002 (see note 6).

The following table shows maturities at December 31, 2002, of the $20,393 million in total long-term
obligations:

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Later Years
(Dollars in millions)
$1,581 $2,437 $1,185 $4,328 $296 $10,566

In connection with the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, AT&T completed two debt exchanges. In the
AT&T Broadband debt exchange, $3.5 billion of outstanding AT&T notes (with interest rates ranging from
6.0% to 8.63%) were exchanged for notes that, upon completion of the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, became
notes of AT&T Broadband and are unconditionally guaranteed by Comcast and certain of its subsidiaries.

Also, $4.6 billion of outstanding long-term AT&T notes (with fixed interest rates ranging from 5.63% to
8.0%, and maturities of 2004, 2025 and 2029) were exchanged for new AT&T notes (with fixed interest rates
ranging from 6.38% to 8.6%, and maturities of 2004, 2013 and 2025) that upon completion of the spin-off of
AT&T Broadband, have revised terms, including revised maturity dates and/or interest rates.

As a result of a long-term debt rating downgrade by Moody’s, the interest rate on approximately
$10.0 billion of notes (with interest rates ranging from 6.0% to 8.0%) sold in November 2001, increased by
50 basis points effective with interest payment periods that begin after November 15, 2002, for the majority of
the notes.

The holders of certain private debt with an outstanding balance of $0.9 billion at December 31, 2002,
have an annual put right to cause AT&T to repay the debt upon payment of an exercise fee. In exchange for
the debt holders agreeing to not exercise their put right for 2002, AT&T posted a cash-collateralized letter of
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credit in 2002, totaling $0.4 billion, and expiring in March, 2005. The $0.4 billion is considered restricted cash
and is included in “Other assets” at December 31, 2002. The annual put right in 2003 expired on February 13,
2003, without exercise by the debt holders. The debt holders could accelerate repayment of the debt based on
certain events such as the occurrence of unfavorable local law or regulation changes in its country of operation.

On January 31, 2003, AT&T completed the early retirement of approximately $1,152 million and
$2,590 million long-term notes, with interest rates of 6.375% and 6.50%, due in March 2004 and March 2013,
respectively. The notes were repurchased with cash and resulted in a loss of $178 million recorded in “Other
(expense) income, net” in the first quarter of 2003.

Exchangeable Notes

During 2001, we issued long-term debt (exchangeable notes) that was indexed to AT&T Wireless
common stock and, at AT&T’s option, was mandatorily redeemable with a number of shares of AT&T
Wireless common stock that was equal to the underlying shares multiplied by an exchange ratio, or its cash
equivalent. The notes were accounted for as indexed debt instruments because the carrying value of the debt
was dependent upon the fair market value of the underlying securities. In addition, the notes contained
embedded derivatives that required separate accounting. The economic characteristics of the embedded
derivatives (i.e. equity-like features) were not clearly and closely related to those of the host instruments (a
debt security). As a result, the embedded derivatives were separated from the host debt instrument for
valuation purposes and were carried at fair value within the host debt instrument. The embedded derivatives
for these exchangeable notes were designated as cash flow hedges. The options hedged the market risk of a
decline in value of AT&T Wireless securities. The market risk of a decline in these securities, below the
respective put prices, had been eliminated. In addition, any market gains we may have earned had been
limited to the call prices. These designated options were carried at fair value with changes in fair value
recorded, net of income taxes, within “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” as a component of
shareowners’ equity. There was no ineffectiveness recognized on the cash flow hedges.

The shares of AT&T Wireless common stock were accounted for as “available-for-sale” securities under
SFAS No. 115 with changes in the carrying value of the underlying securities that are not “other-than-
temporary”’ being recorded as unrealized gains or losses, net of income taxes, within “Other comprehensive
income (loss)” as a component of shareowners’ equity. See note 7 for a discussion of impairments recorded in
2002.

Following is a summary of the exchangeable notes outstanding at December 31, 2002:

Put Price Call Price Carrying
Maturities Face Value Interest Rate Per Share Per Share Value

(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

Indexed to 45.8 million shares of AT&T Wireless common stock:

2005 $220 LIBOR + 0.4% $14.41 $18.87 $87

2006 220 LIBOR + 0.4% 14.41 19.31 87

2006 220 LIBOR + 0.4% 14.41 19.74 87
Indexed to 45 million shares of AT&T Wireless common stock:

2006 $204 LIBOR + 0.4% $13.57 $19.03 $35

2006 201 LIBOR + 0.4% 13.37 19.27 86

2006 204 LIBOR + 0.4% 13.57 19.90 87

In February 2003, AT&T redeemed these exchangeable notes that had a carrying value of $652 million at
the time of settlement. The notes were settled with 78.6 million shares of AT&T Wireless common stock and
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$152 million in cash. The settlement resulted in a pretax gain of approximately $176 million. The 12.2 million
remaining AT&T Wireless shares were subsequently sold (see note 7).

9. Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, we use various financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for purposes other than trading. These instruments include letters of credit, guarantees of debt
and certain obligations of former affiliates, interest rate swap agreements, foreign currency exchange contracts,
option contracts, equity contracts and warrants. Collateral is generally not required for these types of
instruments. However, as the requirements for collateral are generally dependent upon debt ratings and
market conditions, AT&T may be required to post collateral for interest rate and equity swaps, as well as
letters of credit in the future.

By their nature, all such instruments involve risk, including the credit risk of nonperformance by counter-
parties, and our maximum potential loss may exceed the amount recognized in our balance sheet. However, at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, in management’s opinion, there was no significant risk of loss in the event of
nonperformance of the counter-parties to these financial instruments. We control our exposure to credit risk
through credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures. Other than the guarantee issued in
connection with the split-off of AT&T Wireless, we do not have any significant exposure to any individual
customer or counter-party, nor do we have any major concentration of credit risk related to any financial
instruments.

Letters of Credit

Letters of credit are purchased guarantees that ensure our performance or payment to third parties in
accordance with specified terms and conditions. Management has determined that the Company’s letters of
credit do not create additional risk to AT&T.

The notional amounts outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were $923 million and $408 million,
respectively. The letters of credit in effect at December 31, 2002, were collateralized by restricted cash of
$496 million, of which $442 million was recorded in “Other assets” and $54 million was recorded in “Other
current assets.” The fair values of the letters of credit, based on the fees paid to obtain the obligations, were
immaterial at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Guarantees

From time to time, we guarantee the debt of our subsidiaries, and, in connection with the separation of
certain subsidiaries, we issued guarantees for certain debt and other obligations of our former subsidiaries
AT&T Capital Corp., NCR, AT&T Wireless and AT&T Broadband. We also issue indemnifications as part of
our software license agreements.

Total notional amounts of guaranteed debt at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were $506 million and
$59 million, respectively. Prior to the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, we had guaranteed certain debt of AT&T
Broadband that matures in 2038. Such guarantee remained outstanding after the spin-off of AT&T Broadband
and at December 31, 2002 totaled $500 million. Comcast has provided us with an indemnification for this debt
and, under the terms of the merger agreement between AT&T Broadband and Comcast, if Comcast does not
call the debt in 2003 they must provide us with a letter of credit in the amount of $500 million. The remaining
guarantees for debt have expiration dates ranging from 2003 to 2020. Should the financial condition of debtors,
including AT&T Broadband and Comcast, deteriorate to the point at which they are unable to meet their
obligations, third party creditors could look to us for payment. We currently hold no collateral for these
guarantees, and have not recorded corresponding obligations. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, there were no
quoted market prices for similar agreements.
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AT&T provides a guarantee of an obligation that AT&T Wireless has to NTT DoCoMo (DoCoMo).
The amounts of the guarantee at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were $4.1 billion and $3.9 billion, respectively.
On January 21, 2001, DoCoMo invested approximately $9.8 billion for shares of AT&T preferred stock that
were converted into AT&T Wireless common stock in connection with the split-off of AT&T Wireless. Of the
initial investment, AT&T retained approximately $3.6 billion, with the remainder of the proceeds allocated to
AT&T Wireless. In connection with that investment, AT&T and AT&T Wireless agreed that, under certain
circumstances, including if AT&T Wireless fails to meet specific technological milestones by June 30, 2004,
DoCoMo would have the right to require AT&T Wireless to repurchase its AT&T Wireless common stock for
$9.8 billion, plus interest. In the event AT&T Wireless is unable to satisfy the entire obligation, AT&T is
secondarily liable for up to $3.65 billion, plus accrued interest. On December 26, 2002, AT&T Wireless and
DoCoMo entered into an amendment to the original agreement which, among other things, extended the
deadline for compliance with the technological milestones to December 31, 2004. We currently hold no
collateral for this guarantee, and have not recorded a corresponding obligation. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, there were no quoted market prices for similar agreements.

The total notional amount of other guaranteed obligations at December 31, 2002, was $458 million. Prior
to the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, we had guaranteed various obligations of AT&T Broadband. In
connection with the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, we continue to provide guarantees of these obligations,
including operating leases for real estate, surety bonds, and equity hedges. These guarantees have expiration
dates ranging from 2003 through 2007. Comcast has provided indemnifications for these guarantees of
$458 million at December 31, 2002. Should the financial condition of AT&T Broadband and Comcast
deteriorate to the point at which they are unable to meet their obligations, third party creditors could look to us
for payment. We currently hold no collateral for these guarantees, and have not recorded corresponding
obligations. At December 31, 2002, there were no quoted market prices for similar agreements.

The total notional amounts of software license indemnifications with a stated maximum liability, at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, were approximately $50 million and $30 million, respectively. In addition, in a
few instances, our liability is limited by the value of the licensing fees received or is not limited at all. Amounts
related to these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The indemnifications generally have terms that coincide
with the software license which may be until terminated by the licensee. Under the terms of these agreements,
we indemnify licensees against damages, expenses and losses arising from third party claims and proceedings
against trademark, copyright and/or patent infringement. We currently hold no collateral for these guarantees
and have not recorded corresponding obligations. At December 31, 2002, there were no quoted market prices
for similar agreements.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

We enter into interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates. We enter into swap
agreements to manage the fixed/floating mix of our debt portfolio in order to reduce aggregate risk to interest
rate movements. Interest rate swaps also allow us to raise funds at floating rates and effectively swap them into
fixed rates that are generally lower than those available to us if fixed-rate borrowings were made directly.
These agreements involve the exchange of floating-rate for fixed-rate payments or the exchange of fixed-rate
for floating-rate payments without the exchange of the underlying principal amount. Floating-rate payments
are tied to the LIBOR. We also designated certain interest-rate swaps as cash flow hedges under SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
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The following table indicates the types of swaps in use at December 31, 2002 and 2001, the respective
notional amounts and their weighted-average interest rates. Average floating rates are those in effect at the
reporting date, and may change significantly over the lives of the contracts:

At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)

Floating-rate to fixed-rate swaps — notional amount...................... $ 190 $218
Weighted-average receive rate . ... .........oiuiiuneinenean.. 1.81% 2.08%
Weighted-average pay rate ... ..........uiiiiiiineiiniin 7.30% 7.31%

In addition, we have combined interest rate, foreign currency swap agreements for foreign-currency-
denominated debt, which hedge our risk to both interest rate and currency movements. At December 31, 2002
and 2001, the notional amounts related to these contracts was $3.8 billion, of which $3.1 billion was associated
with our Euro bond offering in 2001.

The table below summarizes the fair and carrying values of the agreements. These swaps are valued using
current market quotes, which were obtained from dealers.

2002 2001
Fair/Carrying Fair/Carrying
Value Value

Asset Liability Asset Liability
(Dollars in millions)

Interest rate swap agreements ....................oun.... $ — $23 $— $18
Combined interest rate foreign currency swap agreements.... 660 — 18 26

Foreign Exchange

We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to manage our exposure to changes in currency
exchange rates related to foreign-currency-denominated transactions. Although we do not designate most of
our foreign exchange contracts as accounting hedges, we have certain contracts that are designated as foreign
currency cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133. At December 31, 2002, our foreign exchange
contracts consisted principally of Euros, Japanese yen, and Swiss francs. At December 31, 2001, our foreign
exchange contracts consisted principally of Canadian dollars (which related to our obligation to purchase the
remaining shares of AT&T Canada), Euros, Japanese yen, Swiss francs, and Brazilian reais. In addition, we
are subject to foreign exchange risk related to other foreign-currency-denominated transactions. The notional
amounts under contract at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were $742 million and $6.4 billion, respectively. The
decrease from 2001 was primarily due to approximately $5.3 billion in 2001 of foreign exchange contracts
relating to a Euro Commercial Paper Program and our obligation to purchase the outstanding AT&T Canada
shares we did not own. A significant portion of our debt under the Euro Commercial Paper Program was paid
down in 2002, and our obligation to purchase the outstanding shares of AT&T Canada was satisfied in 2002.
The following table summarizes the fair and carrying values of the foreign exchange contracts at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001. These foreign exchange contracts are valued using current market quotes which were
obtained from independent sources.

2002 2001
Fair/Carrying Fair/Carrying
Value Value

Asset Liability Asset Liability
(Dollars in millions)

Foreign exchange contracts............. ... ... cooivi... $41 $2 $72 $299
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Equity Option and Equity Swap Contracts

We enter into equity option and equity swap contracts, which are undesignated, to manage our exposure
to changes in equity prices associated with various equity awards of previously affiliated companies (see
note 12). The notional amounts outstanding on these contracts at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were
$112 million and $19 million, respectively. The following table summarizes the carrying and fair values of
these instruments at December 31, 2002 and 2001. Fair values are based on market quotes.

2002 2001
Carrying/Fair Carrying/Fair
Value Value

Asset Liability Asset Liability
(Dollars in millions)

Equity hedges . ........ .. $— $25 $— $15

Warrants

We may obtain warrants to purchase equity securities in private and public companies as a result of
certain transactions. Private warrants and public warrants that provide for net share settlement (i.e. allow for
cashless exercise) are considered to be derivative instruments and recognized on our balance sheet at fair
value (in accordance with SFAS No. 133). Warrants are not eligible to be designated as hedging instruments
because there is no underlying exposure. Instead, these are effectively investments in private and public
companies. The fair value of these warrants, as determined by using the Black-Scholes model, was $2 million
and $24 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Debt Securities

The carrying value of debt with an original maturity of less than one year approximates market value. The
table below summarizes the carrying and fair values of long-term debt (including currently maturing long-
term debt), excluding capital leases, at December 31, 2002 and 2001. The fair values of long-term debt were
obtained based on quotes or rates available to us for debt with similar terms and maturities.

2002 2001

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
(Dollars in millions)

Long-term debt, excluding capital leases . . $20,292 $21,030 $24,820 $24,704

Derivative Impacts

The following table summarizes the activity in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” in Shareowners’
equity related to derivatives designated as cash flow hedges during the periods January 1, 2001 (date of the
company’s adoption of SFAS No. 133) through December 31, 2002. Unrealized amounts recorded within

69



AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
“Accumulated other comprehensive loss” prior to adoption of SFAS No. 133 were recognized in earnings in
conjunction with the adoption of SFAS No. 133 ($1.6 billion pretax; $1.0 billion after-tax), (see note 3).

Pretax After-tax
(Dollars in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2001 ... ... ..ottt $8 - 5 —
Unrealized gains (10SS€S) ... ...ttt e e (480) (296)
Realized (gains) losses reclassified into earnings . ....................... 85 52
Balance at December 31, 2001 . ... ...ttt $ (395) $(244)
Unrealized gains (10SS€S) ... ...ttt e e 1,747 1,078
Realized (gains) losses reclassified into earnings . ....................... (1,259) (777)
Net amounts spun-off with AT&T Broadband .......................... 317 196
Balance at December 31, 2002 . .. ..ot $ 410 $ 253

Included within the balance at December 31, 2002, were unrealized gains of $131 million pretax
($81 million after-tax) on embedded derivatives related to exchangeable notes that were indexed to AT&T
Wireless common stock, which were settled in February 2003. The remaining balance of unrealized gains at
December 31, 2002, was largely offset within “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” by unrealized losses
on the underlying debt. Based upon the expiration or maturity dates of these remaining derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges, we do not expect additional amounts to be transferred into earnings within the next year.

10. Equity Transactions

Pursuant to the AT&T Broadband and Comcast merger agreement, AT&T was required to redeem the
outstanding TCI Pacific Communications, Inc. Class A Senior Cumulative Exchangeable Preferred Stock for
AT&T common stock. Each share of TCI Pacific preferred stock was exchangeable at the option of the holder
for 8.365 shares (1.673 adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock split) of AT&T common stock. All outstanding
shares (approximately 6.2 million) of TCI Pacific preferred stock with a carrying value of $2.1 billion at
December 31, 2001 (included in Minority Interest of Discontinued Operations in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet), were either exchanged or redeemed for approximately 51.8 million shares (10.4 million shares
adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock split) of AT&T common stock. No gain or loss was recorded on the
exchange/redemption of the TCI Pacific preferred stock.

During 2002, AT&T issued 14.7 million shares (2.9 million shares adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock
split) of AT&T common stock to certain current and former senior managers in settlement of their deferred
compensation accounts. Pursuant to AT&T’s deferred compensation plan, senior managers may defer short-
and long-term incentive compensation awards. The issuance of these shares resulted in an increase to total
shareowners’ equity of $196 million.

In June 2002, AT&T completed a public equity offering of 230 million shares (46 million shares adjusted
for the 1-for-5 reverse stock split) of AT&T common stock for net proceeds of $2.5 billion. AT&T utilized the
proceeds from the offering to satisfy a portion of its obligation to AT&T Canada common shareholders (see
note 7).

On January 22, 2001, NTT DoCoMo invested approximately $9.8 billion for 812,512 shares of a new
class of AT&T preferred stock with a par value of $1 per share. On July 9, 2001, in conjunction with the split-
off of AT&T Wireless Group, these preferred shares were converted into AT&T Wireless common stock.
During 2001, we recorded dividend requirements on this preferred stock of $652 million. The preferred stock
dividend represented interest in connection with the DoCoMo preferred stock as well as accretion of the
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beneficial conversion feature associated with this preferred stock. The beneficial conversion feature was
recorded upon the issuance of the preferred stock and represented the excess of the fair value of the preferred
shares issued over the proceeds received.

11. Pension, Postretirement and Other Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor noncontributory, defined benefit pension plans covering the majority of our employees.
Pension benefits for management employees are based principally on career-average pay. Pension benefits for
occupational employees are not directly related to pay. Pension trust contributions are made to trust funds held
for the sole benefit of plan participants. Our benefit plans for current and certain future retirees include health-
care benefits, life insurance coverage and telephone concessions.

The following table shows the components of the net periodic benefit (credit) costs for continuing
operations included in our Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Service cost — benefits earned during the

period . ... ... $ 209 $ 226 $ 239 §$ 23 $ 26 $ 34
Interest cost on benefit obligations .......... 1,002 938 983 365 344 351
Amortization of unrecognized prior service

COSt . vt 152 172 174 12 4 4
Credit for expected return on plan assets. . ... (1,526)  (1,647) (1,812)  (187)  (201)  (230)
Amortization of transition asset............. (34) (89) (156) — — —
Amortization of (gains) losses ............. (22) (182) (332) 5 — (16)
Charges for special termination

(credits) benefits™...................... (19) 188 — — 28 16
Net curtailment losses (gains)* ............ — 113 121 — 59 (14)
Net settlement losses™ .. .................. 6 4 8 — — —
Net periodic benefit (credit) cost........... $ (232) $ (277) $ (775) $ 218 $ 260 $ 145

* Primarily included in “Net restructuring and other charges” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In connection with our restructuring plan announced in the fourth quarter of 2001, we recorded a
$188 million charge related to management employee separation benefits expected to be funded by assets of
the AT&T Management Pension Plan as well as a $28 million charge related to expanded eligibility for
postretirement benefits for certain employees expected to exit under the plan. We also recorded pension and
postretirement benefit curtailment charges of $172 million.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value
of assets, and a statement of the funded status:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2002 2001

(Dollars in millions)

Change in benefit obligations:

Benefit obligation, beginning of year ............... $13,878  $12,898 $ 5277 $ 4,851

SEIVICE COSt. . v v vttt e 209 226 23 26

Interest CoSt . ... ... i 1,002 938 365 344

Plan amendments. ............. ... ... ... ... ... 34 62 14 —

Actuarial losses . .......... ... . . 1,134 655 640 373

Benefit payments ........ ... .. i (1,221)  (1,072) (480) (406)
Special termination (credits) benefits .............. (19) 188 — 28

Settlements . . ...ttt (32) (17) — —

Curtailment losses .......... ... ..., — — — 61

Benefit obligation, end of year .................... $14985 $13,878 $ 5,839 $ 5277

Change in fair value of plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year ......... $18,449  $21,055 $ 2,156 $ 2,521

Actual return on plan assets .. .................... (1,663)  (1,576) (255) (214)
Employer contributions . ......................... 70 59 324 255

Benefit payments ........ ... ... ... ... (1,221) (1,072) (480) (4006)
Settlements . . ...t (32) (17) — —

Fair value of plan assets, end of year .............. $15,603 $18,449 $ 1,745 $ 2,156

At December 31:

Funded (unfunded) benefit obligation.............. $ 618 $ 4571 $(4,094) $(3,121)
Unrecognized net loss (gain) ..................... 1,715 (2,624) 1,684 606

Unrecognized transition asset . .................... — (34) — —

Unrecognized prior service cost (credits) ........... 769 887 (10) (12)
Net amount recorded. .. ........ ...t $ 3,102 $ 2800 $(2,420) $(2,527)

The AT&T Management Pension Plan had an unfunded accumulated benefit obligation of $1.1 billion as
of December 31, 2002. The accumulated benefit obligation of $9.4 billion at December 31, 2002, was in excess
of the fair value of the plan assets of $8.3 billion. Our nonqualified pension plans had an unfunded
accumulated benefit obligation of $98 million and $113 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The unfunded accumulated benefit obligation for the AT&T Management Pension Plan is attributed
primarily to the loss in value of the plan assets and the impact of the decline in the discount rate used to value
the pension benefit obligations. As a result, due to the under-funded status of these plans, in 2002, the
Company recorded an additional minimum pension liability of $699 million. The offset to this liability was an
intangible asset of $410 million and a charge to “Other comprehensive income (loss)” of $289 million
($179 million, net of tax).

Our postretirement welfare benefit plans and telephone concession benefit plans had accumulated
postretirement benefit obligations of $5.9 billion at December 31, 2002, which was in excess of plan assets of
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$1.7 billion. Our postretirement welfare benefit plans and telephone concession benefit plans had accumulated
postretirement benefit obligations of $5.3 billion at December 31, 2001, which was in excess of plan assets of

$2.2 billion.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, our pension plan assets included $13 million and $31 million of AT&T
common stock, respectively.

The following table provides the amounts recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
At December 31, 2002 2001 2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)
Prepaid pension cost .............. ..., $356 $3329 $§ — $§ —
Benefit related liabilities . ......................... (1,255) (591)  (2,420)  (2,527)
Intangible asset (in “Other assets™) ................ 456 46 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income........... 305 16 — —
Net amount recorded. ... ... ... ... $ 3,102  $2,800 $(2,420) $(2,527)

The assumptions in the following table were used in the measurement of the pension and postretirement
benefit obligations and the net periodic benefit costs, as applicable. These assumptions were reassessed as of
December 31, 2002. The discount rate was reduced to 6.5% based on current yields on high quality corporate
fixed-income investments with maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the benefit obligations.
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was adjusted downward to 8.5% effective January 1, 2003,
primarily in consideration of the current and projected investment portfolio mix and estimated long-term
investment returns for each asset class. Additionally, the rate of projected compensation increases was reduced
to 4.25% reflecting expected inflation levels, our actual recent experience and future outlook. Our previous
years’ disclosed compensation rates have been restated to include the component of the assumed compensa-
tion rate increase attributable to employee promotion.

Weighted-Average

Assumptions
At December 31, 2002 2001 2000
DISCOUNT TAE . . o .ttt et e e e e 6.50% 7.25% 7.50%
Expected return on plan assets ............iiiiiii i 9.0% 9.5% 9.5%
Rate of compensation inCrease ...............viuirernenenennnnennnns 4.25% 59% 5.9%

We assumed a rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health-care benefits (the health-care cost
trend rate) of 10.9%. This rate was assumed to gradually decline after 2002 to 5.0% by 2010 and then remain
level. Assumed health-care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health-
care plans. A one percentage point increase or decrease in the assumed health-care cost trend rate would
increase or decrease the total of the service and interest-cost components of net periodic postretirement
health-care benefit cost by $11 million and $10 million, respectively, and would increase or decrease the
health-care component of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $175 million and $152 million,
respectively.

We also sponsor savings plans for the majority of our employees. The plans allow employees to contribute
a portion of their pretax and/or after-tax income in accordance with specified guidelines. We match a
percentage of the employee contributions up to certain limits. Contributions relating to continuing operations
amounted to $135 million in 2002, $131 million in 2001, and $206 million in 2000.
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12. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under the 1997 Long-term Incentive Program (Program), which was effective June 1, 1997, and
amended on May 19, 1999, and March 14, 2000, we grant stock options, performance shares, restricted stock
and other awards on AT&T common stock, and also granted stock options on AT&T Wireless Group tracking
stock prior to the split-off of AT&T Wireless.

Under the initial terms of the Program, there were 30 million shares of AT&T common stock available
for grant with a maximum of 4.5 million common shares that could be used for awards other than stock
options. Subsequent to the 1999 modification, beginning with January 1, 2000, the remaining shares available
for grant at December 31 of the prior year, plus 1.75% of the shares of AT&T common stock outstanding on
January 1 of each year, become available for grant. Under the amended terms, a maximum of 7.5 million
shares may be used for awards other than stock options. In 2001, as a result of the AT&T Wireless split-off,
the number of shares available for grant increased by 3.5 million which includes 0.6 million for awards other
than stock options. In 2002, AT&T restructured stock options and other stock-based awards in conjunction
with the AT&T Broadband spin-off. The number of shares available for grant increased by 44.5 million which
includes 0.8 million for awards other than stock options. The exercise price of any stock option is equal to the
stock price when the option is granted. Generally, the options vest over three or four years and are exercisable
up to 10 years from the date of grant. (All above share amounts have been adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse
stock split.)

Under the Program, performance share units are awarded to key employees in the form of either common
stock or cash at the end of a three-year period, based on certain financial-performance targets.

On April 27, 2000, AT&T created a new class of stock and completed an offering of AT&T Wireless
Group tracking stock. Under the Program, AT&T issued AT&T Wireless Group stock options to employees.
The exercise price of any stock option was equal to the stock price when the option was granted. When
granted, the options had a two to three and one-half year vesting period, and were exercisable up to 10 years
from the date of grant. On April 27, 2000, substantially all employees were granted AT&T Wireless Group
tracking stock options.

In connection with the July 9, 2001 split-off of AT&T Wireless Group, all outstanding AT&T Wireless
Group tracking stock options and all AT&T common stock options granted prior to January 1, 2001, were
converted in the same manner as common shares (see note 1). AT&T modified the terms and conditions of all
outstanding stock option grants to allow the AT&T Wireless common stock options held by AT&T employees
to immediately vest and become exercisable for their remaining contractual term and to also allow the AT&T
common stock options held by AT&T Wireless employees to immediately vest and become exercisable for
their remaining contractual term. In 2001, AT&T recognized $3 million of compensation expense related to
these modifications.

In connection with the spin-off of AT&T Broadband, all outstanding AT&T stock options held by active
AT&T employees were restructured into an adjusted number of AT&T options. All outstanding AT&T stock
options held by active AT&T Broadband employees were restructured into an adjusted number of AT&T
Broadband options and subsequently replaced with new Comcast stock options, and all AT&T stock options
held by inactive employees at the time of the spin-off were converted into adjusted AT&T stock options and
new Comcast stock options. In January 2002, AT&T modified the terms and conditions of outstanding AT&T
stock options and other equity awards granted under plans other than the Program and held by AT&T
Broadband employees. This modification provided that upon the change in control of AT&T Broadband, their
stock options and other equity awards granted prior to December 19, 2001, would be immediately vested and
exercisable through their remaining contractual term. In 2002, $48 million (pretax) of compensation expense
related to this modification was recognized by AT&T Broadband and is included within “Gain on disposition
of discontinued operations.”
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Under the AT&T 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Plan), which was effective July 1, 1996, and
amended on May 23, 2001, we are authorized to sell up to 21 million shares of AT&T common stock to our
eligible employees through June 30, 2006. Under the terms of the Plan, employees may have up to 10% of
their earnings withheld to purchase AT&T’s common stock. The purchase price of the stock on the date of
exercise is 85% of the average high and low sale prices of shares on the New York Stock Exchange for that
day. Under the Plan, we sold approximately 1.3 million, 1.2 million and 1.1 million shares to employees in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. (All above share amounts have been adjusted for the 1-for-5 reverse stock

split.)

A summary of the AT&T common stock option transactions is shown below. (All share and per share
amounts have been restated to reflect the 1-for-5 reverse stock split.)

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
2002 Price* 2001 Price* 2000 Price*
(Shares in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1,............. 63,509  $122.90 49,805  $179.10 33,753  $187.10
Options assumed in mergers........... 5,923 123.55
Options granted ..................... 15,183 68.84 13,680 110.85 14914 180.60
AT&T Wireless split-off adjustments . .. 4,330
AT&T Broadband spin-off adjustments.. 37,049
Options and SARs exercised .......... (436) 32.28 (1,044) 58.15  (2,290) 110.35
Options canceled or forfeited .......... (17,048) 125.72 (3,262) 155.35 (2,495) 228.05
At December 31:
Options outstanding .. ................ 98,257 40.64 63,509 12290 49,805 179.10
Options exercisable .................. 46,770 49.88 34,289 130.25 26,290 152.20
Shares available for grant ............. 27,751 6,944 6,841

* The weighted-average exercise prices for the period prior to the AT&T Wireless split-off in 2001, and for the year ended December 31,
2000, have not been adjusted to reflect the impact of the split-off. The weighted-average exercise prices for the period prior to the
AT&T Broadband spin-off in 2002, and for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, have not been adjusted to reflect the impact

of the spin-off.
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The following table summarizes information about the AT&T common stock options outstanding at
December 31, 2002:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Number Average Number

Outstanding at Remaining Weighted- Exercisable at Weighted-

December 31, Contractual Average December 31, Average
Range of Exercise Prices 2002 Life Exercise Price 2002 Exercise Price

(In thousands) (In thousands)
$393-8$2370 ............... 3,368 5.6 $16.76 2,316 $14.57
$23.88 ... 10,417 9.7 $23.88 8 $23.88
$23.94-$28.00 ............... 1,166 8.5 $25.75 406 $25.59
$28.03 ... 21,465 9.1 $28.03 422 $28.03
$28.23-$33.66 ............... 9,148 8.2 $32.15 3,716 $32.04
$33.68 .. 8,341 8.2 $33.68 2,823 $33.68
$33.77-8$3827 ...l 8,206 4.6 $35.68 7,172 $35.68
$3831 .. 3,657 4.1 $38.31 3,657 $38.31
$38.48 -$46.73 ............... 4,050 4.6 $44.35 3,459 $44.21
$4691 ... ...l 5,553 7.6 $46.91 3,113 $46.91
$47.04 -861.54 . ............ .. 8,609 5.5 $59.06 8,506 $59.15
$61.66 -$87.01 ............... 9,136 6.9 $71.10 7,146 $71.71
$87.51-$90.80 ............... 5,141 6.1 $87.52 4,026 $87.52

98,257 7.4 $40.64 46,770 $49.88

A summary of the AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock option transactions is shown below:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Exercise
2001 Price 2000 Price
(Shares in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1: ....................... 73,626 $29.29 — $ —
Options granted . ............ ... .oiiiiiain... 4,037 $22.57 76,983 $29.29
Options exercised ..........cviiiiineinnenn... (1) $22.03 — $ —
Options canceled or forfeited . .................... (2,711)  $29.11 (3,357) $29.43
Options assumed by AT&T Wireless on July 9th .... (74,951)
At December 31:
Options outstanding. . ..............coovneion... — $ — 73,626 $29.29
Options exercisable ............................. — $ — 12,391 $29.48

Shares available for grant . ....................... — 41,874

In 2002, AT&T offered employees the option to cancel certain outstanding stock option grants and
replace them with restricted stock units. Approximately 15 million stock options were canceled as a result of
this offer, and 2.5 million restricted stock units were granted which vest over a three-year period. The
2.5 million restricted stock units were restructured into 6.5 million units as a result of the spin-off of AT&T
Broadband. Those options that were eligible for cancelation but retained by the employee became variable
awards and will be marked to market until the options are exercised, forfeited, or expired unexercised. The
cancelation of stock options had an immaterial impact on 2002 results of operations.
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The weighted-average fair values at date of grant for AT&T common stock options granted during 2002,
2001 and 2000 were $24.49, $39.50 and $60.50, respectively, and were estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The weighted-average risk-free interest rates applied for 2002, 2001 and 2000 were
3.73%, 4.61% and 6.29%, respectively. The following assumptions were applied for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively: (i) expected dividend yields of 1.17%, 0.85% and 1.6%, (ii) expected volatility rates of 40.0%,
36.9% and 33.5% and (iii) expected lives of 4.7 years in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The weighted-average fair values at date of grant for AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock options
granted during 2001 and 2000 were $11.58 and $14.20, respectively, and were estimated using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The following weighted-average assumptions were applied for 2001 and 2000,
respectively: (i) risk-free rate of 4.92% and 6.53%, (ii) expected volatility rate of 55.0% in 2001 and 2000 and
(iii) expected lives of 4.8 years and 3.9 years.

Effective January 1, 2003, AT&T will begin recording compensation expense pursuant to SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” for AT&T common stock options issued subsequent to
January 1, 2003. The fair value of these stock options will be measured on the grant date and recognized in the
income statement over the vesting period. (For additional information, see note 2.)

13. Income Taxes

The following table shows the principal reasons for the difference between the effective income tax rate
and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

U.S. federal statutory income taxrate ....................... 35% 35% 35%
Federal income tax (provision) at statutory rate............... $ (993) $(2,683) $(4,368)
Amortization of investment tax credits....................... 16 18 23
State and local income tax (provision), net of federal income tax

effect. . (222) (209) (292)
AT&T Latin America charge ... .. (360) — —
Foreign operations, net of tax credits ........................ (140) (107) (20)
Investment dispositions, acquisitions and legal entity

TESTIUCTUTINGS « .« . v v vt e et e ettt et e e e e e 93 91 70
Research and other credits. .. ............. ... ... ... .. ... 51 42 36
Other differences, net . ........ ... .. . (32) (42) 64
(Provision) for income taxes ................iiiiiiiiiin... $(1,587) $(2,890) $(4,487)
Effective income tax rate . ... .......ouiiuneinennenneenaan.. 56.0% 37.7% 35.9%
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The U.S. and foreign components of income from continuing operations before income taxes and the
(provision) for income taxes are presented in the following table:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)

Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes

United States. . .. ..ottt $ 2924 $ 7,671 $12,727
Foreign .. ... i (88) (5) (247)
Total ..o $ 2,836 $ 7,666 $12,480
(Provision) For Income Taxes

Current:
Federal .. ... . .. . $ 1,041  $(1,554)  (3,126)
State and local........ ... .. .. 19 (192) (4106)
Foreign . ... (95) (98) (87)
965 (1,844)  (3,629)

Deferred:
Federal .. ... . . . (2,201) (936) (851)
State and local. . ... ... .. ... . (360) (129) (34)
Foreign .. ... oo (7) 1 4
(2,568)  (1,064) (881)
Deferred investment tax credits. . ..., 16 18 23
(Provision) for inCOmMe taxes . .........ovuverernennennnnn.. $(1,587) $(2,890) $(4,487)

We also recorded current and deferred income tax benefits that resulted from net losses (earn-
ings) related to other equity investments in the amounts of $112 million in 2002, $2.9 billion in 2001, and
$59 million in 2000.

Deferred income tax liabilities are taxes we expect to pay in future periods. Similarly, deferred income tax
assets are recorded for expected reductions in taxes payable in future periods. Deferred income taxes arise
because of differences in the book and tax basis of certain assets and liabilities.
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Deferred income tax liabilities and assets consist of the following:

At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)

Deferred Income Tax Assets

Reserves and alloWancCes .. ...ttt $ 845 $2,237
Employee pensions and other benefits . ........... ... ... . ... .. .... 604 843
Business restructuring . ..........oiit i 297 359
Investments. . .. ..ot 281 423
Net operating loss, capital loss and credit carryforwards................ 252 70
Advance payments . .. ..ottt 174 30
Other deferred tax assets. . ... .......uuuiini i, 162 419
Valuation allowance . .. ...t i (689) (34)
Total deferred income tax assets ... ...t 1,926 4,347
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment . ........ ... ... i 3,135 3,230
Leveraged and capital leases. .. .............o ... 1,059 1,078
Capitalized software and intangible assets ........................... 743 575
OtheT . .t 818 710
Total deferred income tax liabilities ................. .. ... .. ..., 5,755 5,593
Net deferred income tax liability . ......... .. .. .. .. . ... ... $3,829 $1,246

The net increase in the valuation allowance in 2002 of $655 million was primarily attributable to the book
and tax basis difference relating to our investment in AT&T Latin America.

At December 31, 2002, the tax effect of net operating and capital loss carryforwards for federal and state
income tax purposes were $10 million and $130 million, respectively, which expire through 2021. In addition,
at December 31, 2002, federal tax credit carryforwards were $1 million, with no expiration date, and state tax
credit carry-forwards were $111 million expiring through 2016.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business we are subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims, including
proceedings under laws and regulations related to environmental and other matters. Such matters are subject
to many uncertainties, and outcomes are not predictable with assurance.

In connection with the separation of its former subsidiaries, AT&T has entered into a number of
separation and distribution agreements that provide, among other things, for the allocation and/or sharing of
certain costs associated with potential litigation liabilities. For example, pursuant to these agreements, AT&T
shares in the cost of certain litigation (relating to matters while affiliated with AT&T) if the settlement
exceeds certain thresholds. With the exception of the Sparks matter (see note 1), as of December 31, 2002,
we have assessed that none of the litigation liabilities allocated to former subsidiaries were probable of
incurring costs in excess of the threshold above which we would be required to share in the costs. However, in
the event these former subsidiaries were unable to meet their obligations with respect to these liabilities due to
financial difficulties, AT&T could be held responsible for all or a portion of the costs, irrespective of the
sharing agreements.
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Consequently, we are unable to ascertain the ultimate aggregate amount of monetary liability or financial
impact with respect to these matters at December 31, 2002. However, we believe that after final disposition,
any monetary liability or financial impact to us beyond that provided for at year-end would not be material to
our annual consolidated financial statements.

Leases and Other Commitments

From time to time, AT&T provides guarantees of debt or other obligations relating to former subsidiaries.
(Guarantees are occasionally provided for subsidiaries when owned by AT&T or in connection with its
separation from AT&T. See note 9 for a detailed discussion of these guarantees.)

We lease land, buildings and equipment through contracts that expire in various years through 2040. Our
rental expense under operating leases was $529 million in 2002, $552 million in 2001 and $583 million in 2000.
The total of minimum rentals to be received in the future under non-cancelable operating subleases as of
December 31, 2002, was $250 million.

The following table shows our future minimum commitments due under non-cancelable operating and
capital leases at December 31, 2002:

Operating Capital
Leases Leases

(Dollars in millions)

2003 $ 480 $ 10
2004 . o 409 19
200 320 8
2006 . o 252 8
2007 e 203 8
Later Years . ..o 460 100
Total minimum lease payments . ..............uueriinenernnnenenennnn. $2,124 153
Less: Amount representing interest . ...............oiuiiriiiinnann... 52
Present value of net minimum lease payments . .......................... $101

In addition, under certain real estate operating leases, we could be required to make payments to the
lessor of up to $447 million at the end of the lease term (ending in years 2004 through 2007). The actual
amount paid, if any, would be reduced by amounts received by the lessor upon remarketing of the property.
(See note 18 for a discussion of the possible consolidation of certain of entities that we lease facilities from.)

AT&T has contractual obligations to utilize network facilities from local exchange carriers with terms
greater than one year. Since the contracts have no minimum volume requirement and are based on an
interrelationship of volumes and discounted rates, we assessed our minimum exposure based on penalties to
exit the contracts on December 31 of each year. At December 31, 2002, the penalties AT&T would incur if we
exited all of these contracts would be $2.1 billion.

15. Segment Reporting

AT&T’s results are segmented according to the customers we service: AT&T Business Services and
AT&T Consumer Services.

AT&T Business Services provides a variety of services to various sized businesses and government
agencies including long distance, international, toll-free and local voice, data and Internet protocol (IP)
services; managed services; and wholesale transport services.
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AT&T Consumer Services provides a variety of communications services to residential customers,
including domestic and international long distance, transaction-based long distance, such as operator-assisted
service and prepaid phone cards; local and local toll (intrastate calls outside the immediate local area); and
dial-up Internet.

The balance of AT&T’s continuing operations (excluding LMG) is included in a “Corporate and Other”
group. This group primarily reflects corporate staff functions and the elimination of transactions between
segments. LMG was not an operating segment of AT&T prior to its split-off from AT&T because AT&T did
not have a controlling financial interest in LMG for financial accounting purposes. Therefore, we accounted
for this investment under the equity method. Additionally, LMG’s results were not reviewed by the chief
operating decision-makers for purposes of determining resources to be allocated.

Total assets for our reportable segments include all assets, except intercompany receivables. AT&T
prepaid pension assets and corporate-owned or leased real estate are held at the corporate level and therefore
are included in the Corporate and Other group. In addition, as the assets of discontinued operations are not
considered to be a part of AT&T’s ongoing operations, they are included in a category separate from
reportable segments and the Corporate and Other group for reporting purposes. Capital additions for each
segment include capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment, additions to nonconsolidated
investments, and additions to internal-use software (which are included in “Other assets”).

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies (see note 2). AT&T evaluates performance based on several factors, of which the primary
financial measure is earnings before interest and taxes, including pretax minority interest and net pretax losses
from other equity investments (EBIT).

Generally, AT&T accounts for inter-segment transactions at market prices. AT&T Business Services
sells services to AT&T Consumer Services at cost-based prices, which approximate market prices. Generally
AT&T Business Services accounts for these sales as contra-expense.

Revenue For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
AT&T Business Services external revenue. . ................ $26,235 $27,264 $28,136
AT&T Business Services internal revenue .. ................ 323 441 423
Total AT&T Business Services revenue . .. ................. 26,558 27,705 28,559
AT&T Consumer Services external revenue ................ 11,527 14,843 18,643
Total reportable segments ..............ccoviiiininnnnn... 38,085 42,548 47,202
Corporate and Other............ ... .. ... i, (258) (351) (352)
Total TEVENUE . . o . oottt e e e e e e e $37,827 $42,197 $46,850
Depreciation and Amortization For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
ATE&T Business SEIVICES . .. .. ovv vt $4,546 $4,234 $4,255
AT&T Consumer ServiCes . ... .....ovuiinineinenanan... 230 200 167
Total reportable segments ................ccouiuiinnann.. 4,776 4,434 4,422
Corporate and Other.............. ... .. ... ..., 112 125 116
Total depreciation and amortization ...................... $4,888 $4,559 $4,538

81



AT&T CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Net (Losses) Earnings Related to Other Equity Investments For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions)

AT&T Business Services pretax net (losses) ............... $(454) $(6,482) $ (8)
Corporate and Other pretax net (losses) ................... (58) (1,301) (43)
Total pretax (I0SS€S) . ..o vv vttt (512) (7,783) (51)
Total tax benefit ........ .. ... . . .. .. . 112 2,947 61
Total net (losses) earnings related to other equity investments  $(400) $(4,836) $ 10

Reconciliation of EBIT to Income from Continuing

Operations Before Income Taxes, Minority Interest Income
For the Years Ended December 31,

and Losses Related to Other Equity Investments

2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in millions)

AT&T Business Services EBIT . ........................ $ 1,638 $(2,305) $ 5,917
AT&T Consumer Services EBIT ....................... 2,647 4,875 6,893
Total reportable segments EBIT ........................ 4,285 2,570 12,810
Corporate and Other EBIT ............................ (399) (1,063) 1,163
Total EBIT ... o 3,886 1,507 13,973
Deduct:

Minority interest income . ..............c.cooviunneo... 114 131 41

Pretax net (losses) related to other equity investments . . . (512) (7,783) (51)
Add: Interest (EXpense) .. .......oviininireinnnanann.n. (1,448) (1,493) (1,503)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes,
minority interest income and losses related to other equity

INVESTMENTS .. oottt et e e e e e $ 2,836 $ 7,666 $12,480
Assets At December 31,
2002 2001
(Dollars in millions)
ATE&T BUSINESS SEIVICES . . o v v v v et et e e e e e e e e $36,365 $ 40,316
AT&T Consumer SEIVICES . ... v vttt et e e e 1,674 2,141
Total reportable segments . ..........oouiii i 38,039 42,457
Corporate and Other assets'!) L 17,233 19,872
Total assets from discontinued operations. ..................couueun... — 103,152
Total ASSEtS ..ottt $55,272  $165,481

@ TIncludes cash of $7.8 billion for 2002 and $10.4 billion for 2001
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Capital Additions For the Years Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
AT&T BusSiness SErviCes . .. .. vv vt $3,716 $5,451 $6,841
AT&T ConsSumer ServiCes . . .. .ot e 127 140 148
Total reportable segments .......... .. ..., 3,843 5,591 6,989
Corporate and Other.......... ... ... 63 150 1,594
Total capital additions ............ ... ... .. ... . ... ... ... $3,906 $5,741 $8,583

Geographic information is not presented due to the immateriality of revenue attributable to international
customers.

Reflecting the dynamics of our business, we continually review our management model and structure,
which may result in additional adjustment to our operating segments in the future.

16. Related Party Transactions

AT&T had various related party transactions with Concert until the joint venture was officially unwound
on April 1, 2002.

Included in “Revenue” was $268 million, $1.1 billion and $1.1 billion for services provided to Concert for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Included in “Access and other connection” are charges from Concert representing costs incurred on our
behalf to connect calls made to foreign countries (international settlements) and costs paid by AT&T to
Concert for distributing Concert products totaling $491 million, $2.1 billion and $2.4 billion for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001, included a loan of $1.0 billion to Concert, which
was included within “Other assets.” Interest income of $67 million was recognized for the year ended
December 31, 2000. In the third quarter of 2001, this loan together with the associated accrued interest was
written off in connection with the decision to unwind Concert (see note 7).

At December 31, 2001, AT&T had a floating-rate loan payable to Concert in the amount of $80 million.
The loan was included in “Debt maturing within one year” at December 31, 2001. This loan was paid off in
conjunction with the unwind of Concert. Interest expense was $5 million and $6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Included in “Accounts receivable” at December 31, 2001, was $438 million related to telecommunica-
tions transactions with Concert. Included in “Accounts payable” at December 31, 2001, was $201 million
related to transactions with Concert.

Included in “Other receivables” at December 31, 2001, was $781 million related to administrative
transactions performed on behalf of Concert. Included in “Other current liabilities” at December 31, 2001,
was $935 million related to administrative transactions performed by Concert on behalf of AT&T.

We had various related party transactions with LMG. Included in “Costs of services and products” were
programming expenses related to services from LMG. These expenses amounted to $199 million for the seven
months ended July 31, 2001, the effective split-off date of LMG for accounting purposes, and $239 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000.
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Quarterly Information (Unaudited)
2002 First Second” Third Fourth®
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Revenue ........ ... ... i $ 9548 $§ 9,580 $ 9,409 $ 9,290
Operating income (loss) ....................... 1,634 1,592 1,415 (280)
Income (loss) from continuing operations......... 446 603 525 (611)
Net (loss) from discontinued operations (net of

INCOME TAXES) © vt v te e ie e eeeeeens (565) (13,433) (318) (197)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net

of income taxes) ...........coiiiiiii.... — — — 1,324
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of

accounting change........................... (119)  (12,830) 207 516
Cumulative effect of accounting change (net of

INCOME tAXES) © v v e ettt eeeeeeenns (856) — — —
Net (loss) income .............ccviviininn... (975)  (12,830) 207 516
AT&T Common Stock Group:®
Earnings (loss) per share — basic:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations. . ...... $ 063 $ 083 $ 068 $ (0.79)
(Loss) from discontinued operations ............. (0.80) (18.41) (0.41) (0.26)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations . .. .. — — — 1.71
Cumulative effect of accounting change .......... (L.21) — — —
AT&T Common Stock Group (loss) earnings .. ... $ (1.38) $ (17.58) $ 027 $ 0.66
Earnings (loss) per share — diluted:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations. . ...... $ 060 $ 08 $ 067 $ (0.79)
(Loss) from discontinued operations ............. (0.76) (17.91) (0.41) (0.26)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations . .. .. — — — 1.71
Cumulative effect of accounting change .......... (1.16) — — —
AT&T Common Stock Group (loss) earnings . . ... $ (1.32) $ (17.11) $ 026 $ 0.66
Dividends declared .............. ... .. .. ... 0.1875 0.1875 0.1875 0.1875
AT&T common stock

High ... ... ... $ 3947 $§ 3250 $ 2635 $ 2942

LOW 27.62 18.64 16.81 21.43

Quarter-end close ............ ... ... .. 32.19 21.94 24.62 26.11
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Second

Third® Fourth

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2001 First
Revenue ....... ... .. .. . . $10,890
Operating income . . ........cooviininnenna.n. 2,451
Income (loss) from continuing operations .......... 556
Net (loss) from discontinued operations (net of

INCOME TAXES) + vt ettt e e e ee e e (1,804)

Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of
INCOME tAXES) vttt ettt e e e e e —

Net (loss) income before cumulative effect of

accounting change .......... ... ... ... ... ..... (1,248)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (net of

INCOME tAXES) v vttt ettt ee e e 904
Net (loss) income™ ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ..... (344)

AT&T Common Stock Group:
Earnings (loss) per share — basic:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations ......... $ 141

(Loss) from discontinued operations............... (2.36)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations. . .. ... —

Cumulative effect of accounting change ............ 0.47

AT&T Common Stock Group (loss) earnings....... $ (0.48)
Earnings (loss) per share — diluted:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations ......... $ 1.32

(Loss) from discontinued operations............... (2.21)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations. . .. ... —

Cumulative effect of accounting change ............ 0.44

AT&T Common Stock Group (loss) earnings. ...... $ (0.45)
Dividends declared . ............................. 0.1875

AT&T Wireless Group (loss) earnings from
discontinued 0;)5:6r)ations per basic and

diluted share®-® .. L $ (0.02)
Liberty Media Group (loss) earnings per basic and
diluted share'” ... ... .. .. . .. L $ (0.06)
Stock price®
AT&T common stock
High ... .. .. $ 40.00
oW .o 27.67
Quarter-end close. . ......... ... 33.92
AT&T Wireless Group common stock‘®
High ... .. $ 27.30
oW .o 17.06
Quarter-end close. ............. i 19.18
Liberty Media Group Class A common stock'”
High ... .. $ 17.25
Low .o 11.88
Quarter-end close. . ....... ... 14.00

$10,602
2,265

(1,433)

(525)

(1,958)

(1,958)

$ 051

(0.77)

$ (0.20)

$ 048

(0.72)

$ (0.24)

0.1875

$ 0.08

$ (0.82)

$ 37.05
31.56
35.03

$ 21.10
15.29
16.35

$ 18.04
11.50
17.49

$10,537  $10,168
2,313 803
(1,547) (216)

(548)  (1,175)
13,503 —
11,408  (1,391)

11,408  (1,391)

$ (2.68) $ (0.31)
0.77)  (1.66)
19.10 —

$ 1565 $ (1.97)

$ (2.68) $ (0.31)
077)  (1.66)
19.10 —

$ 1565 $ (1.97)

0.1875  0.1875

$ 0.04 —

$ 4400 $ 41.01
33.85 30.24
39.57 37.19

$ 19.92 —
12.52 —

$ 17.85 —
14.50 —
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2001 First Second Third® Fourth
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts

Liberty Media Group Class B common stock'”

High ... .. $ 18.69 §$ 18.75 § 18.35 —
oW o 14.20 12.50 12.00 —
Quarter-end close. . ... 15.00 18.15 — —

(1

The loss from discontinued operations in the second quarter of 2002 included impairment charges of $16.5 billion ($11.8 billion after-
tax) of goodwill and franchise costs.
@

Fourth quarter 2002 net income included $1,463 of net restructuring and other charges.
3

Earnings per share (EPS) in each quarter is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the quarter
while EPS for the full year is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Thus, the sum of
the four quarters’ EPS does not always equal the full-year EPS.

(4

Third quarter 2001 net income included a gain on disposition of discontinued operations of $13,503, or $19.10 per share.
6

First quarter 2001 net income included cumulative effect of accounting change of $359 and $545, or $0.44 per diluted share and $0.21
per share, for AT&T Common Stock Group and LMG, respectively, due to the adoption of SFAS No. 133.

No dividends had been declared on AT&T Wireless Group common stock. AT&T Wireless Group was split-off from AT&T on July 9,
2001.

No dividend had been declared on LMG common stock. LMG was split-off from AT&T on August 10, 2001.

(6

@

@8

Stock prices obtained from the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape. AT&T Common Stock prices have been restated to
reflect the spin-off of AT&T Broadband and for the 1-for-5 reverse stock split.

18. Variable Interest Entities

As stated in note 19, AT&T is currently assessing the potential impacts of FASB Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” As part of that assessment, we have determined that one entity,
from which we currently lease two buildings, may be determined to be a Variable Interest Entity and subject
to consolidation. We have no ownership interest in this entity and our transactions with it have met the
requirements to be classified as operating leases, with AT&T being the lessee. At the end of their respective
lease terms (including any extensions), AT&T has the option to: renew the lease for a new term, purchase the
property at the unamortized loan funding amount, or exercise the remarketing option. Under the remarketing
option, AT&T could be held liable for a loss in value relative to the properties. At December 31, 2002, our
maximum exposure was $99 million. This entity has approximately $105 million of total assets, (principally
the leased properties) and $110 million of liabilities (principally long term debt secured by the properties).

In addition, we have six leases with another entity, having characteristics similar to those described
above. It is possible that this entity may be deemed to be a VIE. We may, therefore, have variable interests in
specified assets of this entity and be subject to “silo”” consolidation of the specific assets and related liabilities.
At December 31, 2002, our maximum total exposure related to this entity was $328 million. The estimated
building value is approximately $362 million and the outstanding long-term debt is approximately
$386 million.

19. New Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” This
standard requires that obligations that are legally enforceable and unavoidable, and are associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets, be recorded as liabilities when those obligations are incurred, with the
amount of the liability initially measured at fair value. The offset to the initial asset retirement obligation is an
increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, this liability is accreted to its future
value, and the asset is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, an
entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement. SFAS
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No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. For AT&T,
this means that the standard was adopted on January 1, 2003. AT&T currently includes in its group
depreciation rates an amount related to the cost of removal for certain assets. However, such amounts are not
legally enforceable or unavoidable; therefore, AT&T will be required to reverse the amount accrued in
accumulated depreciation. As of January 1, 2003, AT&T will report approximately $40 million as the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles related to this reversal. The impact of no longer
including the cost of removal in the group depreciation rates, coupled with the cumulative effect impact on
accumulated depreciation, will result in a decrease to depreciation expense in 2003. However, the costs
incurred to remove these assets will be reflected as a cost in the period incurred as “Costs of services and
products.”

On June 28, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities.” This
statement addresses the recognition, measurement and reporting of costs that are associated with exit and
disposal activities. This statement includes the restructuring activities that are currently accounted for
pursuant to the guidance set forth in EITF 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” costs
related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease and one-time benefit arrangements received by
employees who are involuntarily terminated -nullifying the guidance under EITF 94-3. Under SFAS No. 146
the cost associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized in the periods in which it is incurred rather
than at the date the company committed to the exit plan. This statement is effective for exit or disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002, with earlier application encouraged. Previously issued financial
statements will not be restated. The provisions of EITF 94-3 shall continue to apply for exit plans initiated
prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 146. Accordingly, the initial adoption of SFAS No. 146 will not have an
effect on AT&T’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows. Liabilities associated with future exit
and disposal activities will not be recognized until actually incurred.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.” This standard provides alternate
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation and requires more prominent disclosure about the method used. This statement is effective for
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. For AT&T, this means it is effective for December 31, 2002.
Currently AT&T applies the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” and we do not expense our stock options. However, as previously announced, AT&T will begin
expensing all stock options issued after January 1, 2003, and will continue to apply the disclosure-only
provisions to stock options issued prior to January 1, 2003. This method of transition is in compliance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 148. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 will not have an
impact on AT&T’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows; however, the expensing of the stock
options issued after January 1, 2003, will have a negative impact on our results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45
requires that an entity issuing a guarantee (including those embedded in a purchase or sales agreement) must
recognize, at the inception of the guarantee, a liability equal to the fair value of the guarantee. FIN 45 also
requires detailed information about each guarantee or group of guarantees even if the likelihood of making a
payment is remote. The disclosure requirements of this interpretation are effective for financial statements of
periods ending after December 15, 2002, which makes them effective for AT&T for December 31, 2002 (see
note 9 for the disclosures required under this interpretation). The recognition and measurement provisions of
this Interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002. FIN 45 could have an impact on the future results of AT&T depending on guarantees issued; however,
at this time we do not believe that the adoption of this statement will have a material impact on our results of
operation, financial position or cash flows.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities — an Interpreta-
tion of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51.” FIN 46 requires the primary beneficiary to consolidate
a variable interest entity (VIE) if it has a variable interest that will absorb a majority of the entity’s expected
losses if they occur, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns if they occur, or both. FIN 46
applies immediately to VIEs created after January 31, 2003, and to VIEs in which the entity obtains an
interest after that date. For VIEs acquired before February 1, 2003, the effective date for AT&T is July 1,
2003. AT&T is currently in the process of determining the impact of this statement on its results of operations,
financial position and cash flows. The disclosures relating to our present involvement with VIEs and our
maximum exposure to losses are included in note 18.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables,” related to the timing of revenue recognition for arrangements in which goods or
services or both are delivered separately in a bundled sales arrangement. The EITF requires that when the
deliverables included in this type of arrangement meet certain criteria they should be accounted for separately
as separate units of accounting. This may result in a difference in the timing of revenue recognition but will not
result in a change in the total amount of revenue recognized in a bundled sales arrangement. The allocation of
revenue to the separate deliverables is based on the relative fair value of each item. If the fair value is not
available for the delivered items then the residual method must be used. This method requires that the amount
allocated to the undelivered items in the arrangement is their full fair value. This would result in the discount,
if any, being allocated to the delivered items. This consensus is effective prospectively for arrangements
entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003, which, for AT&T, is July 1, 2003. AT&T is
currently evaluating the impact of this consensus on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In January 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF 02-18, “Accounting for Subsequent
Investments in an Investee after Suspension of Equity Method Loss Recognition.” This consensus states that
if the additional investment, in whole or in part, represents the funding of prior losses, the investor should
recognize previously suspended losses. This determination would be based on various factors including
whether the investment results in an increased ownership percentage, the fair value of the consideration
received is equivalent to the consideration paid and whether the investment is acquired from a third party or
directly from an investee. If any of these provisions are met, the additional investment would generally not be
considered as funding prior losses. When appropriate to recognize prior losses, the amount recognized would
be limited to the amount of the additional investment determined to represent the funding of prior losses. The
consensus will be effective for additional investments made after February 5, 2003.

20. Subsequent Events

In January 2003, AT&T early retired $3.7 billion of long-term notes. In February 2003, AT&T redeemed
exchangeable notes that were indexed to AT&T Wireless common stock and subsequently sold its remaining
AT&T Wireless holdings. For further information on these items, see notes 7 and 8.
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AT&T Board of Directors

David W. Dorman, 49

Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer since
November 2002. Elected to the
Board in 2002.

Kenneth T. Derr, 66

Retired Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of
Chevron Corporation, an
international oil company.
Director since 1995. 2, 3

M. Kathryn Eickhoff, 64
President of Eickhoff Economics,

Inc., an economic consulting firm.

Director since 1987. 1,3

Frank C. Herringer, 60

Chairman of the Board and
former Chief Executive Officer of
Transamerica Corporation, a
financial services company,
which was acquired in 1999 by
Aegon N.V,, an international
insurance organization. Elected
to the Board in 2002. 1, 2

Amos B. Hostetter, Jr., 66
Chairman of Pilot House Associ-
ates, LLC, a family investment
company. Director since 1999.
1,2

Shirley Ann Jackson, Ph.D., 56
President of Rensselaer
Polytechnic Institute. Elected to
the Board in 2001. 2, 3

Jon C. Madonna, 59

Retired Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of KPMG, an
international accounting and
consulting firm. Director since
2002. 1

Donald F. McHenry, 66
Distinguished Professor in the
Practice of Diplomacy at the
School of Foreign Service at
Georgetown University, and
President of IRC Group LLC,
international relations
consultants. Director since 1986.
1,3

Tony L. White, 56

Chairman of the Board, President,
and Chief Executive Officer of
Applera Corporation, a life sci-
ences company. Elected to the
Board in 2002. 2,3

1. Audit Committee

2. Compensation and Employee
Benefits Committee

3. Governance and Nominating
Committee

Ages are as of April17, 20083.
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David W. Dorman
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Hossein Eslambolchi
President of AT&T Labs,
Chief Technology Officer and
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Mirian Graddick-Weir
Executive Vice President
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Thomas W. Horton
Senior Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Frank lanna
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John C. Petrillo
Executive Vice President
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John Polumbo

President and Chief Executive
Officer

AT&T Consumer

Kenneth E. Sichau
President
AT&T Business Sales

Constance K. Weaver
Executive Vice President
Public Relations, Brand &
Business Marketing

Nicholas S. Cyprus
Vice President and Controller

Edward M. Dwyer
Vice President and Treasurer
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Richard E. Sullivan, Jr.
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Corporate Information

Corporate Headquarters
One AT&T Way
Bedminster, NJ 07921-0752

Business

AT&T Business has relationships
with about 4 million business cus-
tomers worldwide who depend on
AT&T for voice, data, Internet and
managed solutions. For more
information about AT&T Business
and our products and services,
visit our Web site at www.att.com/
business. Small/medium business
customers can find the right
communications solution with

the convenience of on-line sales
and service by visiting
www.att.com/businesscenter/smb
ushome.html. Large/ global busi-
ness customers can access our
expansive set of local to global
business solutions by visiting
www.att.com/businesscenter/lgbu
shome.html. Government cus-
tomers can locate our suite of inte-
grated technology solutions with
professional service expertise by
visiting www.att.com/gov.

Consumer

AT&T Consumer has nearly 50 mil-
lion customer relationships and
offers services as diverse as long
distance and local services,
domestic and international calling
plans, prepaid and subscriber
calling cards, and dial-up and
broadband Internet access.

AT&T Consumer also offers cus-
tomers the convenience of online
billing, ordering and customer ser-

vice. To order a consumer service,

visit our Web site at
Www.consumer.att.com.

AT&T on the World Wide Web

The AT&T Internet home page —
www.att.com —is your entry point
to a vast array of services and
information. One of the most visit-
ed sites on the Internet, att.com
gives you access to the latest
AT&T products for your home,
along with the convenience and
security of online ordering and
billing. The site connects business
customers to the services and
innovation that give their compa-
nies a competitive advantage. In
addition, you can navigate to cur-
rent company news, connections
to investor and corporate informa-
tion and the latest advances from
AT&T Labs.

AT&T Giving

For more than 100 years, AT&T
has built a tradition of investing in
local communities through our
ongoing support for education,
civic and community service, the
environment and the arts. In 2002,
the AT&T Foundation contributed
nearly $40 million to nonprofit
organizations in local communities
throughout the United States and
many other countries. Also in
2002, AT&T employees volun-
teered nearly 750,000 hours of
community service through the
AT&T CARES program. For more
information on the AT&T Founda-
tion and AT&T CARES, visit our
Web site at
www.att.com/foundation.

Environment, Health & Safety
AT&T is dedicated to creating a
safe and healthy workplace for
AT&T employees and strives to
maintain our reputation as one of
the top corporate environmental
champions. More information
about AT&T's environment,
health and safety initiatives may
be found at our Web site:
www.att.com/ehs/.

TelecomPioneers

Since 1911, AT&T has been a
sponsor of TelecomPioneers (for-
merly Telephone Pioneers of
America), the world's largest,
industry-based volunteer organi-
zation. AT&T employees and
retirees comprise more than
57,000 of its members. In 2002,
TelecomPioneers awarded the
AT&T Pioneers its first President's
Innovation Award. For more infor-
mation on the AT&T Pioneers, visit
our Web site at
www.attpioneers.org.

Supplier Diversity Initiative

As part of AT&T's Supplier Diversi-
ty initiative, approximately $870
million of AT&T's total purchases in
2002 were made from minority-,
women- and service-disabled vet-
eran-owned business enterprises.
More information is available at our
Web site:
www.att.com/supplier_diversity/.

AT&T Communications Action
Network (CAN)

On February 20, the FCC
announced its Triennial Review
decision, approving new rules to
give states more authority over the
$125 billion U.S. local-telephone
market. Jim Cicconi, AT&T Corp.
General Counsel and Executive
Vice President, Law and Govern-
ment Affairs, said, “the result is
that consumers will see lower
prices and more choices in the
marketplace, and the economy will
experience more investment and
greater innovation.” To learn more
about this and other important
AT&T public policy issues, visit the
CAN Web site at www.attcan.org.
While you're there, sign up and
join our Communications Action
Network!
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Shareowner Information

Shareowner Services

You can get up-to-the-minute infor-
mation about your AT&T invest-
ment 24 hours a day by visiting
www.att.com/ir —the AT&T Investor
Relations Web site — where you will
find current stock quotes, histori-
cal stock prices, financial results,
tax basis information, investor
news and online access to your
AT&T shareowner account. Get
fast information about how to
arrange for the direct deposit of
dividends, change your address,
reinvest your dividends or transfer
ownership of your shares. If you
need more information, send an
e-mail to att@equiserve.com, or
contact us by phone at 1-800-348-
8288. Our interactive voice-
response system can answer most
of your questions 24 hours a day,
seven days a week. Representa-
tives are available Monday
through Friday, 8a.m.to 5 p.m.
(Eastern), to assist you. Shareown-
ers outside the United States may
call 1-816-843-4282. Shareowners
using a telecommunications
device for the deaf (TDD) may

call 1-800-822-2794. Our fax
number is 1-781-575-3261, and
our mailing address is:

AT&T Shareowner Services,

c/o EquiServe, P.O. Box 43007,
Providence, Rl 02940-3007.

Electronic Access to Proxy
Materials

In an effort to reduce the printing
and mailing costs associated with
the distribution of the AT&T Annual
Report and Proxy Statement, AT&T
registered shareowners can elec-
tronically access, view and down-
load the AT&T Annual Report and
Proxy Statement and other materi-
als at the AT&T Investor Relations
Web site at www.att.com/ir. AT&T
shareowners can choose this
option by marking the “Electronic
Access” box on the proxy card or
by following the instructions pro-
vided when voting by telephone or
the Internet. If you choose this
option prior to each shareowner
meeting, you will receive your
proxy card, which provides a
notice of meeting and a business-
reply envelope. Beneficial owners
can request the electronic-access
option by contacting their broker
or financial institution.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Participating in the AT&T Share-
owner Dividend Reinvestment and
Stock Purchase Plan (DRP) is a
convenient, systematic way to
build your investment. Under Divi-
dend Reinvestment, all or a portion
of your dividends are automatically
reinvested to purchase additional
shares of AT&T common stock.
Participants receive periodic
account statements tracking rein-
vestment transactions and
account balances. Additional
shares of AT&T common stock can
be purchased with cash or auto-
matic monthly investments from
your bank account. Fees may
apply to certain transactions. To
obtain a Plan prospectus, contact
EquiServe at 1-800-348-8288.

Direct Registration of AT&T Shares
AT&T shareowners are finding it
convenient to have shares held in
the Direct Registration System,
which gives you full ownership

of your shares. With Direct Regis-
tration, AT&T's transfer agent
(EquiServe) holds the shares in
your name. You retain full owner-
ship and continue to receive all
AT&T dividends, shareowner com-
munications, annual reports and
proxy-voting material. You can
easily get your account balance or
sell your shares by phone or via
the Internet. It's safe and conve-
nient. For more information on this
service, contact EquiServe at
1-800-348-8288.

Stock Information

AT&T (ticker symbol “T") is listed
on the New York Stock Exchange,
as well as the Boston, Chicago,
Cincinnati, Pacific and Philadel-
phia exchanges in the United
States; and the Euronext-Paris,
and the London and Geneva stock
exchanges. As of December, 31,
2002, AT&T had approximately
783 million shares outstanding,
held by more than 3.3 million
shareowners.

Additional Financial Information

A copy of AT&T’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commision, may
be obtained free of charge by
sending a request to:

One AT&T Way

Bedminster, NJ 07921

Attention: Investor Relations

or may be accessed electronically
at www.att.com/ir/.



Our Common Bond

We commit to these values to
guide our decisions and behavior:

Respect for Individuals

We treat each other with respect
and dignity, valuing individual and
cultural differences. We communi-
cate frequently and with candor,
listening to each other regardless
of level or position. Recognizing
that exceptional quality begins
with people, we give individuals
the authority to use their capabili-
ties to the fullest to satisfy their
customers. Our environment sup-
ports personal growth and contin-
uous learning for all AT&T people.

Dedication to Helping Customers
We truly care for each customer.
We build enduring relationships by
understanding and anticipating
our customers’ needs and by serv-

ing them better each time than the
time before. AT&T customers can
count on us to consistently deliver
superior products and services
that help them achieve their per-
sonal or business goals.

Highest Standards of Integrity

We are honest and ethical in all our
business dealings, starting with
how we treat each other. We keep
our promises and admit our mis-
takes. Our personal conduct
ensures that AT&T’s name is
always worthy of trust.

Innovation

We believe innovation is the
engine that will keep us vital and
growing. Our culture embraces
creativity, seeks different perspec-
tives and risks pursuing new
opportunities. We create and
rapidly convert technology into
products and services, constantly
searching for new ways to make
technology more useful to cus-
tomers.

Teamwork

We encourage and reward both
individual and team achieve-
ments. We freely join with col-
leagues across organizational
boundaries to advance the inter-
ests of customers and shareown-
ers. Our team spirit extends to
being responsible and caring part-
ners in the communities where we
live and work.

By living these values, AT&T
aspires to set a standard of excel-
lence worldwide that will reward
our shareowners, our customers,
and all AT&T people.

@ This annual report is printed on recycled paper containing a minimum of 10 percent de-inked post-consumer fiber. Please recycle. © 2003 AT&T. All rights reserved. Printed in the USA
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